
 

   

 

NOTE TO READER 
 

This Listing Statement contains a copy of the prospectus of Pluto Ventures Inc. (“Pluto”) dated October 16, 
2024 (the “Prospectus”). Section 14 Capitalization of the Canadian Securities Exchange’s (the 
“Exchange’s”) form of Listing Statement has been included following the Prospectus to provide additional 
disclosure on Pluto, as required by the Exchange. 
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No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim 
otherwise. This prospectus does not constitute a public offering of securities. 

 
 

Non-Offering Prospectus October 16, 2024 
 

PROSPECTUS 

PLUTO VENTURES INC. 

 
This non-offering prospectus (the “Prospectus”) of Pluto Ventures Inc. (“Pluto” or the “Company”), is 
being filed with the British Columbia Securities Commission (the “BCSC”) for the purposes of the Company 
becoming a reporting issuer pursuant to applicable securities legislation in the Province of British Columbia. 

 
The Company is a corporation incorporated under the Business Corporations Act of British Columbia. The 
Company is a mineral exploration company. 

 
The Special Warrants were issued on a private placement basis on September 21, 2023, at a price of $0.05 
per Special Warrant, to purchasers in the provinces of British Columbia and Alberta. The Special Warrants 
were issued pursuant to certain prospectus exemptions under applicable Canadian securities legislation. The 
Compensation Special Warrants were issued as compensation in connection with the private placement. The 
Special Warrants and the Compensation Special Warrants are not available for purchase pursuant to 
this Prospectus and no additional funds are to be received by the Company from the distribution of 
the securities underlying the Special Warrants and the Compensation Special Warrants. 

 
Each of the Special Warrants and Compensation Special Warrants will be deemed converted and exchanged, 
without payment of any additional consideration and without any further action by the holder, for one 
Common Share, on the Prospectus Receipt Date (defined herein), if not converted or exchange prior to that 
date. See “Description of Securities”. 

 
Upon the final receipt of this Prospectus by the Qualifying Jurisdiction, the Company will become a reporting 
issuer in British Columbia. Since no securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus, no proceeds will 
be raised and all expenses in connection with the preparation and filing of this Prospectus will be paid by the 
Company from its general corporatefunds. 

 
There is no market through which the securities of the Company may be sold. This may affect the 
pricing of the Company’s securities in the secondary markets; the transparency and availability of 
trading prices; the liquidity of the Company’s securities and the extent of issuer regulations. See “Risk 
Factors” and “Forward-LookingInformation”. 

On October 15, 2024, the Company received conditional approval to its application for listing on the 
Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE” or the “Exchange”). Listing on the CSE (the “Listing”) will be 
subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the CSE and meeting all minimum 
requirements. See “Stock Exchange Listing”. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company is an “IPO Venture Issuer” (defined under National Instrument 
41-101 – General Prospectus Requirements as an issuer that: (a) files a long form prospectus; is 



2  

not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction immediately before the date of the final long form prospectus; and 
(c) at the date of the long form prospectus, does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied 
to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the 
Toronto Stock Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside of 
Canada and the United States of America, other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock 
Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Groupplc). 

 
No underwriter has been involved in the preparation of this Prospectus or performed any review or 
independent due diligence of the contents of this Prospectus. No person is authorized by the Company 
to provide any information or make any representations other than those contained in this Prospectus. 

 
This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities. 

 
An investment in Common Shares of the Company is highly speculative due to various factors, 
including the nature and stage of development of the business of the Company. An investment in these 
securities should only be made by persons who can afford the total loss of their investment. See “Risk 
Factors”. 

 
Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of Canadian federal 
income tax laws to their particular circumstances, as well as any other provincial, foreign and other 
tax consequences of acquiring, holding, or disposing of Common Shares, including the Canadian 
federal income tax consequences applicable to a foreign controlled Canadian corporation that 
acquires Common Shares. 

 
Prospective investors should rely only on the information contained in this Prospectus. The Company 
has not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. Readers should assume that the 
information appearing in this Prospectus is accurate only as of its date, regardless of its time of 
delivery. The Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have 
changed since that date. 

 
The Company’s head office is located at 2250 – 1055 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 2E9, and 
its registered and records office is located at 2250 - 1055 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 2E9. 
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GLOSSARY 

The following is a glossary of certain terms used in this Prospectus. Terms and abbreviations used in the 
financial statements of the Company may be defined separately and the terms defined below may not be used 
therein. 

“Author” means Tony Barresi, Ph.D., P.Geo., the author of the Technical Report; 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as amended, together with all 
regulations promulgated thereto; 

“BCSC” means the British Columbia Securities Commission; 

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company; 

“CEO” means chief executive officer; 

“CFO” means chief financial officer; 
 

“Common Shares” means the common shares in the capital of the Company and “Common Share” means 
any one of them; 

“Company” or “Pluto” means Pluto Ventures Inc.; 

“Compensation Special Warrants” means the 200,000 compensation warrants of the Company issued to 
Vested Technology Corp. in connection with the Company’s September 21, 2023 private placement 
financing of Special Warrants and converted at the election of the Company in June 2024. Each 
Compensation Special Warrant entitled the holder to receive, for no additional consideration, one Common 
Share pursuant to the terms and conditions in the certificates representing the Compensation Special 
Warrants; 

“CTO” means a cease trade order; 

“Decade Resources” means Decade Resources Ltd., an arm’s length party to the Company; 

“DSUs” or “Deferred Share Units” means deferred share units of the Company; 

“Escrow Agreement” means the NP 46-201 escrow agreement entered into among the Company, the escrow 
agent and certain shareholders of the Company; 

“Exchange” or “CSE” means the Canadian Securities Exchange; 

“Form 51-102F6” means Form 51-102F6 – Statement of Executive Compensation; 

“Go Public Transaction” means a transaction that results in Pluto shareholders holding shares in a 
“reporting issuer” (as defined under applicable Canadian securities laws) that is listed on a recognized 
Canadian stock exchange; 

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards; 

“Line of Credit Agreement” means the line of credit agreement dated as of September 26, 2024 between the 
Company and David Eaton, a promoter of the Company, for the advance of $200,000 to the Company by Mr. 
Eaton on the terms and conditions set out in the agreement, and included in Schedule “E” of this Prospectus; 
“Listing” means the proposed listing of the Common Shares on the CSE for trading; 



5  

“Listing Date” means the date on which the Common Shares of the Company are listed for trading on the 
Exchange; 

“MD&A” means management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and operating results; 

“Mining Rights Contracts” means any instruments or agreements, whether or not reduced to writing, by 
whatever name called under applicable law or practice and whether obtained from a government or 
regulatory authority or any other person, pursuant to which rights that are or are analogous to rights to 
explore for and /or commercially exploit base and precious metals and other minerals are held, or owned, 
and shall include, without limitation, a “mineral claim”, “mineral interest”, “mining claim”, “grant”, 
“concession”, “exclusive permission”, “mining contract”, “mining license”, “exploitation permit”, “right of 
reconnaissance”, “right or exploration”, “research permit”, “exploration permit”, “royalty interest”, or 
otherwise; 

“Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs” has the meaning set forth under “Executive Compensation”; 

“NI 41-101” means National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements of the Canadian 
Securities Administrators; 

“NI 43-101” means National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Properties of the 
Canadian Securities Administrators; 

 
“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees of the Canadian Securities 
Administrators; 

“NI 58-101” means National Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices of the 
Canadian Securities Administrators; 

“NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201 Escrow for Initial Public Offerings of the Canadian Securities 
Administrators; 

“NP 58-201” means National Policy 58-201 Corporate Governance Guidelines of the Canadian Securities 
Administrators; 

“Option Agreement” means the Property Option Agreement – Dardanelle Project dated effective June 29, 
2022 between Decade Resources Ltd. as Optionor and Pluto as Optionee, pursuant to which Decade 
Resources granted to Pluto the option to acquire a 100% legal and beneficial interest in the Dardanelle 
Property, subject to a 1% net smelter returns royalty, as such transaction is further described in this 
Prospectus; 

“Options” means options to purchase Common Shares issued pursuant to the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan; 

“Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan” means the Company’s omnibus equity incentive plan adopted on April 
22, 2024 by the Board, and providing for the granting of Performance-Based Awards to the Company’s 
directors, officers, employees and consultants in accordance with the rules and policies of the Exchange; 

“Performance-Based Awards” means RSUs, PSUs, and/or DSUs; 

“Principal” of an issuer means: 

(a) a person or company who acted as a promoter of the issuer within two years before the 
prospectus; 

(b) a director or senior officer of the issuer or any of its material operating subsidiaries at the 
time of the prospectus; 
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(c) a person or company that holds securities carrying more than 20% of the voting rights 
attached to the issuer’s outstanding securities; or 

(d) a person or company that: 

(i) holds securities carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to the issuer’s 
outstanding securities, and 

(ii) has elected or appointed, or has the right to elect or appoint, one or more directors 
or senior officers of the issuer or any of its material operatingsubsidiaries; 

“Property” and “Dardanelle Property” mean the Dardanelle property located 23 air kilometers east of 
Terrance, British Columbia, consisting of 15 mineral claims covering 1434.27 hectares, the rights and 
interests to which are the subject of the Option Agreement, including any renewals, extensions or 
replacements thereof, together with any other Mining Rights Contracts held or applied for in connection 
therewith, together with all other rights and mineral interests appurtenant or incidental thereto; 

“Prospectus” means this prospectus dated as of the date first written above; 

“Prospectus Receipt Date” means the date that a receipt for a final prospectus of the Company is issued by 
a Canadian provincial securities regulatory authority; 

“PSUs” or “Performance Share Units” means performance share units of the Company; 

“Qualified Person” or “QP” has the meaning given to it in NI 43-101; 

“NSR Royalty Agreement” means the NSR Royalty Agreement dated June 29, 2022 between Decade 
Resources and Pluto which governs the 1% net smelter return royalty on the Property, as further described 
in this Prospectus; 

“RSUs” or “Restricted Share Units” means restricted share units of the Company; 

“Security-Based Compensation Arrangements” has the meaning ascribed to such term in theCompany’s 
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan; 

 
“SEDAR+” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (www.sedar.com); 

“Special Warrants” means the 606,000 special warrants issued by the Company under the Company’s 
September 21, 2023 private placement financing which were converted at the election of the Company in 
June 2024. Each Special Warrant entitled the holder to receive, for no additional consideration, one Common 
Share pursuant to the terms and conditions in the certificates representing the Special Warrants; and 

“Technical Report” means the technical report on the Property entitled “National Instrument 43-101 F-1 
Technical Report on Dardanelle Property, Located 23 km East of Terrace, BC, Canada, UTM: 550,000 E, 
6,038,000 N (Zone 9V), N.T.S. MAPS 103I/08 and 103I/09” dated effective September 6, 2024, as revised 
September 19, 2024, and prepared for the Company by the Author, in accordance with NI 43-101. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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CURRENCY 

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars and 
references to $ are to Canadian dollars. 

 
FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

Except for statements of historical fact relating to the Company, certain statements in this Prospectus may 
constitute forward-looking information, future oriented financial information, or financial outlooks 
(collectively, “forward-looking information”) within the meaning of Canadian securities laws. Forward- 
looking information may relate to this Prospectus, the Company’s future outlook and anticipated events or 
results and, in some cases, can be identified by terminology such as “may”, “could”, “should”, “expect”, 
“plan”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “intend”, “estimate”, “projects”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeted”, 
“possible”, “continue” or other similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts and 
include, but are not limited in any manner to, those with respect to commodity prices, mineral resources, 
mineral reserves, realization of mineral reserves, existence or realization of mineral resource estimates, the 
timing and amount of future production, the timing of construction of any proposed mine and process 
facilities, capital and operating expenditures, the timing of receipt of permits, rights and authorizations, and 
any and all other timing, development, operational, financial, economic, legal, regulatory and political factors 
that may influence future events or conditions, as such matters may be applicable. The forward- looking 
information includes, among other things, statements relating to: 

● the Company’s intention to complete the listing of the Common Shares on theExchange; 

● the Company’s business plans focusing on the exploration and development oftheProperty; 

● the proposed work program on theProperty; 

● costs and timing of future exploration and developmentactivities; 

● timing and receipt of approvals, consents and permits under applicable legislation; 

● use of available funds and ability for the Company to raise additionalfunds; 

● business objectives and milestones;and 

● adequacy of financial resources. 

Such forward-looking statements are based on a number of material factors and assumptions, and include 
the ultimate determination of mineral reserves, if any, the availability and final receipt of required approvals, 
licenses and permits, sufficient working capital to develop and operate any proposed mine, access to adequate 
services and supplies, economic conditions, commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, interest 
rates, access to capital and debt markets and associated costs of funds, availability of a qualified workforce, 
and the ultimate ability to mine, process and sell mineral products on economically favourable terms. While 
the Company considers these assumptions to be reasonable based on information currently available to it, 
they may prove to be incorrect. Actual results may vary from such forward-looking information for a variety 
of reasons, including but not limited to risks and uncertainties disclosed in this Prospectus. See “Risk 
Factors”'. Forward-looking statements are based upon management’s beliefs, estimates and opinions on the 
date the statements are made and, other than as required by law, the Company does not intend, and undertakes 
no obligation to update any forward-looking information to reflect, among other things, new information or 
future events. 
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Upon becoming a reporting issuer, the Company intends to discuss in its quarterly and annual reports referred 
to as the Company’s MD&A documents, any events and circumstances that occurred during the period to 
which such document relates that are reasonably likely to cause actual events or circumstances to differ 
materially from those disclosed in the Prospectus. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not 
possible for management to predict all of such factors and to assess in advance the impact of each such factor 
on the Company’s business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual 
results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-lookingstatement. 

Investors are cautioned against placing undue reliance on forward-looking statements. 
 

All of the forward-looking information contained in this Prospectus is expressly qualified by the 
foregoing cautionary statements. Investors should read this entire Prospectus and consult their own 
professional advisors to ascertain and assess the income tax, legal, risk factors and other aspects of 
their investment. 



9  

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 
 
The following is a summary of the principal features of this distribution and should be read together with 
the more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. 
You should read this entire prospectus carefully, especially the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus. 

 
 
The Company: Pluto Ventures Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the 

laws of British Columbia on September 8, 2021. The Company’s 
head office is located at 2250 – 1055 West Hastings Street, 
Vancouver, BC V6E 2E9, and its registered and records office is 
located at 2250 - 1055 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 
2E9. 

The Company is an exploration and development-stage company. 
See “Corporate Structure”. 

 
Business of the Company: 

 
The Company’s principal business activities include the 
exploration of mineral resource properties with an emphasis on the 
Dardanelle Property located 23 air kilometers east of Terrace, 
British Columbia in the Omineca Mining Division. 

The Company intends to fund the exploration of the Dardanelle 
Property and its initial commitments thereon using the proceeds of 
its prior private placement financings. See “Description of the 
Business” and “Dardanelle Property”. 

 
Listing: 

 
The Company intends to apply to list its Common Shares on the 
CSE. Listing is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the 
requirements of the Exchange, including minimum public 
distribution requirements. See “Stock Exchange Listing.” 

 
Available Funds and Principal 
Purposes: 

 
It is anticipated that the Company will have available funds of 
approximately $417,428.75 based on the Company’s working 
capital of August 31, 2024, less the estimated expense for Listing 
on the CSE. Upon the Listing, the principal purposes for the 
foregoing available funds are anticipated to be as follows: 

Funds Available Funds ($)  

Estimated working capital as of August 31, 2024 237,428.75 

Estimated expense for listing on the CSE (20,000) 

Line of Credit Agreement(1) 200,000 

Total funds available 417,428.75 

Principal Purposes Funds ($) 
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 Exploration program expenditures on the 
Property(2) 

101,970  

Option Agreement payments(3) 30,000 

Auditor fees 20,000 

General and administrative costs(4) 60,000 

Unallocated funds 205,458.75 

Notes: 
(1) The Company has arranged a $200,000 loan facility with David Eaton, a 

promoter of the Company, pursuant to the terms of a Line of Credit 
Agreement dated as of September 26, 2024 between Mr. Eaton and the 
Company. 

(2) This figure is for a forecasted period of 12 months of the total recommended 
program budget $101,970. See “Dardanelle Property – Recommendations”. 

(3) This amount is payable under the Option Agreement for a forecasted period 
of 12 months after listing on the CSE See “History – Option Agreement”. 

(4) This figure is for a forecasted period of 12 months and is comprised of office 
and administrative expenses in the amount of: (i) $50,000 of accounting and 
management, office and administrative costs, including office services, 
travel and filing fees; and (ii) $10,000 of marketing, AGM and website 
expenses. 

 
The Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in 
this Prospectus. There may be circumstances, however, where for 
sound business reasons a reallocation of funds may be necessary. 
Use of funds will be subject to the discretion of management. For 
further details, see “Use of Available Funds – Available Funds and 
Principal Purposes”. 

The Company had negative cash flow from operating activities for 
the financial years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 and 
for the period from incorporation on September 8, 2021 to March 
31, 2022. To the extent that the Company has negative cash flow 
from operating activities in future periods, the Company may need 
to use a portion of proceeds from any offering to fund such 
negative cash flow. See “Risk Factors – Negative Cash Flows From 
Operations”. 

 
Management, Directors & 
Officers: 

 
The Board of Directors of the Company consists of Fan Hong 
Lawrence Tsang, Herrick Lau, Queenie Kuang and David Velisek. 
The officers of the Company are Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang 
(President and CEO) and Herrick Lau (CFO and Corporate 
Secretary). See “Directors and Executive Officers”. 



11  

 
Selected Financial Information: 

 
The following selected financial information has been derived from 
and is qualified in its entirety by the annual financial statements of 
the Company for the financial years ended March 31, 2024 and 
March 31, 2023 (audited) and notes thereto, included in this 
Prospectus, and should be read in conjunction with such financial 
statements and the related notes thereto included in Schedule “A” of 
this Prospectus. All financial statements of the Company are 
prepared in accordance withIFRS. 

All amounts referred to as being derived from the financial 
statements of the Company are denoted in Canadian Dollars. 

 As at and for the 
financial year ended 
March 31, 2024 
(audited) ($) 

As at and for the 
financial year ended 
March 31, 2023 
(audited) ($) 

 

Total Assets 456,615 124,581 

Total Liabilities 71,489 8,532 

Total Equity 385,126 116,049 

Revenue - - 
 

Net Loss and 
Comprehensive Loss 
for the Period 

 

(58,583) 

 
 

(6,447) 

 
See “Selected Financial Information and Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis.” 

 
Risk Factors: 

 
Due to the nature of the Company’s business and the present stage 
of development of its business, the Company is subject to significant 
risks. Readers should carefully consider all such risks. Risk factors 
include, but are not limited to, limited operating history, speculative 
nature of mineral exploration, dilution, mineral titles, loss of interest 
in properties, permits and government regulations, environmental 
and safety regulations and risks, fluctuating mineral prices, 
financing risks and competition. For a detailed description of these 
and other risks, please see “Risk Factors”. 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 
 

The Company was incorporated under the BCBCA on September 8, 2021 as “Pluto Ventures Inc.”. 

The Company’s head office is located at 2250 – 1055 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 2E9, and 
its registered and records office is located at 2250 - 1055 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 2E9. 

The Company has no subsidiaries. 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 
 

Dardanelle Property 

The Company is a mineral exploration and development company focused on the Dardanelle Property in the 
Omineca Mining Division, 23 air kilometers east of Terrace, British Columbia, on the northern slopes of 
Copper (Zymoetz) River valley. The Property consists of 15 mineral claims which cover 1,434.27 hectares. 
The Company is party to the Option Agreement, pursuant to which it has the option to acquire a 100% legal 
and beneficial interest in the Property. See “History - Option Agreement” and “Dardanelle Property”. 

Stated Business Objectives and Competitive Conditions 

The Property is in the exploration stage and considered early-stage and high risk. The Company intends to 
use its available funds to carry out the exploration program for the Property, which is budgeted for $101,970. 
See “Dardanelle Property – Recommendations” and “Use of AvailableFunds”. 

The Company has no source of operating cash flow and no revenue from operations. The Company has not 
determined whether its Property contains any metals of economically recoverable concentrations. The 
Property does not contain any resources or reserves. The Company also evaluates other prospective projects 
and as a result may be in competition with other entities in the search for and acquisition of mineral 
properties. As a result of this competition, the Company may be unable to acquire attractive properties in the 
future on terms it considers acceptable. The Company also competes for financing with other resource 
companies. There is no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available to the 
Company if needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing will be favourable to the Company. See 
“Risk Factors”. 

HISTORY 

Financings 
 

On April 1, 2022, the Company completed a private placement financing transaction of 2,500,000 Common 
Shares at a price of $0.02 per share for gross proceeds of$50,000. 

On June 10, 2022, the Company completed a private placement financing transaction of 1,500,000 Common 
Shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of$75,000. 

On September 21, 2023, the Company completed a private placement financing transaction issuing 606,000 
Special Warrants at a price of $0.05 per Special Warrant for gross proceeds of $30,300. The Company issued 
200,000 Compensation Special Warrants and paid a total of $2,640 in cash commission and banking and 
processing fees to the broker in connection with thefinancing. 

On January 8, 2024, the Company completed a private placement financing transaction of 2,000,000 
Common Shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $100,000. 

On  March  22,  2024,  the Company  completed  a  private  placement financing transaction of 4,000,000 



 

Common Shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $200,000. 
 

Option Agreement 
 

Pluto entered into the Option Agreement dated effective June 29, 2022 with Decade Resources, pursuant to 
which Decade Resources granted to Pluto the option to acquire a 100% legal and beneficial interest in the 
Dardanelle Property from Decade Resources by satisfying the following requirements: 

 
(a) Pluto paying an aggregate of $110,000 to Decade Resources as follows: 

 
(i) $10,000 on signing the Option Agreement(paid); 
(ii) $10,000 on or before the 15thbusiness day after the Listing Date; 
(iii) $20,000 on the first anniversary of the Listing Date; 
(iv) $30,000 on the second anniversary of the Listing Date; and 
(v) $40,000 on the third anniversary of the Listing Date. 

 
(b) Pluto incurring an aggregate of $2,000,000 in mining work expenditures on the Property as follows: 

 
(i) $50,000 on the first anniversary of the Listing Date; 
(ii) Completing minimum mining work expenditures on the Property as recommended in the 

Technical Report on the second anniversary of the Listing Date; 
(iii) Completing minimum mining work expenditures on the Property as recommended in the 

Technical Report on the third anniversary of the Listing Date; and 
(iv) Completing minimum mining work expenditures on the Property as recommended in the 

Technical Report on the fourth anniversary of the Listing Date. 
 

(c) Pluto issuing an aggregate of 400,000 Common Shares to Decade Resources asfollows: 

(i) 100,000 Common Shares on or before the 15thbusiness day after the Listing Date; 
(ii) 100,000 Common Shares on or before the first anniversary of the Listing Date; 
(iii) 100,000 Common Shares on or before the second anniversary of the Listing Date; and 
(iv) 100,000 Common Shares on or before the third anniversary of the Listing Date. 

 
Pluto agrees to file assessment reports to maintain the Property in good standing until the option has been 
exercised. In the event the Property is returned, the claims comprising the Property are required to be in 
good standing for at least one year. Upon completion of the option obligations under the Option Agreement, 
Pluto will become the legal and beneficial owner of a 100% interest in the option and Decade Resources will 
transfer or cause to be transferred 100% of the legal title to the Property to Pluto. 

 
The Option Agreement also contains varying representations, warranties and covenants of the parties relating 
to, among other matters: incorporation, standing and authority of the party, and enforceability of the Option 
Agreement against the party; in the case of Decade Resources, Decade Resources’ unencumbered ownership 
of the Property, Decade Resources’ compliance with applicable laws with respect to the Property, and the 
status and standing of the Property; and in the case of Pluto, the making of certain cash payments, the 
issuance of Common Shares to Decade Resources and Pluto’s future conduct of operations on the Property. 
The assertions embodied in the Option Agreement’s representations, warranties and covenants are solely for 
the purposes of the Option Agreement and should not be relied on as statements offactualinformation. 

 
Upon successful exercise of the option under the Option Agreement, Pluto will retain a 1% net smelter returns 
(“NSR”) royalty on the commercial production of minerals mined from the Property, such NSR royalty 
governed by the terms  of  the NSR  Royalty  Agreement  entered  into by  Pluto  and  Decade  Resources 
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concurrently with the Option Agreement. Pluto may repurchase the NSR royalty from Decade Resources for 
$500,000. The Property is subject to an additional 2% NSR royalty owned by William McRae and John 
Georgilas pursuant to the terms and conditions of an agreement dated as of July 2017 between Decade 
Resources and Detour Gold Corporation. 

 
 

DARDANELLE PROPERTY 

The Property 
 

The information in this Prospectus with respect to the Property is derived from a NI 43-101 report entitled 
“National Instrument 43-101 F-1 Technical Report on Dardanelle Property” dated effective September 6, 
2024, as revised September 19, 2024, and prepared for the Company by the Author. The Author is 
independent of the Company and is a “Qualified Person” for the purposes of NI 43-101. The full text ofthe 
Technical Report is available for review at the registered andrecords office of the Company at 2250 - 1055 
West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6E 2E9. 

 
Property Description and Location 

 
The Dardanelle Property is located 23 kilometers east of Terrace, B.C., Canada on the northern slopes of the 
Copper (Zymoetz) River valley (Figures 1 and 2). All mineral claims comprising this project are situated in 
the Omineca Mining Division on NTS map sheets 103I/08 and 103I/09. 

 
The Dardanelle Property covers 1,434.02 ha in 15 mineral claims that are 100% owned by Decade 
Resources. Relevant claim information is summarized in Table 1 below. The locations of the claims are 
shown on Figure 2. 

 
Table 1 Dardanelle Property Mineral Claims 
 

Title Number 
Claim 
Name 

 
Owner 

 
Issue Date 

Good to 
Date 

 
Area (ha) 

398666 DAR 8 245542 (100%) 2002/DEC/02 2027/AUG/02 25 
505417 Dardanelle 2 245542 (100%) 2005/FEB/01 2027/AUG/02 338.14 
505418 Dardanelle 3 245542 (100%) 2005/FEB/01 2027/AUG/02 338.097 
510719  245542 (100%) 2005/APR/13 2027/AUG/02 75.161 
531627  245542 (100%) 2006/APR/10 2027/AUG/02 37.583 
531629  245542 (100%) 2006/APR/10 2027/AUG/02 37.583 
531650  245542 (100%) 2006/APR/10 2027/AUG/02 37.578 
531653  245542 (100%) 2006/APR/10 2027/AUG/02 37.583 
531655  245542 (100%) 2006/APR/10 2027/AUG/02 37.584 
531658  245542 (100%) 2006/APR/10 2027/AUG/02 56.378 
531663  245542 (100%) 2006/APR/10 2027/AUG/02 18.794 
517726  245542 (100%) 2005/JUL/14 2027/AUG/02 75.155 
505416 Dardanelle 1 245542 (100%) 2005/FEB/01 2027/AUG/02 169.075 
517515  245542 (100%) 2005/JUL/12 2027/AUG/02 56.359 

1069068 NDT 2 245542 (100%) 2019/JUN/11 2027/AUG/02 93.9457 
 

The mineral claims overlap with 7 historical Crown grants (numbers 7516 – 7522). The Crown grants were 
terminated in 1993 and 1996 and therefore have no bearing on the mineral rights within the boundaries of 
the Dardanelle Property. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. has the right to earn 100% interest in the Property by spending $2,000,000 in exploration 
on the Property and paying a total of $110,000 cash and issuing 400,000 shares to Decade Resources before 
the 4th anniversary of a future anticipated listing of Pluto Ventures on a public stock exchange. Upon 
completion of the earn-in Decade Resources Ltd. shall retain a 1.0% NSR on the Property. Pluto Ventures 
may purchase the NSR from Decade Resources any time for $500,000. The Dardanelle property is also 
subject to a 2.0 NSR owned by William McRae and John Georgilas. 
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Figure 1 Location of Dardanelle Project in British Columbia, Canada 
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Figure 2 Claim map and local infrastructure 
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MINERAL TENURE SYSTEM IN BRITISH COLUMBIA 
 

Mineral claims in British Columbia are issued under the Mineral Tenure Act Regulation (the Act) and are 
administrated by the MEMLCI. A mineral claim can be registered by an individual or corporation through 
the Minerals Titles Online (MTO) website which is administrated by the Mineral Titles Branch of the 
MEMLCI. 

 
Upon registration, a mineral claim is deemed to commence as of that date (Date of Issue) and is good until 
the “Expiry Date” (Good to Date) that is one year from the date of registration. To maintain the claim beyond 
the expiry date, exploration and development work must be performed and registered, or a payment instead 
of exploration and development may be registered. If the claim is not maintained, it will forfeit at the end of 
the “expiry date” and it is the responsibility of every recorded holder to maintain their claims; no notice of 
pending forfeiture is sent to the recorded holder. When exploration and development work or a payment 
instead of work is registered, a claim may be advanced forward to any new date. With a payment, instead of 
work, the minimum requirement is 6-months, and the new date cannot exceed 1-year from the current expiry 
date; with work, it may be any date up to a maximum of 10-years beyond the current anniversary year. 
“Anniversary year” means the number of years that have lapsed since the expiry date issued upon registration 
of the claim. Work or a "cash-in-lieu of work" payment is registered through the online MTO system. The 
following outlines the work or “cash-in-lieu” costs required to maintain a claim for 1-year: 

 
• Anniversary Years 1 and 2, $5.00 per ha for work or $10 per ha for cash-in-lieu 
• Anniversary Years 3 and 4, $10.00 per ha for work or $20 per ha for cash-in-lieu 
• Anniversary Years 5 and 6, $15.00 per ha for work or $30 per ha for cash-in-lieu 
• Anniversary Years 7 and subsequent $20.00 per ha for work or $40 per ha for cash-in-lieu 

 
PERMITS REQUIRED FOR FUTURE EXPLORATION 

 
Exploration activities as well as permitting in British Columbia, Canada, are regulated by the Mines Act. 
Authorization permits are required for exploration activities that include mechanical disturbance of ground, 
tree felling or geophysical surveys that include exposed electrodes; such activities include drilling, road or 
camp building, mechanical trenching, etc. Applications for exploration permits are known as Notices of Work 
(NoW) applications. Applications are made though regional MEMLCI offices and each NoW undergoes 
technical review and is referred to Indigenous Nations. MEMLCI staff are legally obligated to consult and 
accommodate (where required) First Nations on land and resource decisions that could impact Aboriginal 
Interests. Following review and consultation a MEMLCI mine inspector, with delegated authority from the 
Chief Permitting Officer, will decide on whether to authorize the proposed activities, and if so, what permit 
conditions may be appropriate including reclamation bonding. Proposed exploration programs comprising 
non-invasive exploration activities may not require a permit. Such activities can include airborne geophysical 
surveying, base-line data acquisition, rock or soil sampling, and pitting, trenching, or drilling with hand-held 
tools. 

 
As of the effective date of this report there is no current permit for exploration on the Dardanelle Property. A 
recently expired (March 31, 2024) permit held by Decade Resources allowed for surface drilling from ten 
sites with a total disturbance area of 0.3 ha, and 50 m2 of incidental tree cutting; the permit was conditional 
on development of and adherence to a Wildlife Management Plan and all other requirements under the Mines 
Act. 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS 

 
There are currently no environmental issues known to the author that would materially impact the ability to 
continue mineral exploration on the Dardanelle Property. 



17  

AVAILABILITY OF LAND FOR POTENTIAL FUTURE SITE DEVELOPMENT 
 

The Dardanelle Property is located entirely on Crown land. There is no surface or private ownership of the 
land. The southern portion of the property overlaps with the Glenannan – Skeena Transmission Line 
conditional reserve restriction. In the author’s opinion, sufficient undeveloped land is present to support 
future site development should a potential mine be discovered. However, no agreements to secure land 
access for future development have been established to date by Decade Resources or Pluto Ventures. Two 
First Nations are listed by the British Columbia Government as having Aboriginal Interests in the Project 
area, the Lax Kw'alaams Band and the Kitselas Band. There are no other significant factors that the author  
is aware of that would impede potential future land access. 

 
Accessibility, Climate, and Physiography 

ACCESSIBILITY 

At various times the Dardanelle property has been road accessible by truck or ATVs via logging roads, 
power-line service roads, and exploration trails. At the time of the author’s site visit (August 14, 2024), 
quality logging roads beginning at the small community of Copper River, near the confluence of the Copper 
and Skeena rivers, extended approximately 18 km east to within 20 m of the historical Dardanelle adit portal. 
The full length of the explored portion of the Dardanelle dyke/vein system is accessible via ATV on an 
exploration trail. In the past, access was not always so easy, and the Property was at times accessed via 
helicopter from Terrace with a landing on the Copper River gravel bar, just south of the Dardanelle adit that 
was only possible when water levels in the Copper River were low. 

 
CLIMATE 

 
The weather is typical of the North Coast of British Columbia with wet summers and heavy snowfall in the 
winters. Large snowdrifts cover parts of the property until May, and small areas of snow at the highest 
elevations and in sheltered areas persist until late summer. Because of the mountainous terrene and 
voluminous snowfall, surface exploration in the Terrace area is restricted to summer and early fall with the 
maximum rock exposure occurring in late August to October. 

 
LOCAL RESOURCES & INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
With a current population of over 19,000, Terrace supports a regional airport, rail yard, and most other 
amenities. Several helicopter companies have bases in Terrace. A major high-voltage powerline runs along 
the bottom of the northern side of the Copper River valley, coming within 700 m of the Dardanelle adit. 

 
PHYSIOGRAPHY 

 
Physiography of the project area is dominated by two main elements: the Copper River, and its moderately 
steep, northern slopes. Elevations of the Copper River valley bottom range from 170 to 190 m near the 
Dardanelle Property. The slopes become gradually steeper towards the northeast with elevations reaching 
1500 - 1600 m. The area is drained by several creeks flowing south to southwest into the Copper River. 
Almost the entire area of the property is heavily timbered. 

 
History 

 
PRIOR OWNERSHIP AND OWNERSHIP CHANGES 

 
Early 1900’s 
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The Dardanelle veins were discovered in the early 1900’s and the original group of claims was recorded under 
the name of Dardanelle. From 1914 to 1948 several companies were involved in development of this property 
including A. Carmichael and Associates, Omineca Gold Quartz Mines Ltd. (controlled by the famous mine 
developer Fred Wells), and the Consolidated Mining & Smelting Co. 

 
1969-1996 
Univex Mining Corporation held the Dardanelles ground. 

2004-2008 
In 2004, W.H. McRae and J. Georgilas acquired the property and contracted Trade Winds Ventures to 
conducted exploration. 

 
2017-2024 
Decade Resources acquired the property in 2017 and is the current owner of the mineral titles. As of June 29, 
2022, Pluto Ventures Inc, has the right to earn 100% interest in the property by making certain payments and 
property expenditures. 

 
SUMMARY OF PREVIOUS EXPLORATION PROGRAMS 

 
Early 1900’s 
In 1915, about 100 m of underground development was completed (Anderson, 1997). Samples from the 
veins assayed between 3.4 and 7.5 g/t gold. Between 1915 and 1935 limited surface trenching and blasting 
was conducted on the property. In 1936, the underground work extended the adit to about 490 m and was 
followed by the installation of tracks and an air duct. Some surface trenching was completed in 1948. 

 
1969-1996 
In 1969 Univex Mining Corporation conducted an extensive exploration program that included: surface and 
underground mapping, soil sampling, trenching and diamond drilling (approximately 300 m); however, “there 
are no records available for this work” (Anderson 1997). Univex returned to the property (then named “J.P. 
Property”) in 1988 and completed another program consisting of general clean-up, reparations to the road and 
underground workings, erecting a log bridge over McNeil Creek, surveying, trenching and blasting, geological 
mapping, as well as soil and underground sampling (Symonds, 1989). The underground workings were 
mapped at that time (Figure 3). In 1996, a limited amount of rock sampling (both underground and surface), 
prospecting and mapping was conducted by R.B. Anderson (Anderson, 1997). 

 
2004-2005 
During 2004-2005 exploration work on the Dardanelle prospect was conducted by Trade Winds Ventures 
(Burton, 2005a, b). The programs included maintenance of the road/access trail system, line-cutting, an 
extensive soil and trenching program, as well as a limited amount of diamond drilling (283.61m in 5 drill 
holes; Figure 4). 

 
2017 
Decade Resources Ltd. of Steward, BC, optioned the property and conducted a limited reconnaissance 
exploration program (Mastalerz, 2018a). The program included geochemical rock sampling and 
geological/structural observations for the western part of the property. Most samples collected in the area 
of the historic surface workings contained elevated concentrations of precious and base metals. In total, 22 
samples returned elevated Au concentrations, typically ranging between 110 and 729 ppb; the highest-grade 
sample returned 18.8 g/t Au. Most of these samples also contained significantly elevated concentrations of 
silver of up to 77.1 ppm (Mastalerz, 2018a). 
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2018 
A total of 54 rock samples were collected and assayed during Decade Resource’s 2018 exploration program. 
The bulk of these samples were collected from the westernmost part of the property during prospecting for 
a potential western-southwestern extension of the main Dardanelle veins. The assay results were low with 
the highest assays yielding 447 and 1,550 ppb gold; the highest silver assay was 14.6 ppm (Mastalerz, 
2018b). 

 

HISTORICAL MINERAL RESOURCE ESTIMATE 
 

To the best of the Author’s knowledge, there are no significant historical Mineral Resource Estimates for 
the Dardanelle Property. 

 
HISTORICAL PRODUCTION FROM THE PROPERTY 

 
To the best of the Author’s knowledge there has been no historical production from the Dardanelle Property. 



 

 
 

Figure 3 Adit location with historical sampling (Symonds, 1989) 
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GEOLOGICAL SETTING 
 
Regional Geology 

 
The Canadian Cordillera is interpreted to comprise a series of oceanic and island-arc crustal fragments, 
referred to as terranes, that were successively accreted to the proto-North American continent. The terranes 
occur within three large-scale geomorphological-geotectonic units, the Insular, Coastal and Intramontane 
belts. The accreted terranes docked with deformed continental crust to the east comprising the Omineca and 
Foreland belts (Figure 4). Individual terranes have been subsequently intruded by granitoids of the Coast 
Plutonic Complex (Jurassic to Tertiary). 

 
The Dardanelle property is located within the Stikine Terrane (Stikinia). Stikinia is the largest island-arc 
terrane within the Canadian Cordillera and its extent can be followed, discontinuously, over a 2000 x 100- 
500 km area trending NW-SE along the general tectonic grain of the Cordillera. The Dardanelle Propery 
includes Triassic to Jurassic volcanic rocks of the Hazelton Group’s Telkwa Formation, as well as roughly 
coeval intrusions of the Kleanza Plutonic Suite. Stikinia is bounded to the west of the Dardanelle Property 
area by the Late Cretaceous to Paleogene Coast Plutonic Complex (Gehrels et al., 2009; Brown, 2020), and 
to the east by a Middle to Late Jurassic post-accretionary sedimentary overlap assemblage, the Bowser Lake 
Group. 

 
Stratified Rocks 

 
The oldest rocks exposed in the Terrace/Copper River area within the Stikine Terrane are within the Late 
Paleozoic Zymoetz Group (Nelson et al. 2006); it is equivalent to the Stikine assemblage further north. 
Locally the Zymoetz Group is divided into upper Paleozoic volcanogenic and marine sedimentary strata (Mt. 
Attree Formation, Nelson et al 2008a), overlain unconformably by Permian limestone (Ambition Formation, 
Gunning et al. 1994). 

 
The Zymoetz Group is unconformably overlain by Triassic sedimentary rocks that form a thin package of 
black argillite, chert, limy mudstone and siltstone. These rocks have never been formally defined in the 
Terrace/Copper River area but are equivalent to the regionally extensive Stuhini Group. 

 
The Triassic sedimentary rocks are locally overlain by coarse volcanogenic conglomerates that are interpreted 
to appear locally near the base of the Hazelton Group (Telkwa Formation; Hooper 1985, Nelson et al. 2008, 
Barresi 2008, Turna and Goeppel 2017). 

 
The main thickness of the Telkwa Formation consists predominantly of andesite composition volcanic and 
volcaniclastic rocks (Figures 5, 6, see also: Nelson and Kennedy 2007, Nelson et al. 2006, 2008). Near 
Terrace, these rocks are attributed to three separate volcanic centres. Felsic volcanic rocks (dacite, rhyolite) 
appear far less commonly and with considerably lesser volume. 

 
Above the Telkwa Formation, bright red tuffs of the Nilkitkwa Formation, and gray limy sedimentary rocks 
of the Smithers Formation represent the waning volcanic activity of the Hazelton arc. They are overlain by 
interbedded siliceous mudstones and felsic ash tuff of the regionally extensive Quock Formation, which 
farther north in the Stewart region are famously nicknamed “pyjama beds”. 

 
Rock formations of the Hazelton Group are overlain by a thick succession of the Middle-to-Late Jurassic 
Bowser Lake Group. The Bowser Lake Group comprises siliciclastic rocks that filled a post-accretionary 
basin  (the  Bowser  Basin),  as  part  of  a  tectonic  overlap  assemblage.  These  sedimentary  rocks     are 
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predominantly dark grey to black coloured turbiditic sandstone and siltstone and minor chert-bearing 
conglomerates. 

 
Plutonic/Intrusive Rocks 

 
The intrusive/plutonic rocks in the Terrace-Copper River area include three suites (Nelson and Kennedy, 
2007). 

 
The Kleanza Pluton (Suite) forms a large-scale, complex and heterogenous intrusive body with some 
apophyses in the Copper River (Zymoetz) and Kleanza Creek area. Barresi et al., (2015) presents 
geochronology demonstrating that pluton emplacement was prolonged between 204.29 ± 0.45 Ma and 180.8 
± 2.6 Ma. The rocks vary texturally from porphyritic to fine-grained and coarse-grained varieties. Their 
composition varies from gabbro to granite and marginal phases tend to be more mafic and more variable than 
those in the middle of the larger bodies (Nelson and Kennedy, 2007; Nelson et al. 2006; Dandy, 2012). The 
Kleanza Pluton also includes some small-scale, irregular pegmatite bodies as well as much larger microdiorite 
zones. The main body of the plutonic rocks is cut by numerous dykes with variable composition, fromaplite 
to mafic and even ultramafic. 
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Figure 4 Location of Stikine Terrane and geomorphological belts of the Canadian Cordillera 
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Figure 5 Regional geology of the Project area (from MEMLCI online resource 
"Mapplace") 
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Figure 6 Local geology in the Dardanelle area (Nelson et al., 2006) 
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Figure 7 Annotated photographs of the hangingwall (top), and footwall (bottom) 
Dardanelle veins 
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The Kitsumkalum Intrusive Suite is a variably foliated, inhomogeneous granitoid that outcrops locally from 
the northern outskirts of Terrace northward, up to the eastern slopes of Kitsumkalum Lake. The suite includes 
predominant granite with some lenses and layers of granodiorite and diorite (Nelson and Kennedy, 2007). 
Well-formed titanite crystals are characteristic components. The suite has been dated at approximately 59 Ma 
(Paleocene; Gareau et al., 1997). 

 
The Carpenter Creek Pluton/Suite is a large-scale intrusive body that occurs between the Kitsumkalum Suite 
and Kleanza Pluton (Nelson and Kennedy, 2007). It comprises predominant coarse-grained granite, lesser 
granodiorite and tonalite, and smaller-scale dykes of finer-grained granitoid varieties. The intrusion has been 
dated at about 53 Ma (Eocene; Gareau et al., 1997). Characteristic elements are pink orthoclase-porphyritic 
granite and some pink pegmatites and aplite dykes (Nelson et al. 2006). 

 
LOCAL GEOLOGY 

 
Regional geological mapping of the Dardanelle Property indicates relatively simple geology; however, it has 
never been mapped on a property scale (cf. Mastalerz 2018 a, b). The majority of the eastern and western 
portions of the Dardanelle Property are underlain by volcanogenic rocks of the Telkwa Formation of the 
Hazelton Group (Figure 6; Nelson et al., 2007, 2008). According to Nelson et al. (2008) there is also a fault- 
bounded block of polymictic conglomerate (LJTcg – Figure 6) attributed to the base of the Telkwa Formation, 
on the eastern-most portion of the property. 

 
Bisecting the volcanic rocks in a roughly NNW-SSE direction is a 1.5 to 2.5 km wide domain of light grey to 
pale greyish-green, medium to coarse-crystalline intrusive rock of the Kleanza Plutonic suite. The intrusive 
rocks comprise granodiorite, monzo-granodiorite and/or quartz diorite varieties that are commonly weakly 
altered (chlorite + minor sericite + quartz + calcite). The Dardanelle showing is contained within the intrusive 
rock (Figure 6). This intrusion is referred to as the Dardanelle granodiorite elsewhere in thereport. 

 
STRUCTURE 

 
The southwestern contact of the Dardanelle granodiorite is concealed under thick overburden, but it is mapped 
to run along a prominent, NW-SE striking fault (Dardanelle fault) which follows McNeil Creek just west of 
the Dardanelle adit and continues southeastwards along a bend in the Copper River (Figure 6). 

 
MINERALIZATION 

 
The Dardanelle Property contains only one named mineral occurrence: “Dardanelle” (MINFILE No 103I 
107) which is classified as a developed prospect (Figures 3, 6, 7, 15). 

 
At the Dardanelle prospect two quartz veins up to 2 m thick, occur intermittently along both hangingwall and 
footwall contacts of a rhyolite dyke for 700 m and to a tested vertical depth of 180 m. Sulfides and other 
metallic minerals observed in the veins include pyrite, sphalerite, chalcopyrite, argentite, galena, arsenopyrite, 
bornite, covellite and native gold. The rhyolite dyke and associated veins are hosted in granodiorite. The 
rhyolite dyke is 5-10 m thick, light green, fine grained and strikes 70-75 ° for about 700 m and dips steeply 
(70-80°) to the north (Figures 3, 15). The dyke contains finely disseminated pyrite and less frequently, 
chalcopyrite. Quartz-sulfide veins are present along both hangingwall and footwall contacts (Figure 7). The 
veins range from a few cm to over 2 m in true width, carrying locally significant mineralization. The contacts 
of the dyke/vein system with the host granodiorite appear to be locally faulted. The wallrock granodiorite is 
commonly sheared and displays significant chlorite and carbonate alteration near its contacts with the dyke 
or vein. The sheared zones locally contain pyrite, chalcopyrite, and malachite. The Dardanelle dyke/vein 
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system is locally cut and slightly displaced (1 m or less) by faults roughly perpendicular to the strike of the 
system. The full extent of the vein, in terms of strike length, and depth, is unknown because of extensive 
overburden in the area and limited drilling. 

 
DEPOSIT TYPE 

 
The two parallel quartz veins that comprise the Dardanelle showing have characteristics of mesothermal gold 
veins. Mesothermal gold veins do not exhibit typical epithermal textures and are comprised of 
quartz±carbonate gangue, base metal sulfides including pyrite, pyrrhotite, chalcopyrite, galena, sphalerite, 
and tetrahedrite and sometimes argentite, native gold and/or gold or silver bearing telluride minerals. The 
veins range from a few cm thick to over 3 m. They typically form as vertical or steeply dipping single veins 
or vein arrays within intrusive or volcanic rock and are generally emplaced within domains that have been 
affected by faulting at depths near the brittle-ductile transition. They are associated with compressional 
tectonic environments and can be closely linked (spatially and genetically) to local intrusive phases. 
Mesothermal deposits are commonly associated with domains of iron-carbonate alteration that surround the 
veins and affect the rocks within and surrounding associated fault-zones. Exploration criteria for mesothermal 
gold-bearing veins include: 1) presence of placer gold or elevated gold in stream sediments; 2) Cu, Pb, Zn, 
Bi, Ba, Au, and Ag geochemical anomalies (soil or stream); 3) the presence of faults with associated FeCa 
alteration; 4) lineaments with low magnetic response related to faulting and magnetite destructive alteration. 

 
EXPLORATION 

 
2022 EXPLORATION PROGRAM 

Between August 18 and 21, 2022 Pluto Ventures carried out an exploration program comprised of soil and 
resistivity surveys. 

 
Soil Sampling 

 
The 2022 soil grid covers an area of 300 m by 800 m with samples collected every 50 m along 4 lines 100 
m apart (Figure 8). A total of 68 soil samples were collected. Soil samples were taken from the B horizon, 
20 to 30 cm deep below the surface using a steel hand shovel. All samples were then packaged into Kraft 
paper bags with written sample numbers. At each of the sites, the sampler left flagging tape with the 
sample number. 

 
The Author considers the soil sampling method to be unbiased and industry-standard and the results to 
reliable for the purpose of identifying geochemical soil anomalies. However, because the survey covers 
ground that is sloped there is a possibility that soil anomalies may be transported and represent up-slope 
sources. 

 
Nine samples returned gold values above 0.020 ppm including three samples that returned values from 
0.15 to 0.29 ppm gold (Figure 8). 

 
Samples with the highest gold content also contain elevated lead (up to 80 ppm), bismuth (up to 0.69 ppm), 
tungsten (up to 14 ppm) and tellurium (up to 0.29ppm). 

 
Anomalous soil samples form 3 anomalies marked A, B, C marked on Figure 8. The most pronounced is 
anomaly C, which comprises 5 anomalous samples that assayed from 0.04 to 0.29 ppm gold. 

 
RESISTIVITY SURVEY 



29  

A multi-electrode resistivity survey was carried out on the property in 2022 along two profile lines that 
were oriented perpendicular to the Dardanelle dyke/vein system. The survey was challenged by poor 
electrode contact, and the results are considered unreliable. However, the survey did outline the main 
rhyolite dyke and possibly up to three other similarly resistivity features that could be additional rhyolite 
dykes (Tian, 2022). 

 
2023 ROCK SAMPLING 

 
In 2023 a two-day campaign of prospecting and rock sampling was conducted on the Dardanelle property. 
In total 24 rock samples were collected, but they were never sent for assay. Most samples were collected 
along the known strike length of the Dardanelle veins, and these samples are described as containing quartz 
with sulfides. Six samples were collected from rock to the west of the Dardanelle showing and these 
samples are described as having no sulfides, but some have quartz veining (Tian, 2023). 



 

 

 
Figure 8 Location of soil samples with Au concentrations in g/t 
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2023 AIRBORNE GEOPHYSICAL SURVEY 

 
Introduction 

 
In 2023 Pluto Ventures completed an airborne geophysical survey consisting of magnetic, radiometric and 
very-low-frequence-electromagnetic (VLF-EM) data collection to aid geological mapping and mineral 
exploration. The survey was conducted on June 23 by Precision GeoSurveys of Langly, BC. A total of 
158-line-kilometres were flown over an area of 14.1 km2. The Dardanelle survey block was flown at 100 
m line spacing at azimuth 90°/270°. The survey height was a constant 50 m above ground level. The survey 
block with actual flight lines is shown on Figure 9. A short description of the geophysical data collected 
during the survey is provided below. 

 
Magnetic data 

 

Magnetic surveying is a standard geophysical technology used for mineral exploration. Aeromagnetic 
surveys record the intensity of the total magnetic field. Magnetic data reflect the spatial distribution of 
magnetic minerals (mostly magnetite) within the top levels of earth’s crust. This in turn, is related to 
geological features such as lithology, structure and alteration. 

 
Radiometric data 

 

A radiometric survey measures the spatial distribution of three radioactive elements (potassium-K, 
thorium-Th and uranium-U) in the top 30-45 cm of earth's crust. The abundances of K, Th and U are 
measured by detecting the gamma-rays produced during the natural radioactive decay of these elements. 
Mapping the distribution and concentration of radioelements is useful for identification of areas affected 
by hydrothermal alteration which is often associated with mineralization. 

 
VLF-EM data 

 

VLF is a low-cost electromagnetic solution for mapping shallow conductors. The technique uses existing 
transmitters that are primarily used for communications with submarines. The frequency used is 
approximately 20 kHz, which in radio transmission corresponds to very low frequencies, hence the name 
of this technique (VLF). Measuring signals from two or more VLF-EM transmitters in perpendicular 
directions can help in determining the location and geometry of buried conductors which could correspond 
to mineralized zones, graphite or ground water. 

 
AIRBORNE GEOPHYSICAL DATA RESULTS AND INTERPRETATION 

 
Magnetic data was provided as a plan map, as well as in a 3D inversion voxel model. Radiometric data 
was provided as a plan surface map. VLF-EM data were of poor quality and were not useful for exploration 
purposes; they will not be discussedfurther. 

 
The Dardanelle dyke/vein system is situated along the contact between areas of high and low magnetic 
intensity (Figure 10). The Dardanelle dyke/vein system is also located within an area that has increased 
concentrations of K, U and Th (Figure 11), indicating that the radiometric survey effectively identified 
alteration associated with the mineral system. 

 
A similar magnetic geophysical signature appears to be offset, across faults, to the NE and it could 
represent a similar dyke/vein system as the Dardanelle, or even be an offset strike extent of the Dardanelle. 
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However, the northeast target does not have the same radiometric signature as the Dardanelle, within the 
magnetic low, rather there is a radiometric anomaly within the magnetic high (Figure 11, 12). 

 
First, second and third priority geophysical targets have been identified based on these data (Figure 12). 
The first priority targets are along strike of the known Dardanelle prospect, and to the northeast of 
Dardanelle where a similar contact between domains of magnetic highs and lows exists. Second priority 
targets feature high magnetic intensity with local moderate hydrothermal alteration halos indicated by 
concentrations of K, U, and Th. Third priority exploration targets are areas with isolated high intensity 
magnetic anomalies. 

 
The 3D magnetic inversion model indicates that the high-low magnetic-domain contacts associated with 
first priority targets are not just surficial features but extend to significant depth (Figures 13, 14). 



 

 

 
Figure 9 Airborne geophysical flight lines, 2023 



 

 
Figure 10 Total magnetic Intensity; airborne survey, 2023 



Figure 11 Radiometric data from 2023 airborne geophysical survey  

 

 



Figure 12 Prioritized geophysical targets from 2023 airborne survey  

 

 



 

 

 
 

Figure 13 3D inversion of magnetic data - Dardanelle Property 



 

 

 
 

Figure 14 3D magnetic inversion showing only strong magnetic intensity 



 

DRILLING 

The Dardanelle prospect has reportedly been drill tested three times: 
1. In 1969, Univex Mining Corporation reportedly conducted 304 m of diamond drilling (Burton 

2005a, 2005b; no primary records of this work areavailable). 
2. In 2005, Trade Winds Ventures Inc. conducted 283.61 m of NQ sized diamond drilling in 5 holes 

from three pad locations (Figure 15, Table 2). 
3. In 2021, Decade Resources conducted 749.06 m of BTW sized diamond drilling in 10 holes from a 

single pad (Figure 15, Table 2). 
 

Table 1 Historical drill hole locations and orientations - Dardanelle Property 
 

Drill Hole 
 

Year 
 

Easting 
 
Northing 

 
Azimuth 

 
Dip 

Total Depth 
(m) 

True Width 
% 

DARDDH01 2005 549650 6037494 340 -45 50.6 42% 
DARDDH02 2005 549598 6037512 340 -45 57.61 42% 
DARDDH03 2005 549889 6037645 160 -45 38.4 91% 
DARDDH04 2005 549889 6037645 160 -60 47.24 76% 
DARDDH05 2005 549889 6037645 N/A -90 100.3 34% 
Dar-1 2021 550047 6037670 345 -45 66.16 42% 
Dar-2 2021 550047 6037670 345 -50 33.23 34% 
Dar-3 2021 550047 6037670 345 -65 63.11 9% 
Dar-4 2021 550047 6037670 345 -70 90.85 <1% 
Dar-5 2021 550047 6037670 350 -60 67.68 17% 
Dar-6 2021 550047 6037670 350 -65 87.8 9% 
Dar-7 2021 550047 6037670 355 -60 75.3 17% 
Dar-8 2021 550047 6037670 355 -65 84.45 9% 
Dar-9 2021 550047 6037670 360 -60 78.35 17% 
Dar-10 2021 550047 6037670 360 -65 102.13 9% 

 
2005 drilling included two drill holes that were collared in the footwall of the Dardanelle dyke-vein system 
near the original Dardanelle showing and three others that tested to the east, approximately half-way along 
the dyke-vein’s known strike-length, from a single setup in the hangingwall (Figure 15). The drilling was 
challenged by poor recovery from mineralized intervals (about 25% recovery), and as a result only 13 
samples of core material were collected and assayed (Burton, 2005b). The best interval from the program 
included two samples from the hangingwall vein intersected in hole DARDDH-04, which returned 4.04 
ppm of gold over 0.8 m (34.90 – 35.70 m) and 5.24 ppm of gold over 0.6 m (35.7 – 36.3 m; Burton, 2005b). 
Gold mineralization was accompanied by strongly elevated silver (15.0 and 13.4 ppm, respectively). The 
locations of these intervals are shown on Figure 15. 
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Figure 15 Historical drill hole locations 
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2021 drilling was carried out on the south side of a weakly mineralized outcrop near the easternmost 
known strike-extent of the Dardanelle dyke-vein system. Drilling was designed to check for 
continuity of mineralization along the contact with a rhyolite dyke. The 2021 holes intersected 
narrow quartz veins with sparse galena and chalcopyrite hosted within highly fractured/faulted 
granodiorite and more coherent rhyolite. Results were mainly low grade with a best result of 0.812 
ppm Au and 2.04 ppm Ag over 30 cm in drill hole DARDDH-06 (45.12 – 45.42 m). 

 
During the 2005 and 2021 drill programs only mineralized rock samples from veins or adjacent 
mineralized wallrock were submitted for assay. Therefore, the dearth of assay results with very low 
metal contents is likely due to a lack of sampling. 

 
The Dardanelle vein dips approximately 70° to the north and drilling was mainly conducted from 
the footwall oriented downdip of the projected vein system. Therefore, most intersection do not, 
closely represent the true width of the mineralization. Rather, with steeper holes (e.g. 60-65°), true 
widths are estimated to be less than 10% of the intersected width. Intersections from shallower 
holes with 45° inclinations have true widths around 42% of the intersected widths. Drill holes 
DARDDH03, 04, and 05 were drilled southwards from the hangingwall and are more representative 
of true widths, for example the true width of intersections from DARDDH03, which was drilled at 
a 45° inclination, are estimated to be about 90% of the intersected width. The best reported 
intersections are from drill hole DARDDH04, which was inclined at 70° and drilled from the 
hangingwall, and those intersections are estimated to have true widths approximately 76% of the 
interval width. Estimated true widths as percentages of intersection widths are included in Table 2. 

 
SAMPLE PREPARATION, ANALYSES AND SECURITY 

SAMPLE PREPARATION 

2005 and 2021 Drilling 
 

The 2005 drill program included a total of 13 samples. Many of these were whole-core samples due to poor 
recovery, and where recovery was better, the core was split using a manual splitter with half being submitted 
for assay. 2021 drill core was cut along the long axis with a diamond core saw and half was sent for analysis. 
A total of 43 samples were submitted and 2 blanks and 2 standards were inserted into the sample sequence. 
The samples were shipped to accredited laboratories (see section 11.2), that conduct in- house quality 
control. The Author is not aware of any further details of sample preparation or quality assurance or control 
procedures from 2005 or 2021 drillingprograms. 

 
2022 Soil Sampling 

 
Soil samples collected in 2022 were taken from the B horizon, 20 to 30 cm deep below the surface using a 
steel hand shovel. Each sample was assigned a unique tag number and placed in a Kraft paper bag, which 
was then folded and tied with a ribbon. At each of the sites, the sampler left flagging tape with the sample 
number. To prevent any potential damage to the soil samples, every five Kraft bags was stored in a plastic 
sample bag (polyurethane ore sample bags measuring 8" x 13" with a thickness of 5 mil). 

 
ANALYSES 

 
2005 and 2021 Drilling 
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Samples from 2005 drilling were submitted to ALS Chemex labs in North Vancouver, BC. The samples 
were crushed and pulverized to 85% <75 um. A 30 g sample portion was analyzed by fire assay with an AA 
finish for gold, and the sample was digested using Aqua Regia in preparation for AAS testing for Ag. No 
other elements were tested for. 

 
Samples from 2021 drilling were submitted to MSALABS in Langley, BC. The samples were dried and 
crushed to 70% passing 2 mm and then a 250 g split was pulverized to 85% passing 75 um mesh (MSALABS 
code PRP-910). Forty-gram samples were digested with an Aqua Regia solution and tested for 39 elements, 
including gold, with ICP-AES/MS techniques (MASLABS code IMS-129). 

 
Both ALS and MSALABS are ISO 9001 certified geochemical laboratories. Quality control procedures at 
the laboratories included the testing of blanks, standards and duplicates in each analytical batch. 

 
2022 Soil Sampling 
Soil samples collected by Pluto Ventures during the 2022 exploration program were sent to the ALS 
Geochemistry Laboratory in North Vancouver, BC which is a certified (ISO 9001:2015) Canadian based 
laboratory. The samples were dried and sieved to 180 um (ALS code PREP-41). A 30 g split was tested for 
gold via fire assay with an ICP-AES finish (ALS code Au-ICP21). The same samples were also tested for 
48-elements using trace level detection and a four-acid digestion via ICP-MS (ALS code ME-MS61). 
Quality control procedures at the laboratory included the testing of blanks, standards and duplicates in each 
analytical batch. 

 
SECURITY 

 
2005 and 2021 Drilling 

 
The Author is not aware of security measures taken with respect to samples from 2005 or 2021 drilling. 

2022 Soil Sampling 

Soil samples from the 2022 exploration program were securely stored in a storage box within the crew truck. 
After the field collection, the storage boxes were locked and kept in the truck or hotel rooms with restricted 
access. The project geologist, Tyler Tian, personally delivered the samples directly from the project to the 
ALS geochemical lab (North Vancouver), ensuring a secure chain of custody from the field to the laboratory. 

 
DATA VERIFICATION 

 
The author had access to reports, maps and other data including those that are present on BC government 
websites while preparing this report. 

 
Analytical values quoted in this report, except where noted, are substantiated by signed analytical 
certificates that were issued by accredited laboratories. British Columbia Assessment Reports, from which 
values were obtained, are required to contain copies of the analytical certificates. Some of the samples noted 
in this report are select grab samples and do not accurately represent the grade of a larger volume of rock. 

 
The location of recent samples and diamond drill holes are recorded in source documents using UTM 
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coordinates obtained with a GPS, however, earlier work was based on grids that have not been reestablished 
digitally. Some maps have been georeferenced based on topographic features to establish the location of 
historical work, but these locations areapproximate. 

 
Quality control and quality assurance programs for the 2005 drilling program are not described or otherwise 
known by the Author. 2021 drilling included the insertion of blanks and standards at a ratio of approximately 
1:10; the blanks returned acceptable values, but the standards could not be validated by the Author because 
the certified values are not known. Despite the lack of information on quality control and assurance 
procedures and/or potential limitations, the sampling programs are considered adequate, at the current 
grassroots stage of exploration, for estimating the general tenor of mineralization at the Dardanelle Project. 

 
The author visited the Project during August of 2024 to provide independent verification of data for the 
purpose of NI 43-101. During August 14th, the Author visited the Dardanelle Property for approximately 
four hours and observed the historical portal to the Dardanelle adit, mineralization exposed at the 
Dardanelle MINFILE showing location, and the site of 2021 drilling (Figure 16). Check samples were 
collected from the location of the MINFILE showing as well as from outcrop near the site of 2021 drilling 
(Table 3). Mineralization and mineralized trends described in historical reports were verified by the author 
during this visit in terms of location, style andtenor. 

 
During August 13th the Author visited a Decade Resources Ltd. core yard located at 606 5th Avenue in 
Stewart, BC, where core from 2021 drilling is stored. The accuracy of drill logs was validated through 
select drill core review and two check samples were collected that validate the tenor of mineralization from 
historical drill intersections of the Dardanelle veins (Table 3). The drill core boxes were in good condition 
and had legible tags noting the drill hole numbers and intervalswithin. 

 
Drill core, presumably from 2005 drilling, was identified during the site visit to the Dardanelle Property 
but the boxes were in poor condition and drill hole numbers and sample intervals were not recoverable. 
The drill core was mainly unsampled but there were several boxes that had missing/sampled core sections 
that were replaced with roughly NQ-core-sized sticks that had aluminum tags with illegible writing. 

 
Table 3 Check samples and corresponding historical drill core samples 

Sample ID Drill Hole From To Au Ag Cu Pb Zn 
  m m ppm ppm ppm ppm ppm 

Core Samples 
A0421804 2021-DAR-7 59.60 60.82 0.498 5.17 1990 2660 32 
C0073142 2021-DAR-7 59.60 60.82 0.577 4.39 1978 1296.6 32 
A0421805 2021-DAR-9 69.21 71.34 0.358 0.95 193 33.9 56 
C0073153 2021-DAR-9 69.21 71.34 0.087 0.77 436.4 6.3 33 

Outcrop Samples 
A0421806    2.92 63.3 4300 44600 25 
A0421807    0.034 0.48 15.4 271 3 

 
Yellow highlighted samples are check samples collected by the Author, Gray highlighted samples are 
corresponding assays from the same drill core interval, as reported in Kruchkowski (2022). 

 
Sample A0421806, collected by the Author, is a chip sample across the approximately 80 cm true width of 
the hangingwall vein exposed at the Dardanelle MINFILE showing (Figure16). 
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QUALIFIED PERSONS STATEMENT 
 

The Author is satisfied with the adequacy of sample preparation, security and analytical procedures 
employed during Pluto Ventures’ exploration on the Dardanelle Property. 

 
Data from historical drilling is considered by the Author to adequately indicate the general tenor, strike 
extent, and thickness of mineralization along tested portions of the Dardanelle showing. 

 
The site visit and check sample results have satisfied the Author that: 

1. The descriptions of geological units and the Dardanelle mineral showing on the 
Dardanelle Property are accurate. 

2. The tenor of mineralization documented from surface and drill core geochemical samples 
are representative. 

3. Drilling has occurred in multiple locations on theProperty. 
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Figure 16 Site visit photographs: Historical portal to Dardanelle Adit (above); 
Dardanelle showing with steep dipping quartz-sulfide vein in hangingwall to 
rhyolite dyke and footwall to sheared granodiorite (top right); Location of 
2021 drilling (bottom middle) 

 
Photos taken by Author, August 14, 2024, during site visit 

 
MINERAL PROCESSING AND METALLURGICAL TESTING 

 
No mineral processing has been conducted on the Dardanelle Project. No metallurgical testing has been 
conducted on rocks from the Dardanelle Project. 
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MINERAL RESOURCE ESTIMATES 
 

There are no Mineral Resource Estimates for deposits on the Dardanelle Project. 
 

ADJACENT PROPERTIES 
 
The Kelly Creek occurrence (MINFILE No 103I 092) is located approximately 4 km southeast from the 
southeastern corner of the Dardanelle Property. It is classified by MINFILE as a developed prospect. At 
Kelly Creek an upper showing contains disseminations, stringers and blebs of bornite and chalcopyrite 
within intensely fractured rhyolite tuffs and breccias. This east striking, moderately south-dipping zone is 
limited on both sides by weakly mineralized andesitic feldspar porphyry and measures about 150 by 120 
by 30 m. A 15.2 m drill intersection assayed 4.83% copper, 163.5 g/t silver and 2.7 g/t gold (George Cross 
News Letter No.245, 1979), and a 34.7 m drill intersection assayed 1.22% copper and 27.5 g/t silver (George 
Cross News Letter No.169, 1980). A lower showing, 400 m downslope to the northwest, consists of 
chalcopyrite, bornite and minor chalcocite occurring as fracture fillings in granodiorite. The zone is about 150 
m long and 15 m wide. Chip sampling averaged 2% copper and 17.1 g/t silver over 4 m (George Cross News 
Letter No.225, 1981). While these historical results can not be validated, rock grab samples from a 2019 
exploration program on the property yielded results with similar tenor (Lindinger, 2020; e.g. 0.69 g/t Au, 
25 g/t Ag, 1.15% Cu and 22.3 g/t Ag, 6.94% Cu). 

 
A number of other MINFILE showings are located in the vicinity of the Kell Creek showing, including East 
Side (103I 156), Goat Bluff (103I 15&), Mountain Goat (103I 214) Calona (103I 158), and La Zone Faillee 
(103I 162). Each of these showings includes significant copper mineralization in the form of chalcopyrite, 
bornite and sometimes chalcocite, in association with fractured, mostly volcanic, rock, and a variety of 
types of dykes including lamprophyre and intermediate feldspar porphyry. 

 
The widespread occurrence of copper in the Kelly Creek area is suggestive of a red bed copper style 
occurrence or possibly a porphyry Cu system. 

 
The author was unable to verify the information pertaining to Kelly Creek or any other surrounding 
property. The mineralization located on the Kelly Creek property is not necessarily indicative of 
mineralization on the Dardanelle property. 

 
OTHER RELEVANT DATA AND INFORMATION 

 
The author is not aware of any other relevant data or information on the Dardanelle Property. 

 
INTERPRETATION AND CONCLUSIONS 

 
The Dardanelle Property hosts the Dardanelle developed mineral prospect (MINFILE 103I 107) which 
comprises two parallel quartz-sulfide veins located on both hangingwall and footwall contacts of a rhyolite 
dyke. The rhyolite dyke and associated quartz-sulfide veins are emplaced in fractured/faulted and altered 
granodiorite of the Early Jurassic Kleanza plutonic suite. The veins have been traced by excavator 
trenching, underground workings and diamond drilling for approximately 700 m and over a vertical 
distance of 180 m (Symonds, 1989; Anderson, 1997; Burton, 2005a, b). The mineralization includes pyrite, 
chalcopyrite, sphalerite, galena, argentite, bornite, covellite, malachite and native gold. The reported gold 
assays are highly variable and include some high-grade gold and silver as well as substantial grades of 
lead, zinc and copper. 

 
The Dardanelle prospect attracted significant exploration efforts starting in the early 1900’s. To date, there 
are no ore bodies on the property with a Mineral Resource Estimate. 
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The Dardanelle dyke/vein system is consistent with a mesothermal gold deposit style in terms of vein-type, 
mineralization/geochemistry, occurrence and alteration. Mesothermal veins often have structural controls 
and rarely occur as simple vein structures, however, the Dardanelle vein in not well exposed, so 
complications related to structure or vein geometry are cryptic at best. Symonds (1989) documented a 
complex vein system, potentially with additional veins, and Mastalerz (2018b) documented a new 20 cm 
wide quartz-sulphide vein 20 m south from the main Dardanelle veins and running sub-parallel, with grab 
samples grading up to 1.55 g/t gold. In many mesothermal vein systems sub-vertical high-grade shoots 
within the veins can be controlled by structure or vein geometry, and these opportunities have not been 
explored at Dardanelle. Results of the 2022 Pluto Ventures soil survey, suggest the existence of additional 
mineralized veins. Results of the previous diamond drilling (Burton, 2005b; Kruchkowski, 2021) failed to 
provide adequate data concerning the grades, character, and variability of the system. This failure was 
partly due to poor recovery of the faulted and broken rock surrounding and within the main mineralized 
vein structure, but also because the drilling was not dispersed across the strike extent of the known veins, 
and did not test beyond the known strike extent of the veins, or for parallel veins. 

 
The 2023 airborne geophysical survey has outlined several targets for future exploration programs on the 
Dardanelle Property (Figure 13). The first priority targets from the survey are located at the contacts of 
areas with high and low magnetic intensity that also correspond to areas with increased concentrations K, 
U, and Th radiometric signatures. These include strike extensions of the known Dardanelle vein, as well 
as a similar, untested, structure to the northeast, possibly offset from the Dardanelle by NW-SE oriented 
faulting. 

 
Future exploration on the Dardanelle prospect is warranted. Exploration should focus on identification of 
high-grade domains within the Dardanelle veins, as well as identification of additional parallel or related 
veins, and continuations of the main Dardanelle veins along strike. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Phase 1 Exploration: 
1. Extensive digitizing of historical data and analysis to determine locations where higher-grade 

samples (e.g. > 10 g/t Au) have been collected. 
2. Preliminary geological mapping of targetareas. 
3. Preliminary prospecting of target areas and along newly constructed forestry roads that cross 

parts of the property with significantdensity. 
4. Soil and rock sampling: 

I. The 2022 soil grid, with 50 m sample spacing, should be expanded by 250 in each direction 
(approximately 160 samples). 

II. Three contour soil lines with 50 m sample spacing should be sampled at, and below the 
first priority geophysical anomaly NE of the Dardanelle dyke/vein system (approximately 
120 samples). 

III. Opportunistic rock sampling wherever there are exposures of altered or mineralized rock 
along the soil grid or identified during prospecting and mapping (approximately 50 
samples). 

 
Phase 2 is contingent upon positive results from Phase 1 

 
Phase 2 Exploration: 

 
1. Follow-up and property wide geological mapping andprospecting. 
2. Trenching at: 
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I. The locations of historical higher-grade samples along the main Dardanelle dyke/vein 
system. 

II. The locations of unexplained soil anomalies. 
III. The “first priority” geophysical anomaly that appears to have a similar signature to the 

Dardanelle dyke/vein system but is located to the northeast. 
IV. New targets potentially identified during Phase 1exploration. 

3. VLF-EM ground survey (54 line-km): 
I. This relatively inexpensive and sometimes quite effective survey is likely to identify the 

Dardanelle vein, its strike extent, and any parallel similar structures. It is recommended 
that the survey be conducted with 150 m line spacing, perpendicular to the Dardanelle vein 
system, over a 4 x 2 km area surrounding the Dardanelle vein, extending 1 km to the west 
of the Dardanelle portal, and east to cover the other first priority geophysical target area. 
Previously this geophysical technique was attempted unsuccessfully via an airborne 
survey, but it is typically more effective via a groundsurvey. 

 
Table 4 Proposed budget for Phase 1 exploration 
Item Scope Cost ($CDN) 

Data Compilation 1 geologist, 6 days @ 
$800/per $4,800 

Project Geologist 14 days @ $700/per $9,800 
Senior Geologist 14 days @ 800/per $11,200 
Field Hands (2) 2 X `14 days @ $400/per $11,200 
Geochemistry 330 samples @ $70/per $23,100 
Field Supplies  $1,000 
Fuel  $800 
Equipment and Truck Rental Radios, Truck, ATV $4,000 

Room & Board 56 person days @ $250/per $14,000 

Travel and Mobe-Demobe 4 people – wages, expenses and 
transport $8,000 

Map Drafting 2 days @ 800/per $1,600 
Report Writing & Compilation of 
Results 4 days @ $800/per $3,200 

Contingency 10% $9,270 
 Total Estimated Cost: $101,970 
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Table 4 includes an estimated $101,970 budget for Phase 1 exploration on the basis of 4 staff for 14 days 
of fieldwork. Phase 2 exploration (Table 5), with an estimated cost of $191,180, would be contingent on 
positive results from Phase 1 exploration and could include a significant amount of geophysical work and 
trenching, as well as property wide mapping and prospecting. Phase 1 exploration may not require a Notice 
of Work approval/permit. A permit would be necessary in order for mechanical trenching to proceed as 
recommended for Phase 2 exploration. No current permits exist for exploration on the Dardanelle Property. 
If Phase 1 exploration were conducted early season (e.g. June-July), there would be time to conduct Phase 
2 exploration in the same season. 

 
Table 5 Proposed budget for Phase 2 exploration 
Item Scope Cost ($CDN) 
Geochemistry 100 samples @ $70/per $7,000 
Project Geologist 20 days @ $700/per $14,000 
Mapping Geologist 20 days @ $800/per $16,000 
Junior Geologist (2) 2 X 20 days @ $500/per $20,000 
Field Hands (2) 2 X 20 days @ $400/per $16,000 
Geophysical Consultant 4 days @ $1,000/per $4,000 
Excavator Trenching 12 days, @ $1,600/per $19,200 
Equipment and Truck 
Rental VLF-EM, Radios, Truck, ATV $10,500 

Travel and Mobe-Demobe 7 people – wages, expenses and 
transport $16,000 

Room & Board 132 person days @ $250/per $33,000 
Field Supplies  $1,500 
Fuel  $8,000 
Map Drafting 4 days @ $800/per $3,200 
Report Writing & Compilation of 
Results 6 days @ $900/per $5,400 

Contingency 10% $17,380 
 Total Estimated Cost: $191,180 

 
In summary, the Dardanelle Project covers approximately 1,434 ha of underexplored prospective ground. 
Based on the possibility of discovering significant domains of higher-grade mineralization within the 
known extent of the Dardanelle vein/dyke system, and on the possibility of making new discoveries, a Phase 
1 exploration budget of $101,970 is warranted. Dependent on positive results from Phase 1 exploration, a 
Phase 2, $191,180 exploration program may bewarranted. 

 
USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

Funds Available and Principal Purposes 

It is anticipated that the Company will have available funds of approximately $417,428.75, based on the 
Company’s working capital as of August 31, 2024 in the amount of $237,428.75, less the estimated listing 
costs of $20,000, and assuming the Company draws down on a $200,000 credit facility pursuant to the 
terms of a Line of Credit Agreement dated as of September 26, 2024 between the Company and David 
Eaton, a promoter of the Company. The Line of Credit Agreement provides for a revolving line of credit 
to the Company in the amount of $200,000 at an interest rate of 10% per annum from the date of the first 
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advance which shall be payable monthly, with the full amount, including accrued interest, to be repaid on 
September 26, 2026. 

The principal purposes for the foregoing available funds are anticipated to be as follows: 
 

Principal Purposes Funds ($) 

Exploration program expenditures on the Property(1) 101,970 
Option Agreement payment (2) 30,000 

Auditor fees 20,000 

General and administrative costs (3) 60,000 

Unallocated funds 205,458.75 

Total use of available funds 417,428.75 
Notes: 
(1) This figure is for a forecasted period of 12 months of the total recommended program budget of $101,970. See “Dardanelle 

Property –Recommendations”. 
(2) This amount is payable under the Option Agreement for a forecasted period of 12 months: $10,000 on or before the 15thbusiness 

day after the Listing Date and $20,000 on the 1st anniversary of the Listing Date. See “History –Option Agreement”. 
(3) This figure is for a forecasted period of 12 months and is comprised of office and administrative expenses in the amount of: (i) 

$50,000 of accounting and management fees, office and administrative costs, including office services, travel and filing fees; 
and (ii) $10,000 of marketing, AGM and investor communication expenses. 

 
It is anticipated that the Company will have sufficient cash available upon Listing, to execute its exploration 
program and business objectives and milestones set out below and to pay its operating and administrative 
costs for at least twelve months after the completion of the Listing. 

Unallocated funds will be deposited in the Company’s bank account and added to the working capital of 
the Company. The CFO of the Company will be responsible for the supervision of all financial assets of 
the Company. Based on the Company’s cash flow requirements, management will determine the 
appropriate level of liquidity required for operations and will draw down such funds as necessary. 

There may be circumstances, where for business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary in order 
for the Company to achieve its stated business objectives. 

The Company had negative cash flow from operating activities for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 
and March 31, 2023 and for the period from incorporation on September 8, 2021 to March 31, 2022. The 
Company cannot guarantee it will have a cash flow positive status from operating activities in future 
periods. As a result, the Company continues to rely on the issuance of securities or other sources of 
financing to generate sufficient funds to fund its working capital requirements and for corporate 
expenditures. The Company may continue to have negative cash flow from operating activities until 
sufficient levels of sales are achieved. To the extent that the Company has negative cash flow from 
operating activities in future periods, the Company may need to use a portion of proceeds from any offering 
to fund such negative cash flow. See “Risk Factors –Negative CashFlow”. 

Business Objectives and Milestones 

The Company’s intended business objectives and milestones following the Listing are to: (1) make the 
required option payments, share issuances and exploration expenditures under the Option Agreement; and 
complete the recommended exploration program on the Property, as described herein. To achieve these 
business objectives, the Company will seek to accomplish the followingsignificantevents: 
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Due Dates Shares Cash 
Payments 

Expenditures 

On signing this Agreement - $10,000  
On or before the 15th business day after the 
Listing Date 

 
100,000 

 
$10,000 

 

On the 1st anniversary of the Listing Date 100,000 $20,000 $50,000 
On the 2nd anniversary of the Listing Date 100,000 $30,000 As recommended in 

the Technical Report 
On the 3rd anniversary of the Listing Date 100,000 $40,000 As recommended in 

the Technical Report 
On the 4th anniversary of the Listing Date   As recommended in 

the Technical Report 
Total: 400,000 $110,000 $2,000,000 

 

In conducting exploration on the Property, the Company will rely on the experience and expertise in the 
mining and mineral exploration industry of its officers and directors, including in particular the Company’s 
President and Chief Executive Officer, Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang, and the Company’s Chief Financial 
Officer and Corporate Secretary, Herrick Lau (see “Directors and Executive Officers”). In addition, the 
Company will engage geologists or other independent consultants at hourly rates for additionalassistance 
on an as and when needed basis. 

 
The Company will be required to obtain an exploration permit to carry out line-cutting and any exploration 
technique with that level, or greater impact, on the Property. Exploration permits of this type are routinely 
granted in the area in which the Property is situated. The Company does not anticipate that obtaining the 
permit will impact the overall timing of the exploration program. The cost of obtaining the exploration permit 
is included in the existing budget for the explorationprogram. 

 
The Company intends to spend a significant portion of the funds available to it for the Property, as stated 
in this Prospectus. There may be circumstances however, where for sound business reasons, a reallocation 
of funds may be necessary. 

 
The Company may incur additional expenses or delays due to capital market uncertainty and business 
disruptions caused by the COVID-19 global pandemic. The future impact of the outbreak is highly uncertain 
and cannot be predicted. There can be no assurance that such disruptions, delays and expenses will not have 
a material adverse impact on the Company’s business objectives and milestones over the next 12 months. 
See “Risk Factors”. 

 
DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 

The Company has neither declared nor paid any dividends on its Common Shares. The Company intends 
to retain its earnings to finance growth and expand its operations and does not anticipate paying any 
dividends on its Common Shares in the foreseeable future. 

 
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS 
 

Selected Financial Information 

The following selected financial information has been derived from and is qualified in its entirety by the 
financial statements of the Company for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 
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(audited) and notes thereto included in this Prospectus, and should be read in conjunction with such 
financial statements and the related notes thereto included in Schedule “A” of this Prospectus. All financial 
statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

All amounts referred to as being derived from the financial statements of the Company are denoted in 
Canadian Dollars. 

 
 

As at and for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2024 

(audited) 
($) 

As at and for the fiscal year 
ended March 31, 2023 

(audited) 
($) 

Total Assets 456,615 124,581 

Total Liabilities 71,489 8,532 

Total Equity 385,126 116,049 

Revenue - - 

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
for the Period 

(58,583) (6,447) 

As an exploration stage company, the Company has not generated revenue from its property interest and 
does not anticipate it will do so for the foreseeable future. The Company has the option to acquire the 
Property, and management of the Company anticipates that expenses related to mineral exploration and 
administration of the Company will materially increase following closing of the Listing. Management 
anticipates that such expenses will include increased exploration expenditures with respect to the Property 
and increased professional fees, and other costs associated with compliance with applicable securities laws 
following closing of the Listing. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

The Company’s MD&A is included in this Prospectus as Schedule “B”. The MD&A should be read in 
conjunction with the Company’s financial statements and the disclosure contained in this Prospectus. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES 

 
Common Shares 

The Company’s authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares of which 
10,806,000 Common Shares are issued and outstanding as at the date of this Prospectus as fully paid and 
non-assessable. Holders of the Common Shares are entitled to vote at all meetings of the holders of the 
Common Shares, to receive any dividend declared by the Company and, subject to the rights of holders of 
any shares ranking in priority to or on a parity with the Common Shares, to participate rateably in any 
distribution of the Company’s property or assets upon liquidation or wind-up. 

The Board is authorized to issue additional Common Shares on such terms and conditions and for such 
consideration as the Board may deem appropriate without further security holder action. 
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Special Warrants 

The Company converted 606,000 Special Warrants into 606,000 Common Shares in June 2024. Each 
Special Warrant entitled the holder to receive, for no additional consideration, one Common Share 
pursuant to the terms and conditions in the certificates representing the Special Warrants. Each of the 
Special Warrants was automatically convertible into a Common Share on a one-to-one basis without 
payment of any additional consideration and without any further action by the holder at the discretion of 
the Company. 

Compensation Special Warrants 

The Company converted 200,000 Compensation Special Warrants into 200,000 Common Shares in June 
2024. Each Compensation Special Warrant entitled the holder to receive, for no additional consideration, 
one Common Share pursuant to the terms and conditions in the certificates representing the Compensation 
Special Warrants. Each of the Compensation Special Warrants was automatically converted into a 
Common Share on a one-to-one basis without payment of any additional consideration and without any 
further action by the holder at the discretion of the Company. 

 
Options 

The Board has approved an Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, designed for selected employees, officers, 
directors, consultants and contractors, to incentivize such individuals to contribute toward the Company’s 
long-term goals, and to encourage such individuals to acquire Common Shares as long-term investments. 
The Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan is administered by the Board and no Options or performance based 
awards have been granted as of the date of this Prospectus. The termsof any award are determined by the 
Board, provided that no options may be granted with an exercise price lower than the greater of the closing 
market prices of the Common Shares on (a) the trading day prior to the date of grant of the stock options, 
and (b) the date of grant of the stock options. As of the date of this Prospectus, there are no outstanding 
options to purchase Common Shares under the Omnibus Equity IncentivePlan. 

 
CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table sets out the share capitalization of the Company as at the dates specified below. The 
table should be read in conjunction with and is qualified in its entirety by the Company’s audited financial 
statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023. 

 
Description Authorized 

Capital 
Outstanding as of March 31, 

2024 
Outstanding as of the date of 

this Prospectus 

Common Shares Unlimited $425,000 (10,000,000 Common 
Shares(1)) 

$455,300 
(10,806,000 Common 

Shares(1)) 
Special warrants N/A $30,300 (Convertible into 606,000 

Common Shares)(1) 

N/A 

Compensation 
special warrants 

N/A Convertible into 200,000 
Common Shares(1) 

N/A 

Long-term Debt N/A Nil Nil 
 

Notes: 
(1) See “Prior Sales”. 
(2) On an undiluted basis. 
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The following table sets out the share capital of the Company on a fully diluted basis: 
 
 Fully Diluted Share Capital 
 Number of Common Shares Percentage of Common Shares (%) 

Common Shares 
issued and outstanding 
as at the date of the 
Prospectus(1) 

10,806,000 100% 

Total: 10,806,000 100% 
 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 
 

Outstanding Options 
 

No Options have been granted as of the date of this Prospectus. 
 

Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan 
 

The Board adopted the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan on April 22, 2024. The Omnibus Equity Incentive 
Plan will be subject to approval of the Company’s shareholders at the next annual general meeting of the 
shareholders as required by the policies of the CSE. A complete copy of the Omnibus Equity Incentive 
Plan is attached as Schedule “C” to thisProspectus. 

 
Purpose 

 
The purpose of the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan is to promote the long-term success of the Company 
and the creation of shareholder value by: (i) encouraging the attraction and retention of Eligible Persons 
(as defined in the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan); (ii) encouraging such Eligible Persons to focus on 
critical long-term objectives; and (iii) promoting greater alignment of the interests of such Eligible 
Persons with the interests of the Company. 

 
The Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan provides flexibility to the Company to grant equity-based incentive 
awards in the form of Options and Performance-Based Awards to Eligible Persons. 

 
Shares Subject to the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan 

 
The Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan is a rolling plan for Options and Performance-Based Awards such 
that the aggregate number of Common Shares that may be issued upon the exercise or settlement of 
Options and Performance-Based Awards granted under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (and all of 
the Company’s other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements), shall not exceed 20% of the 
Company’s issued and outstanding Common Shares from time to time calculated as at the date of any 
grant and in accordance with the policies of the Exchange. The Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan is 
considered an “evergreen” plan, since Options which have been exercised, cancelled, terminated, 
surrendered, forfeited or expired without being exercised shall be available for subsequent grants under 
the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and the number of awards available to grant increases as the number 
of issued and outstanding Common Sharesincreases. 

 
Participation Limits 

 
The Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan provides that, so long as it may be required by the rules and policies 



 

of the Exchange: 
 

(a) unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval, the maximum aggregate 
number of Common Shares issuable to any Participant (as defined in the Omnibus Equity 
Incentive Plan) under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, within any 12-month period, together 
with Common Shares reserved for issuance to such Participant (and to companies wholly-owned 
by that Participant) under all of the Company’s other Security-Based Compensation 
Arrangements, shall not exceed 5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares (calculated as 
at the date of any grant); 

 
(b) unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval, the maximum aggregate 

number of Common Shares issuable to Insiders under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, within 
any 12-month period, together with Common Shares reserved for issuance to Insiders under all of 
the Company’s other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements, shall not exceed 10% of the 
issued and outstanding Common Shares (calculated as at the date of anygrant); 

 
(c) unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval, the maximum aggregate 

number of Company Shares issuable to Insiders under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, at any 
point in time, together with Company Shares reserved for issuance to Insiders under all of the 
Company’s other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements, shall not exceed 10% of the 
issued and outstanding Common Shares; 

 
(d) the maximum aggregate number of Common Shares issuable to any one consultant under the 

Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, within any 12-month period, together with Common Shares 
issuable to such consultant under all of the Company’s other Security-Based Compensation 
Arrangements, shall not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares (calculated as 
at the date of any grant); and 

 
(e) the maximum aggregate number of Common Shares issuable pursuant to grants of Options        

to all investor relation service providers performing investor relations activities under the 
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, within any 12-month period, shall not in aggregate exceed 2% of 
the issued and outstanding Common Shares (calculated as at the date of any grant). For the 
avoidance of doubt, persons performing investor relations activities are only eligible to receive 
Options under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan; they are not eligible to receive any 
Performance-Based Award or other type of securities-based compensation under the Omnibus 
Equity Incentive Plan. 

 
Administration of the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan 

 
The Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan shall be administered by the Board and the Board has full authority 
to administer the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, including the authority to interpret and construe any 
provision of the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and to adopt, amend and rescind such rules and 
regulations for administering the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan as the Board may deem necessary in 
order to comply with the requirements of the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. 

 
Eligible Persons under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan 

 

When used in connection with the grant of Options, all officers, directors, employees, management 
employees and consultants of the Company are eligible to participate in the Omnibus Equity Incentive 
Plan. When used in connection with the grant  of  Performance-Based Awards, all  officers,  directors, 

53 



54  

employees, management employees and consultants of the Company that do not perform investor 
relations activities are eligible to participate in the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. The extent to which 
any such individual is entitled to receive a grant of an award pursuant to the Omnibus Equity Incentive 
Plan will be determined in the sole and absolute discretion of the Board. Each person who receives a 
grant under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan is referred to as a “Participant”. 

 
Types of Awards 

 
Awards of Options, RSUs, PSUs and DSUs may be made under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. All 
of the awards described below are subject to the conditions, limitations, restrictions, exercise price, 
vesting, settlement and forfeiture provisions determined by the Board, in its sole discretion, subject to 
such limitations provided in the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, and will generally be evidenced by an 
award agreement. 

 
Options 

 
An Option entitles a holder thereof to purchase a prescribed number of Common Shares at an exercise 
price determined by the Board at the time of the grant of the Option, provided that the exercise price of 
an Option granted under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan shall not be less than the greater of $0.05 
and the closing market prices of the underlying securities on (i) the trading day prior to the Grant Date 
(as defined below) and (ii) the Grant Date, provided that if an Option is proposed to be granted by the 
Company after the Company has just been recalled for trading following a suspension or halt, the 
Company must wait at least ten trading days since the day on which trading in the Company’ssecurities 
resumes before setting the exercise price for and granting of the Option. Each Option shall, unless sooner 
terminated, expire on a date to be determined by the Board which will not exceed ten (10) years from the 
date of grant of the Option. The Board may, in its absolute discretion, upon granting Options under the 
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, specify different time periods following the dates of granting the Options 
during which the Participant may exercise their Options to purchase Common Shares and may designate 
different exercise prices and numbers of Common Shares in respect of which each Participant may 
exercise Options during each respective time period. Subject to the discretion of the Board, the Options 
granted to a Participant under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan shall vest as determined by the Board 
on the date of grant of such Options. If the Board does not specify a vesting schedule at the date of grant, 
then Options granted to persons, other than those conducting investor relations activities, shall vest fully 
on the date of grant, and in any event in accordance with the policies of the CSE. Options issued to 
persons conducting investor relations activities must vest (and shall not otherwise be exercisable) in 
stages over a minimum of 12 months suchthat: 

 
(a) no more than 1/4 of the Options vest no sooner than three months after the date of grant (the 

“Grant Date”); 
 

(b) no more than another 1/4 of the Options vest no sooner than six months after the Grant Date; 
 

(c) no more than another 1/4 of the Options vest no sooner than nine months after the Grant Date; 
and 

 
(d) the remainder of the Options vest no sooner than 12 months after the Grant Date. 

 
If the award agreement for the grant of Options so provides, in the event of a change of control (as defined 
in the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan), all Options granted to a Participant that ceases to be an Eligible 
Person shall become fully vested and shall become exercisable by the Participant in accordance with the 
terms of such award agreement and the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. 
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Other than as may be set forth in the award agreement for the grant of Options, upon the death of a 
Participant, any Options granted to such Participant which, prior to the Participant’s death, have not 
vested, will immediately terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further 
force or effect; and the Participant or his or her estate, as the case may be, shall have no right, title or 
interest therein whatsoever. Any Options granted to such Participant which, prior to the Participant’s 
death, had vested pursuant to the terms of the applicable award agreement will accrue to the Participant’s 
estate in accordance with Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and may be exercised by the Participant’s estate 
within one year of the death of the Participant. 

 
Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company is terminated by the Company or a subsidiary for 
cause, all Options granted to the Participant under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan will immediately 
terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect as of the 
termination date. 

 
Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company terminates by reason of termination by the 
Company or a subsidiary without cause, by voluntary termination, voluntary resignation or due to 
retirement by the Participant, such that the Participant no longer qualifies as an Eligible Person, all 
Options granted to the Participant under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan that have not vested will, 
unless the applicable award agreement provides otherwise and subject to the provisions below, 
immediately terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or 
effect as of the termination date; provided, however, that any Options granted to such Participant which, 
prior to the Participant’s termination without cause, voluntary termination, voluntary resignation or 
retirement, had vested pursuant to the terms of the applicable award agreement will accrue to the 
Participant in accordance with the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and shall be exercisable by such 
Participant for a period of 90 days following the date the Participant ceased to be an Eligible Person, or 
such longer period as may be provided for in the award agreement or as may be determined by the Board 
provided such period does not exceed 12 months after the termination date. 

 
Where a Participant becomes afflicted by a disability, all Options granted to the Participant under the 
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan will continue to vest in accordance with the terms of such Options; 
provided, however, that no Options may be redeemed during a leave of absence. Where a Participant’s 
relationship is terminated due to disability such that the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person, all 
Options granted to the Participant under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan that have not vested will, 
unless the applicable award agreement provides otherwise and subject to the provisions below, 
immediately terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or 
effect as of the termination date; provided, however, that any Options granted to such Participant which, 
prior to the termination of the Participant’s relationship with the Company due to disability, had vested 
pursuant to terms of the applicable award agreement, will accrue to the Participant in accordance with 
the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and shall be exercisable by such Participant for a period of 90 days 
following the termination date, or such longer period as may be provided for in the award agreement or 
as may be determined by the Board. 

 
Restricted Share Units 

 
A RSU is a right awarded to a Participant, as compensation for employment or consulting services or 
services as a director or officer, to receive, for no additional cash consideration, securities of the Company 
upon specified vesting criteria being satisfied, and subject to the terms and conditions of the Omnibus 
Equity Incentive Plan and the applicable award agreement, and which may be paid in cash and/or 
Common Shares. 
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Subject to the provisions of the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and such other terms and conditions as 
the Board may prescribe, the Board may, from time to time, grant Awards of RSUs to Eligible Persons 
that do not perform Investor Relations Activities. The number of RSUs to be credited to each Participant 
shall be determined by the Board in its sole discretion in accordance with the Omnibus Equity Incentive 
Plan. All RSUs will vest and become payable by the issuance of Common Shares at the end of the 
restriction period if all applicable restrictions have lapsed, as such restrictions may be specified in the 
award agreement. 

 
RSUs shall be subject to such restrictions as the Board, in its sole discretion, may establish in the 
applicable award agreement, which restrictions may lapse separately or in combination at such time or 
times and on such terms, conditions and satisfaction of objectives as the Board may, in its discretion, 
determine at the time a RSU is granted. The Board shall determine any vesting terms applicable to the 
grant of RSUs, however, no RSUs may vest before the date that is one year following the date of the 
award. 

 
If the award agreement so provides, in the event of a change of control and the Participant ceases to be 
an Eligible Person, all restrictions upon any RSUs held by such Participant shall lapse immediately and 
all such RSUs shall become fully vested in such Participant in accordance with the Omnibus Equity 
Incentive Plan. 

 
Other than as may be set forth in the applicable award agreement, upon the death of a Participant, any 
RSUs granted to such Participant which, prior to the Participant’s death, have not vested, will be 
immediately and automatically forfeited and cancelled without further action and without any cost or 
payment, and the Participant or his or her estate, as the case may be, shall have no right, title or interest 
therein whatsoever. Any RSUs granted to such Participant which, prior to the Participant’s death, had 
vested pursuant to the terms of the applicable award agreement will accrue to the Participant’s estate in 
accordance with the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. 

 
Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company is terminated by the Company or a subsidiary for 
cause, all RSUs granted to the Participant under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan will immediately 
terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect as of the 
termination date. 

 
Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company terminates by reason of termination by the 
Company or a subsidiary without cause, by voluntary termination, voluntary resignation or due to 
retirement by the Participant, all RSUs granted to the Participant under the Omnibus Equity Incentive 
Plan that have not vested will, unless the applicable award agreement provides otherwise and subject to 
the provisions below, immediately terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of 
no further force or effect as of the termination date and the Participant shall have no right, title or interest 
therein whatsoever; provided, however, that any RSUs granted to such Participant which, prior to the 
Participant’s termination without cause, voluntary termination, voluntary resignation or retirement, had 
vested pursuant to the terms of the applicable award agreement will accrue to the Participant in 
accordance with the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. 

 
Where a Participant becomes afflicted by a disability, all RSUs granted to the Participant under the 
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan will continue to vest in accordance with the terms of such RSUs; 
provided, however, that no RSUs may be redeemed during a leave of absence. Where a Participant’s 
relationship is terminated due to disability such that the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person, all 
RSUs granted to the Participant under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan that have not vested will, unless 
the applicable award agreement provides otherwise and subject to the provisions below, immediately 
terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect as of the 



 

termination date and the Participant shall have no right, title or interest therein whatsoever; provided, 
however, that any RSUs granted to such Participant which, prior to the Participant’s termination due to 
disability, had vested pursuant to terms of the applicable award agreement will accrue to the Participant 
in accordance with the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. 

 
As soon as practicable after each vesting date of a RSU, the Company shall, at the sole discretion of the 
Board, either: (a) issue to the Participant from treasury the number of Common Shares equal to the 
number of RSUs that have vested; or (b) make a cash payment in an amount equal to the Market Unit 
Price (as defined in the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan) on the next trading day after the vesting date of 
the RSUs, net of applicable withholdings. 

 
Performance Share Units 

 
A PSU is a right awarded to a Participant, as compensation for employment or consulting services or 
services as a director or officer, to receive, for no additional cash consideration, securities of the Company 
upon specified performance and vesting criteria being satisfied, subject to the terms and conditions of the 
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and the applicable award agreement, and which may be paid in cash 
and/or Common Shares. No PSUs may vest before the date that is one year following the date of the 
award. 

 
Subject to the provisions of the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and such other terms and conditions as 
the Board may prescribe, the Board may, from time to time, grant awards of PSUs to Eligible Persons 
that do not perform investor relations activities. The number of PSUs to be awarded to any Participant 
shall be determined by the Board, in its sole discretion, in accordance with the Omnibus Equity Incentive 
Plan. Each PSU shall, contingent upon the attainment of the performance criteria within the performance 
cycle, represent one Common Share. 

 
The Board will select, settle and determine the performance criteria (including without limitation the 
attainment thereof), for purposes of the vesting of the PSUs, in its sole discretion. An award agreement 
may provide the Board with the right to revise the performance criteria and the award amounts if 
unforeseen events (including, without limitation, changes in capitalization, an equity restructuring, an 
acquisition or a divestiture) occur which have a substantial effect on the financial results of the Company 
and which in the sole judgment of the Board make the application of the performance criteria unfair 
unless a revision is made. 

 
All PSUs will vest and become payable to the extent that the performance criteria set forth in the award 
agreement are satisfied in the performance cycle, the determination of which satisfaction shall be made 
by the Board on the determination date. No PSU may vest before the date that is one year following the 
date of the award. 

 
If the award agreement so provides, in the event of a change of control (as defined in the Omnibus Equity 
Incentive Plan) and the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person, all PSUs granted to such Participant 
shall become fully vested in such Participant (without regard to the attainment of any performance 
criteria) and shall become payable to the Participant in accordance with the Omnibus Equity Incentive 
Plan. 

 

Other than as may be set forth in the applicable award agreement and below, upon the death of a 
Participant, all PSUs granted to the Participant which, prior to the Participant’s death, have not vested, 
will immediately and automatically be forfeited and cancelled without further action and without any 
cost or payment, and the Participant or his or her estate, as the case may be, shall have no right, title or 
interest therein whatsoever; provided, however, the Board may determine, in its sole discretion, the 
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number of the Participant’s PSUs that will vest based on the extent to which the applicable performance 
criteria have been satisfied in that portion of the performance cycle that has lapsed. 

 
Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company is terminated by the Company or a subsidiary for 
cause, all PSUs granted to the Participant under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan will immediately 
terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect as of the 
termination date. 

 
Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company terminates by reason of termination by the 
Company or a subsidiary without cause, by voluntary termination, voluntary resignation or due to 
retirement by the Participant, all PSUs granted to the Participant which have not vested will, unless the 
award agreement provides otherwise and subject to the provisions below, immediately terminate without 
payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect as of the termination date, 
and the Participant shall have no right, title or interest therein whatsoever; provided, however, the Board 
may determine, in its sole discretion, the number of the Participant’s PSUs that will vest based on the 
extent to which the applicable performance have been satisfied in that portion of the performance cycle 
that has lapsed. 

 
Where a Participant becomes afflicted by a disability, all PSUs granted to the Participant under the 
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan will continue to vest in accordance with the terms of such PSUs; 
provided, however, that no PSUs may be redeemed during a leave of absence. Where a Participant’s 
relationship is terminated due to disability such that the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person, all 
PSUs granted to the Participant under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan that have not vested will, unless 
the applicable award agreement provides otherwise and subject to the provisions below, immediately 
terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect as of the 
termination date, and the Participant shall have no right, title or interest therein whatsoever; provided, 
however, that the Board may determine, in its sole discretion, the number of the Participant’s PSUs that 
will vest based on the extent to which the applicable performance criteria have been satisfied in that 
portion of the performance cycle that haslapsed. 

 
Payment to Participants in respect of vested PSUs shall be made after the determination date for the 
applicable award and in any case within ninety-five (95) days after the last day of the performance cycle 
to which such award relates. The Company shall, at the sole discretion of the Board, either: (a) issue to 
the Participant the number of Common Shares equal to the number of PSUs that have vested on the 
determination date; or (b) make a cash payment in an amount equal to the Market Unit Price on thenext 
trading day after the determination date of the PSUs that have vested, net of applicable withholdings. 

 
Deferred Share Units 

 
A DSU is a right granted to a Participant, as compensation for employment or consulting services or 
services as a director or officer, to receive, for no additional cash consideration, securities of the Company 
on a deferred basis upon specified vesting criteria being satisfied, subject to the terms and conditions of 
the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and the applicable award agreement, and which may be paid in cash 
and/or Common Shares. DSUs may not be granted to any Participant performing investor relation 
activities. 

 

Subject to the provisions of the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and such other terms and conditions as 
the Board may prescribe, the Board may, from time to time, grant awards of DSUs to directors in lieu of 
fees (including annual Board retainers, chair fees, meeting attendance fees or any other fees payable to a 
director) or to other Eligible Persons as compensation for employment or consulting services. The 
number of DSUs to be credited to each Participant shall be determined by the Board in its sole discretion 
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in accordance with the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. The number of DSUs shall be specified in the 
applicable award agreement. Each director may elect to receive any or all of his or her fees in DSUs 
under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. 

 
The number of DSUs shall be calculated by dividing the amount of fees selected by a director by the 
Market Unit Price on the grant date (or such other price as required under the policies of the CSE) which 
shall be the 10th business day following each financial quarter end. Any fractional DSU shall be rounded 
down and no payment or other adjustment will be made with respect to the fractional DSU. 

 
No Deferred Share Units may vest before the date that is one year following the date of the award of the 
DSU. 

 
Each Participant shall be entitled to receive, after the effective date that the Participant ceases to be an 
Eligible Person for any reason, on a day designated by the Participant and communicated to the Company 
by the Participant in writing at least 15 days prior to the designated day (or such earlier date after the 
Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person as the Participant and the Company may agree, which date 
shall be no later than one year after the date upon which the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person) 
and if no such notice is given, then on the first anniversary of the effective date that the Participant ceases 
to be an Eligible Person, at the sole discretion of the Board, either: (a) that number of Common Shares 
equal to the number of vested DSUs credited to the Participant’s account, such Common Shares to be 
issued from treasury of the Company; or (b) a cash payment in an amount equal to the Market Unit Price 
on the next trading day after the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person of the vested DSUs, net of 
applicable withholdings. 

 
In the event that the value of a DSU would be determined with reference to a period commencing at a 
fiscal quarter end of the Company and ending prior to the public disclosure of interim financial statements 
for the quarter (or annual financial statements in the case of the fourth quarter), the cash payment of the 
value of the DSUs will be made to the Participant with reference to the five trading days immediately 
following the public disclosure of the interim financial statements for that quarter (or annual financial 
statements in the case of the fourthquarter). 

 
Upon death of a Participant holding DSUs that have vested, the Participant’s estate shall be entitled to 
receive, within 120 days after the Participant’s death and at the sole discretion of the Board, a cash 
payment or Common Shares that would have otherwise been payable in accordance with the Omnibus 
Equity Incentive Plan to the Participant upon such Participant ceasing to be an Eligible Person. 

 
General Provisions of the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan 

Non-Transferability 

No Option or Performance-Based Award and no right under any such Option or Performance-Based 
Award shall be assignable, alienable, saleable, or transferable by a Participant otherwise than by will or 
by the laws of descent and distribution and only then if permitted by the policies of the CSE. No Option 
or Performance-Based Award and no right under any such Option or Performance-Based Award, may be 
pledged, alienated, attached, or otherwise encumbered, and any purported pledge, alienation, attachment, 
or encumbrance thereof shall be void and unenforceable against the Company. 

 
Black-out Periods 

 
In the event that the date provided for expiration, redemption or settlement of an award falls within a 
blackout period imposed by the Company pursuant to a trading policy as the result of the bona fide 



60  

existence of undisclosed material information, the expiry date, redemption date or settlement date, as 
applicable, of the award shall automatically be extended to the date that is ten business days following 
the date of expiry of the blackout period which shall occur promptly following general disclosure of the 
undisclosed material information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there will be no extension of any award 
if the Company (or the Participant) is subject to a cease trade order (or similar order under applicable 
law). 

 
Deductions 

 
Whenever cash is to be paid in respect of DSUs, RSUs or PSUs, the Company shall have the right to 
deduct from all cash payments made to a Participant any taxes required by law to be withheld with respect 
to such payments. The Company is authorized to withhold any payment due under any award or under 
the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan until the Participant has paid or made arrangements for the payment 
of the amount of any withholding taxes due in respect of an award, its exercise, or any payment under 
such award or under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan. At the sole discretion of the Board, a Participant 
may be permitted to satisfy the foregoing requirement by, in accordance with the policies of the CSE, 
delivering an irrevocable direction to a securities broker approved by the Company to sell all or a portion 
of the Common Shares and delivering to the Company from the sales proceeds an amount sufficient to 
pay the required withholding taxes. 

 
Amendments to the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan 

 
The Board may at any time or from time to time, in its sole and absolute discretion and without the 
approval of the Company’s shareholders, amend, suspend, terminate or discontinue the Omnibus Equity 
Incentive Plan and may amend the terms and conditions of any Options or Performance-Based Awards 
granted thereunder, subject to: 

 
(a) any required disinterested shareholder approval to (A) reduce the exercise price of an award issued 

to an Insider or (B) extend the term of an Option granted to an Insider, in either event in accordance 
with the policies of the CSE; 

 
(b) any required approval of any applicable regulatory authority or the CSE; and 

 
(c) any approval of the Company’s shareholders as required by the policies of the CSE or applicable 

law, provided that shareholder approval shall not be required for the following amendments and 
the Board may make any changes which may include but are not limited to (except that the CSE 
may require approval of the shareholders for amendments pursuant to Sections C to G below): 

 
A. amendments of a “housekeeping nature”; 

 
B. amendments for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, error or omission in the Omnibus Equity 

Incentive Plan or to correct or supplement any provision of the Omnibus Equity Incentive 
Plan that is inconsistent with any other provision of the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan; 

 
C. amendments which are necessary to comply with applicable law or the requirements of the 

CSE; 
 

D. amendments respecting administration and eligibility for participation under the Omnibus 
Equity Incentive Plan; 
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E. amendments to the terms and conditions on which Options or Performance-Based Awards 
may be or have been granted pursuant to the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan including 
amendments to the vesting provisions and terms of any Options or Performance-Based 
Awards; 

 
F. with the exception of Options granted to persons performing investor relations activities, 

amendments which alter, extend or accelerate the terms of vesting applicable to any Options 
or Performance-Based Awards; and 

 
G. changes to the termination provisions of an Option, Performance-Based Award or the 

Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan which do not entail an extension beyond the original fixed 
term. 

 

Term 
 

The Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan shall terminate automatically 10 years after the effective date of the 
Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan and may be terminated on any earlier date as provided in the Omnibus 
Equity Incentive Plan. 

 
The Company intends to distribute options and securities under the Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan within 
12 months of listing its common shares on the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

 
PRIOR SALES 

The following table summarizes the sale of securities of the Company in the 12 months prior to the date 
of this Prospectus: 

 

Date of Issue Price per Security Number and Type of Securities 

Incorporation $1.00 1 Common Share (1) 

April 1, 2022 $0.02 2,500,000 Common Shares (2) 

June 10, 2022 $0.05 1,500,000 Common Shares (3) 

September 21, 2023 $0.05 606,000 Special Warrants (4) 

September 21, 2023 - 200,000 Compensation Special Warrants 
(5) 

January 8, 2024 $0.05 2,000,000 Common Shares (6) 

March 22, 2024 $0.05 4,000,000 Common Shares (7) 
Notes: 
(1) Cancelled on September 8,2021. 
(2) Issued under a private placementfinancingtransaction. 
(3) Issued under a private placementfinancingtransaction. 
(4) Issued under a private placement financingtransaction. 
(5) Issued in connection with a private placement financing transaction. 
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(6) Issued under a private placement financingtransaction. 
(7) Issued under a private placement financingtransaction 

 
ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT TO CONTRACTUAL 

RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER 
 

Escrowed Securities 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Common Shares subject to contractual restriction and escrow are as 
shown in the following table: 

 
 
 
 

Name 

 
 
 
Designation of class 

Number of securities held in 
escrow or that are subject to a 

contractual restriction on 
transfer (1) 

 
 

Percentage of 
class (2) 

Herrick Lau(3) Common Shares 
 

500,000 4.63% 

Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang Common Shares 
 

650,000 6.02% 

David Eaton Common Shares 
 

500,000 4.63% 

Peter Velisek Common Shares 
 

950,000 8.79% 

Notes: 
(1) These Common Shares are held under the Escrow Agreement in accordance with NP 46-201. The escrow agent is Endeavor Trust 

Corporation. 
(2) Based on 10,806,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding as at the date of this Prospectus. 
(3) Held indirectly by Mr. Lau’sspouse. 

 
Escrow Agreement 

NP 46-201 provides that all shares of an issuer owned or controlled by its Principals will be escrowed at 
the time of the issuer’s initial public offering. At the time of its initial public offering, an issuer will be 
classified for the purposes of escrow as either an “exempt issuer”, an “established issuer” or an “emerging 
issuer” as those terms are defined in NP46-201. 

Uniform terms of automatic, timed, release escrow apply to Principals of exchange listed issuers, differing 
only according to the classification of the issuer. For an “emerging issuer”, the following automatic timed 
releases apply to the securities held by itsPrincipals: 

 

Date of Automatic Timed Release Amount of Escrowed Securities Released 

On the Listing Date 1/10 of the escrowed securities 

6 months after the Listing Date 1/6 of the remaining escrowed securities 

12 months after the Listing Date 1/5 of the remaining escrowed securities 
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18 months after the Listing Date 1/4 of the remaining escrowed securities 

24 months after the Listing Date 1/3 of the remaining escrowed securities 

30 months after the Listing Date 1/2 of the remaining escrowed securities 

36 months after the Listing Date The remaining escrowed securities 

 
Assuming there are no changes to the escrowed securities initially deposited and no additional escrowed 
securities are deposited, automatic timed release escrow applicable to an “emerging issuer” will result in 
a 10% release on the Listing Date, with the remaining escrowed securities being released in 15% tranches 
every six months thereafter. 

The automatic timed release provisions under NP 46-201 pertaining to “established issuers” provide that 
25% of each Principal’s and shareholder’s escrowed securities are released on the Listing Date, with an 
additional 25% being released in equal tranches at six month intervals over eighteen months. If, within 
eighteen months of the Listing Date, the Company meets the “established issuer” criteria as set out inNP 
46-201, the escrowed securities will be eligible for accelerated release available for established issuers. In 
such a scenario, that number of escrowed securities that would have been eligible for release from escrow 
if the Company had been an “established issuer” on the Listing Date will be immediately released from 
escrow. The remaining escrowed securities would be released in accordance with the timed release 
provisions for established issuers, with all escrowed securities being released eighteen months from the 
Listing Date. The Company does not expect to become an established issuer within 18 months of the 
Listing Date. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement, 2,600,000 Common Shares will be held in escrow on the 
Listing Date. 

As the Company is relying on the exemption set out in Section 2A.4(6)(b) of CSE Policy 2 Qualifications 
for Lising, the terms of the Escrow Agreement have been modified to conform with the requirements of 
Section 2A.5(8)(e) of CSE Policy 2, such that the escrow release schedule will be as follows: 

 

The initial release from escrow (the “initial release 
date”) is subject to Canadian Securities Exchange 
approval and must be no earlier than 10 days 
following public announcement of the results of the 
first phase program described in the Listing 
Statement 

1/10 of your escrow securities 

6 months after the initial release date 1/6 of your remaining escrow securities 
12 months after the initial release date 1/5 of your remaining escrow securities 
18 months after the initial release date 1/4 of your remaining escrow securities 
24 months after the initial release date 1/3 of your remaining escrow securities 
30 months after the initial release date 1/2 of your remaining escrow securities 
36 months after the initial release date your remaining escrow securities 

 
*In the simplest case, where there are no changes to the escrow securities initially deposited and no 
additional escrow securities, the release schedule outlined above results in the escrow securities being 
released in equal tranches of 15% after completion of the release on the initial release date. 

 
In addition, the Escrow Agreement provides that transfers of shares within escrow, as described in sections 
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6.3(1)(a), (b), or (c) of NP 46-201, is not permitted without CSE approval. The CSE will generally not 
approve transfers associated with incoming or outgoing officers or directors of a listed issuer. 

 
Lastly, the terms of the Escrow Agreement irrevocably authorize and direct the escrow agent to 
immediately cancel all remaining escrowed securities upon delisting from the CSE or the announcement of 
a change of business or a definitive agreement for a transaction that would constitute a “fundamental 
change” as that term is defined in the policies of the CSE. 

 
PRINCIPAL SECURITYHOLDERS 

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Company as of the date hereof, no persons 
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over voting securities carrying 
more than 10% of the voting rights attached to any class of voting securities of the Company. 

 

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 

Name, Occupation and Security Holdings 

The following table provides the names, municipalities of residence, position, principal occupations and the 
number of voting securities of the Company that each of the directors and executive officers beneficially 
owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control over, as of the datehereof: 

 
 

 
 

Name and Municipality of 
Residence and Position with the 

Company 

 
 
 
Director / Officer 

Since 

 
 
 

Principal Occupation for the 
Past Five Years 

Number and Percentage 
of Common Shares 

Beneficially Owned or 
Controlled, Directly or 

Indirectly(1) 

Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang 

Surrey, B.C. 

President, CEO, and 
Director 

March 14, 2022 Exploration Manager, Ascot 
Resources Ltd. since 2010; Vice 
President, Exploration, Beyond 
Lithium Inc. since 2023. 

650,000 Common Shares 
6.02% 

Direct and Indirect 

Herrick Lau 

Vancouver, B.C. 

CFO, Corporate Secretary, 
and Director 

Director since 
September 8, 2021 
Officer since 
March 22, 2023 

Managing Director at Baron 
Global Financial Canada Ltd. 
since 2007. 

500,000 Common Shares 
4.63% 

Indirect 

 
Queenie Kuang 

Vancouver, B.C. 

Director 

 
Director from 

September 8, 2021 
to March 22, 2023 

Director 
since October 

17, 2023 

 
Manager, Corporate  Finance, 
Baron Global Financial Canada 
Ltd. since 2008. 

 
Nil Common Shares 
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David Velisek 

Vancouver, B.C. 

Director 

 
September 8, 2021 Office Manager, Baron Global 

Financial Canada Ltd. since 2009. 

 
Nil Common Shares 

Note: 
(1) Percentage is based on 10,806,000 Common Shares issued and outstanding as of the date of this Prospectus. 

 
The term of office of the directors expires annually at the time of the Company’s next annual general 
meeting. As at the date of this Prospectus, the directors and executive officers of the Company as a group 
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercised control or discretion over an aggregate of 1,150,000 
Common Shares of the Company, which is equal to 11.5% of the Common Shares issued and outstanding 
as at the date hereof. 

Background 

The following is a brief description of each of the directors and executive officers of the Company, including 
their names, positions and responsibilities with the Company, relevant educational background, principal 
occupations or employment during the five years preceding the date hereof, experience in the Company’s 
industry and the amount of time intended to be devoted to the affairs of theCompany: 

 
Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang, President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director (Age: 38) 

 
Lawrence Tsang currently serves as the Senior Geologist of Ascot Resources Ltd. (TSXV: AOT) and the 
Technical Advisor and the cofounder of Tailwinds Exploration Corp. He has more than 15 years of 
experience in the mining and metals industries in North America and has administered numerous grassroots 
and advanced projects for both private and public companies like Ascot Resources Ltd. (TSXV: AOT), Dajin 
Resources Corp. (now known as HelioX Lithium & Technologies Corp. (TSXV: HX)) , Skyline K Gold 
Corporation (now known as Snip Gold Corp.), and Abacus Mining and Exploration Corporation (TSXV: 
AME]. 

 
Mr. Tsang grew up in Hong Kong and moved to Vancouver in 2000. Lawrence attended high school and 
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university in Vancouver. He currently holds a bachelor’s degree in Geology and a minor in Economics from 
the University of British Columbia and is a Registered Professional Geologist, P. Geo., and a Qualified 
Person (QP), as defined by National Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects. 

 
Mr. Tsang specializes in the exploration for, and advancement of, various types of deposits of gold, silver, 
and base metals. He has participated in the preparation, assessment, review and compilation of technical 
reports, resources estimation, feasibility studies, project evaluations, permit applications, and project 
development. He has discovered a number of prospective projects through his career and successfully 
advanced Ascot Resources Ltd.’s Premier Gold project in British Columbia from an early exploration stage 
to development and production. Lawrence also excels in the finance industry in North America and Asia, 
having been involved in project financing and acquisitions. 

 
To his knowledge, all of Mr. Tsang’s employers during the last five years are carrying on business as of the 
date of this Prospectus. Mr. Tsang has not signed a non-disclosure agreement or non-competition agreement 
with the Company. He intends to dedicate approximately 25% of his working time to the affairs of the 
Company. 

 
Herrick Lau, Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary, and Director (Age: 58) 

 
Mr. Herrick Lau is currently the Managing Director of Baron Global Financial Canada Ltd., a merchant 
banking firm based in Vancouver, B.C., Canada. Baron Canada is a wholly owned subsidiary of VBG 
International Holdings Limited (Hatcher Group), a member firm of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. 
Lau is an experienced investment banking professional who has conducted transactions such as initial public 
offerings, reverse takeovers, financings, mergers & acquisitions, divestitures, and various advisory services. 
Through his over 25 years of experience in financial management and corporate finance, Mr. Lau was 
responsible for developing financing strategy, liaising with such external parties as regulatory authorities 
and legal and accounting professionals; devising business development plans; and maintaining compliance 
with financial reporting, corporate governance, and internal control practices and procedures. 

 
Mr. Lau also has experience as a senior financial executive of a number of public companies. Specifically, 
Mr. Lau has acted as CFO and/or director of various public companies listed on the TSX, TSXV and CSE. 
Mr. Lau is currently a member of the Local Advisory Committee of the TSX Venture Exchange. 

 
Mr. Lau obtained his bachelor and master degrees in Business and Economics from Simon Fraser University 
in Vancouver, B.C., Canada and is a charter holder of the Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) designation. 

 
To his knowledge, all of his employers during the last five years are carrying on business as of the date of 
this Prospectus. Mr. Lau has not signed a non-disclosure agreement or non-competition agreement with the 
Company. He intends to dedicate approximately 25% of his working time to the affairs of the Company. 

 
Queenie Kuang, Director (Age: 42) 

 
Ms. Queenie Kuang currently and, since 2008, serves as Manager of Corporate Finance for Baron Global 
Financial Canada Ltd. Ms. Kuang is a Chartered Professional Accountant and holds a Bachelor of Business 
Administration degree in Accounting and Finance from Simon Fraser University which she obtained in 
2007. Ms. Kuang also serves as a director of Jayden Resources Corp. (TSXV:JDN). 

 
To her knowledge, all of her employers during the last five years are carrying on business as of the date of 
this Prospectus. Ms. Kuang has not signed a non-disclosure agreement or non-competition agreement with 
the Company. She intends to dedicate approximately 20% of her working time to the affairs of the Company. 



66  

David Velisek, Director (Age: 52) 
 

David Velisek has been involved in the capital markets for over 25 years. He has been a licensed trader of 
equities, options, and futures, as well as an investment advisor. He has also held roles in investor relations 
as well as providing consulting services to public companies. He is currently a director of Trillium Gold 
Mines, Datinvest International, and Cognetivity Neurosciences. He has previously held the role of director 
of Lifestyle Delivery Systems, Amador Gold Corp, Novo Resources, Finore Mining, and Delon Resources. 
Mr. Velisek is currently employed with Baron Global Financial Canada. 

 
To his knowledge, all of his employers during the last five years are carrying on business as of the date of 
this Prospectus. Mr. Velisek has not signed a non-disclosure agreement or non-competition agreement with 
the Company. He intends to dedicate approximately 20% of his working time to the affairs of the Company. 

 
Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

 
No director or executive officer of the Company is, as at the date of this Prospectus, or was within ten years 
before the date hereof, a director, CEO or CFO of any company, including the Company, that: 

(a) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to cease trade order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period 
for more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued while the director or executive officer was acting 
in the capacity as director, CEO or CFO; or 

(b) was subject to a cease trade order, an order similar to cease trade order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period 
for more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued after the director or executive officer ceased to 
be a director, CEO or CFO and which resulted from an event that occurred while that person was 
acting in the capacity as director, CEO or CFO. 

 
Penalties or Sanctions 

No director or executive officer of the Company or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities 
of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has been subject to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities 
regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement with a regulatoryauthority;or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely to be 
considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investmentdecision. 

 
Bankruptcies 

No director or executive officer of the Company or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities 
of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company: 

(a) is, as at the date of this Prospectus, or has been within the ten years before the date hereof, a director 
or executive officer of any company, including the Company, that, while that person was acting in 
that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt,made 
a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted 
any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold its assets; or 

(b) has,  within the ten  years before the date  hereof, become bankrupt, made a  proposal  under  any 
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legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed 
to hold the assets of the director, executive officer orshareholder. 

 
Conflicts of Interest 

The directors of the Company are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best 
interests of the Company and to disclose any interests, which they may have in any project or opportunity 
of the Company. If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Board, any director in a conflict will 
disclose his interest and abstain from voting on such matter. 

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, and other than as disclosed herein, there are no known existing or 
potential conflicts of interest among the Company, its promoters, directors and officers or other members of 
management of the Company or of any proposed promoter, director, officer or other member of management 
as a result of their outside business interests except that certain of the directors and officers serve as directors 
and officers of other companies, and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties to 
the Company and their duties as a director or officer of such othercompanies. 

The directors and officers of the Company will not be devoting all of their time to the affairs of the Company. 
Some of the directors and officers of the Company are directors and officers of other companies, some of 
which are in the same business as the Company. The directors and officers of the Company are required by 
law to act in the best interests of the Company. They have the same obligations to the other companies in 
respect of which they act as directors and officers. Discharge by the directors and officers of their obligations 
to the Company may result in a breach of their obligations to the other companies, and in certain 
circumstances this could expose the Company to liability to those companies. Similarly, discharge by the 
directors and officers of their obligations to the other companies could result in a breach of their obligations 
to act in the best interests of the Company. Such conflicting legal obligations may expose the Company to 
liability to others and impair its ability to achieve its businessobjectives. 

 
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The Company was not a reporting issuer at any time during the fiscal period ended March 31, 2024, the 
Company’s most recently completed financial year. Accordingly, and in accordance with Form 51-102F6V 
Statement of Executive Compensation (“Form 51-102F6V”), the following is a discussion of all significant 
elements of compensation to be awarded to, earned by, paid to or payable to Named Executive Officers, 
officers and directors of the Company, once the Company becomes a reporting issuer, to the extent this 
compensation has been determined. 

For the purposes hereof, the term Named Executive Officer, or NEO, means each CEO, each CFO and each 
of the Company’s three most highly compensated executive officers, other than the CEO and the CFO, who 
were serving as executive officers as at the end of the Company’s most recently completed financial period 
ended March 31, 2024 and whose total salary and bonus exceeds $150,000 and any additional individuals 
for whom disclosure would have been provided except that the individual was not serving as an officer of 
the Company at the end of the Company’s most recently completed financialyear. 

 
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has the following Named Executive Officers (collectively, 
the “Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs”): 

 
• Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang, President and CEO;and 

• Herrick Lau, CFO and CorporateSecretary. 
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Table of compensation excluding compensation securities 

 
 

Name and Position 

 
 

Year 

 
Salary, 

consulting fee, 
retainer or 
commission 

($) 

 
 

Bonus 
($) 

 
 
Committee or 
meeting fees 

($) 

 
 

Value of 
perquisites 

($) 

 
 
Value of all other 

compensation 
($) 

 
 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

Fan Hong Lawrence 
Tsang 
President, Chief 
Executive Officer, 
and Director 

2022 

2023 

2024 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

David Eaton(2) 

Former President, 
Chief Executive 
Officer and Director 

2021 

2022 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Herrick Lau 
Chief Financial 
Officer, Corporate 
Secretary and 
Director 

2023 

2024 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Ian Chan(3) 

Former Chief 
Financial Officer 

2021 

2022 

2023 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nicole Marzban(4) 

Former Corporate 
Secretary 

2021 

2022 

2023 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Queenie Kuang 
Director 2021 

2022 

2023 

2024 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

 
David Velisek 
Director 

2021 

2022 

2023 

2024 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Nil(1) 

Note: 
(1) This amount does not include any other compensation not yet authorized or determined. 
(2) Mr. Eaton served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company from September 8, 2021 to March 14, 2022. Mr. Tsang was appointed 

President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on March 14, 2022. 
(3) Mr. Chan served as Chief Financial Officer of the Company from September 8, 2021 to March 22, 2023. Mr. Lau was appointed Chief Financial 

Officer and Corporate Secretary of the Company on March 22,2023. 
(4) Ms. Marzban served as Corporate Secretary of the Company from September 8, 2021 to March 22, 2023. Mr. Lau was appointed Chief Financial 
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Officer and Corporate Secretary of the Company on March 22, 2023. 
 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 
 

The Company does not have a compensation program other than paying consulting fees and incentive 
bonuses. The compensation of the executive officers is determined by the Board, based in part on 
recommendations from the Chief Executive Officer. The Board recognizes the need to provide a 
compensation package that will attract and retain qualified and experienced executives, as well as align the 
compensation level of each executive to that executive’s level of responsibility. The objectives of the 
Company’s compensation policies and practicesare: 

 
• to reward individual contributions in light of the Company’s performance; 
• to be competitive with the companies with whom the Company competes for talent; 
• to align the interests of the executives with the interests of the shareholders; and 
• to attract and retain executives who could help the Company achieve its objectives. 

 
The objectives of consulting fees are to recognize market pay and acknowledge the competencies and skills 
of individuals. The rate established for each executive officer is intended to reflect each individual’s 
responsibilities, experience, prior performance and other discretionary factors deemed relevant by any 
compensation committee that may be formed in future. In deciding on the consulting fee portion of the 
compensation of the executive officers, major consideration is given to the fact that the Company is an early 
stage exploration company and does not generate any material revenue and must rely exclusively on funds 
raised from equity financings. In the future, the objectives of incentive bonuses in the form of cash payments 
will be designed to add a variable component of compensation, based on corporate and individual 
performances for executive officers and employees. The objectives of Security-Based Compensation 
Arrangements will be to reward achievement of long-term financial and operating performance and focus 
on key activities and achievements critical to the ongoing success of the Company. The Company has no 
other forms of compensation, other than payments made from time to time to individuals or companies they 
control for the provision of consulting services. Such consulting services are paid for by the Company, to 
the best of its ability, at competitive industry rates for work of a similar nature by reputable arm’s length 
service providers. Actual compensation will vary based on the performance of the executives relative to the 
achievement of goals and the price of the Company’s securities, as well as the financial condition of the 
Company. 

 
The Board evaluates individual executive performance with the goal of setting compensation at levels that 
it believes is comparable with executives in other companies of similar size and stage of development 
operating in the same industry. In connection with setting appropriate levels of compensation, members of 
the Board base their decisions on their general business and industry knowledge and experience and publicly 
available information of comparable companies while also taking into account the Issuer’s relative 
performance and strategic goals. In determining the level of compensation payable to the Issuer’s Chief 
Executive Officer, the Board will consider the following benchmark companies: [DeepRock Minerals Inc. 
(CSE:DEEP); Cirrus Gold Corp. (CSE: CI); Rain City Resources Inc. (CSE:RAIN); and Wedgemount 
Resources Corp. (CSE:WDGY)]. 

 
In the course of its deliberations, the Board considered the implications of the risks associated with adopting 
the compensation practices currently in place. The Board does not believe that its current compensation 
practices create a material risk that the NEOs or any employee would be encouraged to take inappropriate 
or excessive risks, and no such risks have been detected to date. The Board will continue to include this 
consideration in its deliberations and believes that it would detect actions of management and employees of 
the Company that constitute or would lead to inappropriate or excessive risks. 
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The Company does not expect to compensate its directors and officers in the next 12 months and does not 
expect to make any material changes to the executive compensation within the next twelve months of 
operations after its Common Shares have been listed for trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

 
The Company does not have a policy that would prohibit the NEOs or directors from purchasing financial 
instruments that are designed or would have the effect of hedging the value of equity securities granted to, 
or held by, these individuals. 

 
Compensation of Named Executive Officers 

 
Cash Compensation 

 
The objectives of consulting fees are to recognize market pay and acknowledge the competencies and skills 
of individuals. The rate established for each executive officer is intended to reflect each individual’s 
responsibilities, experience, prior performance and other discretionary factors deemed relevant by any 
compensation committee that may be formed in future. In deciding on the consulting fee portion of the 
compensation of the executive officers, major consideration is given to the fact that the Company is an early 
stage exploration company and does not generate any material revenue and must rely exclusively on funds 
raised from equity financings. In the future, the objectives of incentive bonuses in the form of cash payments 
will be designed to add a variable component of compensation, based on corporate and individual 
performances for executive officers and employees. The objectives of Security-Based Compensation 
Arrangements will be to reward achievement of long-term financial and operating performance and focus 
on key activities and achievements critical to the ongoing success of the Company. The Company has no 
other forms of compensation, other than payments made from time to time to individuals or companies they 
control for the provision of consulting services. Such consulting services are paid for by the Company, to 
the best of its ability, at competitive industry rates for work of a similar nature by reputable arm’s length 
service providers. Actual compensation will vary based on the performance of the executives relative to the 
achievement of goals and the price of the Company’s securities, as well as the financial condition of the 
Company. 

 
Compensation Risks 

 
In making its compensation-related decisions, the Board carefully considers the risks implicitly or explicitly 
connected to such decisions. These risks include the risks associated with employing executives or 
consultants who are not world-class in their capabilities and experience, the risk of losing capable but under- 
compensated executives or consultants, and the financial risks connected to the Company’s operations, of 
which compensation is an importantpart. 

 
In adopting the compensation policy described above, the principal risks identified by Pluto are: 

 
• that the Company will be forced to raise additional funding (causing dilution to shareholders) in 

order to attract and retain the caliber of executives and consultants that it seeks; and 

• that the Company will have insufficient funding to achieve its objectives. 
 
After careful consideration of these risks, the Board has adopted the compensation policy described above. 

 
Hedging by NEOs or Directors 

 
The Company has no policy with respect to NEOs or directors purchasing financial instruments, including, 
for greater certainty, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars, or units of exchange funds 
that are designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value of equity securities granted as compensation 



71  

or held, directly or indirectly, by the NEO or director. 

Consulting Agreements 
 

As a development-stage company, Pluto may make use of consultants, typically on a part-time basis. The 
specific terms of each consulting engagement may differ as to the consultant’s time commitment to Pluto 
and the compensation rate paid to the consultant. Industry consultant compensation norms, consultant 
capabilities, and Pluto’s needs are the key factors when determining appropriate consultant compensation. 

 
Compensation Governance 

 
At this time, Pluto does not have a compensation committee of the Board. All compensation matters are dealt 
with by the entire Board, including compensation of the Board itself. Factors that are taken into consideration 
when making compensation decisionsinclude: 

 
• the financial resources available or expected to be available to the Company; 

• comparative compensations levels for companies of Pluto’s size in theindustry; 
 

• the capabilities of individual contributors to the Company’s success; 
 

• the reasonable compensation expectations of the individual contributor; and 

• relative equity with other Plutocontributors. 

Defined Benefits Plans 
 

Pluto currently does not intend to have a defined benefits pension plan. 
 

Defined Contribution Plans 
 

Pluto currently does not intend to have a defined contribution plan. 
 

Deferred Compensation Plans 
 

Pluto currently does not intend to have a deferred compensation plan. 

Pension Plan Benefits 
 

Pluto does not have any deferred compensation plan or any pension plans that provide for payments or 
benefits at, following, or in connection with retirement. 

 
Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

 
There are no contracts, agreements, plans or arrangements that provide for payments to an NEO at, 
following, or in connection with any termination (whether voluntary, involuntary or constructive), 
resignation, retirement, a change in control of the Company or a change in an NEO’s responsibilities 
(excluding perquisites and other personal benefits if the aggregate of this compensation is less than $50,000). 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 

Aggregate Indebtedness 
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Other than as disclosed herein and other than routine indebtedness, as that term is defined in paragraph 
10.3(c) of Form 51-102F5 Information Circular (“Form 51-102F5”), no directors, executive officers and 
employees and no former directors, executive officers and employees of the Company are or were indebted 
to the Company in connection with a purchase of securities and all other indebtedness as at the date of this 
Prospectus. 

 
Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under Securities Purchase and Other Programs 

Other than as disclosed herein, or other than routine indebtedness, as that term is defined in paragraph 10.3(c) 
of Form 51-102F5, no directors or executive officers of the Company, and associates of such directors or 
executive officers are or were indebted to the Company as at the date of this Prospectus. 

 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 
Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee’s role is to act in an objective, independent capacity as a liaison between the auditors, 
management and the Board and to ensure the auditors have a facility to consider and discuss governance and 
audit issues with parties not directly responsible for operations. NI 52-110, NI 41-101 and Form 52- 110F2 
require the Company, as an IPO Venture Issuer, to disclose certain information relating to the Company’s 
audit committee and its relationship with the Company’s independent auditors. Queenie Kuang is the chair 
of the audit committee. 

 
Audit Committee Charter 

The text of the Audit Committee’s charter is attached as Schedule “C” to this Prospectus. 
 

Composition of Audit Committee 

The members of the Company’s Audit Committee are: 
 

Queenie Kuang (Chair) 
David Velisek 
Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang 

Independent(1) 

Independent(1) 

Not independent(1) 

Financially literate(2) 

Financially literate(2) 

Financially literate(2) 

Notes: 
(1) A member of an audit committee is independent if the member has no direct or indirect material relationship with 

the Company, which could, in the view of the Board, reasonably interfere with the exercise of a member’s 
independentjudgment. 

(2) An individual is financially literate if he or she has the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements 
that present a breadth of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity 
of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements. 

 
Relevant Education and Experience 

Each member of the Company’s present Audit Committee has adequate education and experience that is 
relevant to his or her performance as an Audit Committee member and, in particular, the requisite education 
and experience that have provided the member with: 

(a) an understanding of the accounting principles used by the Company to prepare its financial 
statements and the ability to assess the general application of those principles in connection with 
estimates, accruals andreserves; 

(b) experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth 
and level  of  complexity  of  accounting issues  that  are  generally comparable to the breadth and 
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complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial 
statements or experience actively supervising individuals engaged in such activities; and 

(c) an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting. See “Directors and 
Executive Officers” for furtherdetails. 

For a summary of the experience and education of the Audit Committee members see “Directors and 
Executive Officers”. 

 
Audit Committee Oversight 

At no time since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year was a 
recommendation of the Audit Committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor not adopted bythe 
Board. 

 
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

The Audit Committee is authorized by the Board to review the performance of the Company’s external 
auditors and approve in advance provision of services other than auditing and to consider the independence 
of the external auditors, including a review of the range of services provided in the context of all consulting 
services bought by the Company. The Audit Committee is authorized to approve in writing any non-audit 
services or additional work which the Chairman of the Audit Committee deems is necessary, and the 
Chairman will notify the other members of the Audit Committee of such non-audit or additional work and 
the reasons for such non-audit work for the Committee’s consideration, and if thought fit, approval in 
writing. 

 
External Auditor Service Fees 

The aggregate fees billed by the external auditors to the Company for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 
and March 31, 2023 are: 

 
 

Fiscal Year Ended 
March 31 

 
Audit Fees 

 
Audit‐Related Fees (1) 

 
Tax Fees (2) 

 
All Other Fees (3) 

 
2024 

 
$20,000 

 
$Nil 

 
$ Nil 

 
$ Nil 

 
2023 

 
$ Nil 

 
$ Nil 

 
$ Nil 

 
$ Nil 

Notes: 
(1) Fees charged for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of an audit, and not included under Audit Fees. 
(2) Fees charged for tax compliance, tax advice and taxplanningservices. 
(3) Fees for services other than disclosed in anyothercolumn. 

 
Exemption 

At no time since the commencement of the Company's most recently completed financial year has the 
Company relied on the exemption in Section 2.4 of NI 52-110 (De Minimis Non-audit Services). 

The Company has relied upon the exemption provided by Section 6.1 of NI 52-110, which states that the 
Company, as an IPO Venture Issuer, is not required to comply with Part 3 (Composition of the Audit 
Committee) and Part 5 (Reporting Obligations). 

 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 



74  

General 

The Board believes that good corporate governance improves corporate performance and benefits all 
shareholders. NP 58-201 provides non-prescriptive guidelines on corporate governance practices for 
reporting issuers such as the Company. In addition, NI 58-101 prescribes certain disclosure by the Company 
of its corporate governance practices. This disclosure is presentedbelow. 

 
Board of Directors 

The Board facilitates its exercise of independent supervision over the Company’s management through 
frequent meetings of the Board. The Board is comprised of four directors: Herrick Lau, Fan Hong Lawrence 
Tsang, Queenie Kuang, and David Velisek. As the size of the Board is small, the Board has no formal 
procedures designed to facilitate the exercise of independent supervision over management, relying instead 
on the integrity of the individual members of its management team to act in the best interests of the Company. 

 
Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang is not independent as he is the President and CEO of the Company, and Herrick 
Lau is not independent as he is the Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary of the Company. Queenie 
Kuang and David Velisek are independent of the Company. 

 
Directorships 

Currently, the following director is also a director of the following other reporting issuers: 
 
 

Name 
 

Name of Reporting Issuer 

Name of Exchange or 
Market 

(if applicable) 

 
Position 

 
Period From/To 
(month/year) 

Herrick Lau Jayden Resources Inc. TSXV CFO and Corporate 
Secretary 

12/2008 to Present 

Penbar Capital Ltd. TSXV Director 03/2021 to Present 
Astron Connect Inc. TSXV Director 10/2022 to Present 
Hapbee Technologies Inc. TSXV CFO 06/2020 to 

05/2022 
Kiaro Holdings Corp. TSXV Director 10/2020 to 

07/2022 
United Lithium Corp. 
(formerly United Battery 

CSE Director 09/2019 to 
09/2020 

Agrios Global Holdings Ltd.(1) CSE Director, CFO and 
Corporate Secretary 

02/2017 to 
12/2019 

TWX Group Holdings Limited 
(formerly, EA Education 
Group Inc.) 

CSE Director 02/2019 to 
04/2019 

Astron Connect Inc. TSXV Director, CFO and 
Corporate Secretary 

02/2017 to 
08/2018 

Digihost Technology Inc. 
(formerly HashChain 
Technology Inc.) 

TSXV Director, CFO and 
Corporate Secretary 

02/2017 to 
03/2018 

Queenie Kuang Jayden Resources Inc. TSXV Director 08/2019 to 
Present 

Penbar Capital Ltd. TSXV CFO, Corporate 
Secretary and 
Director 

03/2021 to Present 

Trillium Gold Mines Inc. TSXV CFO and Corporate 
Secretary 

08/2019 to 
06/2021 
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David Velisek Trillium Gold Mines Inc. TSXV Director 04/2015 to 
Present 

Interim CEO 08/2017 to 
07/2020 

Cognetivity 
Neurosciences Ltd. 

CSE Director 12/2015 to 
Present 

Datinvest International 
Ltd. 

NEX Director 05/2019 to 
Present 

Evolving Gold Corp. CSE Director 01/2021 to 
Present 

Amador Gold Corp. TSXV Director 06/2017 to 
10/2018 

 
 

Orientation and Continuing Education 

New Board members receive an orientation package, which includes reports on operations and results, and 
any public disclosure filings by the Company, as may be applicable. Board meetings are sometimes held at 
the Company’s offices and, from time to time, are combined with presentations by the Company’s 
management to give the directors additional insight into the Company’s business. In addition, management 
of the Company makes itself available for discussion with all Board members. 

 
Ethical Business Conduct 

The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by the Company’s governing 
corporate legislation and the common law and the restrictions placed by applicable corporate legislation on 
an individual director’s participation in decisions of the Board in which the director has an interest have been 

sufficient to ensure that the Board operates independently of management and in the best interests of the 
Company. 

 
Nomination of Directors 

The Board considers its size each year when it considers the number of directors to recommend to the 
shareholders for election at the annual meeting of shareholders, taking into account the number required to 
carry out the Board’s duties effectively and to maintain a diversity of view and experience. 

The Board does not have a nominating committee, and these functions are currently performed by the Board 
as a whole. However, if there is a change in the number of directors required by the Company, this policy 
will be reviewed. 

 
Compensation 

The Board is responsible for determining compensation for the directors of the Company to ensure it reflects 
the responsibilities and risks of being a director of a publiccompany. 

 
Other Board Committees 

The Board has no committees, other than the Audit Committee. 
 

Assessments 

Due to the minimal size of the Board, no formal policy has been established to monitor the effectiveness of 
the directors, the Board and its committees. 



76  

 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 
 

This is a non-offering prospectus. No securities are offered pursuant to this Prospectus. The Company is not 
a reporting issuer in any province or territory of Canada. 

 
The Company has applied to list its Common Shares described in this Prospectus on the Exchange. Listing 
will be subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the Exchange. 

 
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not 
applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside 
Canada and the United States of America other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock 
Exchange or the PLUS Markets operated by PLUS Markets group plc. 

 
STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING 

 
The Company intends to apply to list the Common Shares on the CSE. The Listing of the Common Shares 
will be subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the CSE, which cannot be 
guaranteed. 

 
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company is an “IPO Venture Issuer” (defined under National 
Instrument 41-101 – General Prospectus Requirements as an issuer that: (a) files a long form prospectus; 
(b) is not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction immediately before the date of the final long form prospectus; 
and (c) at the date of the long form prospectus, does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not 
applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, 
on the Toronto Stock Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside 
of Canada and the United States of America, other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London 
Stock Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc). 

 
RISK FACTORS 

 
General 

The Company is in the business of exploring and, if warranted, developing mineral properties, which is a 
highly speculative endeavour. A purchase of any of the securities offered hereunder involves a high degree 
of risk and should be undertaken only by purchasers whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them 
to assume such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. An investment in 
the securities offered hereunder should not constitute a significant portion of an individual’s investment 
portfolio and should only be made by persons who can afford a total loss of their investment. Prospective 
investors should evaluate carefully the following risk factors associated with an investment in the Company’s 
securities prior to purchasing any of the securities offeredhereunder. 

 
Limited Operating History 

The Company has no history of earnings. There are no known commercial quantities of mineral reserves on 
any properties optioned by the Company. There is no guarantee that economic quantities of mineral reserves 
will be discovered on the Property by the Company in the near future or at all. If the Company does not 
generate revenue, it may be unable to sustain its operations in which case it may become insolvent and 
investors may lose their investment. 

Uncertain Liquidity and Capital Resources 
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The Company may need to raise additional capital by way of an offering of equity securities, an offering of 
debt securities, or by obtaining financing through a bank or other entity. In particular, the Company may not 
have sufficient funds to complete the recommended exploration program on the Property. The Company has 
not established a limit as to the amount of debt it may incur nor has it adopted a ratio of its equity to debt 
allowance. If the Company needs to obtain additional financing, there is no assurance that financing willbe 
available from any source, that it will be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or that any future 
offering of securities will be successful. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity 
securities, there may be a significant dilution in the value of the Company’s Common Shares. The Company 
could suffer adverse consequences if it is unable to obtain additional capital which would cast substantial 
doubt on its ability to continue its operations and growth. 

 
Dilution 

 
Common Shares, including rights, warrants, special warrants, subscription receipts and other securities to 
purchase, to convert into or to exchange into Common Shares, may be created, issued, sold and delivered on 
such terms and conditions and at such times as the Board may determine. In addition, the Company will 
issue additional Common Shares from time to time pursuant to the options to purchase Common Shares 
issued from time to time by the Board. The issuance of these Common Shares will result in dilution to holders 
of Common Shares. 

 
Speculative Nature of Mineral Exploration 

Resource exploration is a speculative business, characterized by a number of significant risks including, 
among other things, unprofitable efforts resulting not only from the failure to discover mineral deposits but 
also from finding mineral deposits that, though present, are insufficient in quantity and quality to return a 
profit from production. The marketability of minerals acquired or discovered by the Company may be 
affected by numerous factors which are beyond the control of the Company and which cannot be accurately 
predicted, such as market fluctuations, the proximity and capacity of milling facilities, mineral markets and 
processing equipment, and such other factors as government regulations, including regulations relating to 
royalties, allowable production, importing and exporting of minerals, and environmental protection, the 
combination of which factors may result in the Company not receiving an adequate return of investment 
capital. There is no assurance that the Company’s mineral exploration activities will result in any discoveries 
of commercial bodies of ore. The long-term profitability of the Company’s operations will in part be directly 
related to the costs and success of its exploration programs, which may be affected by a number of factors. 
Substantial expenditures are required to establish reserves through drilling and to develop the mining and 
processing facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen for mining. Although substantial benefits may be 
derived from the discovery of a major mineralized deposit, no assurance can be given that minerals will be 
discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial operations or that funds required for development 
can be obtained on a timely basis. 

 
Acquisition of Additional Mineral Properties 

If the Company abandons the exploration and development of the Property, there is no assurance that it will 
be able to acquire another mineral property of merit or that such an acquisition would be approved by the 
Exchange. There is also no guarantee that the Exchange will approve the acquisition of any additional 
properties by the Company, whether by way of option or otherwise, should the Company wish to acquire 
any additional properties. 

 
Mineral Deposits 

The Property is in the exploration stage only and is without known mineral resources or reserves which could 
constitute deposits. Development of this Property would follow only if favourable exploration results  are 
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obtained. The business of exploration for minerals and mining involves a high degree of risk. Few properties 
that are explored are ultimately developed into producingmines. 

 
Uninsurable Risks 

In the course of exploration, development and production of mineral properties, certain risks, and in 
particular, unexpected or unusual geological operating conditions including rock bursts, cave-ins, fires, 
flooding and earthquakes may occur. It is not always possible to fully insure against such risks and the 
Company may decide not to take out insurance against such risks as a result of high premiums or other 
reasons. Should such liabilities arise, they could reduce or eliminate any future profitability and result in 
increasing costs and a decline in the value of the securities of the Company. 

 
Permits and Government Regulations 

The future operations of the Company may require permits from various federal, provincial and local 
governmental authorities and will be governed by laws and regulations governing prospecting, development, 
mining, production, export, taxes, labour standards, occupational health, waste disposal, land use, 
environmental protections, mine safety and other matters. There can be no guarantee that the Company will 
be able to obtain all necessary permits and approvals that may be required to undertake exploration activity 
or commence construction or operation of mine facilities on theProperty. 

 
Environmental and Safety Regulations and Risks 

Environmental laws and regulations may affect the operations of the Company. These laws and regulations 
set various standards regulating certain aspects of health and environmental quality. They provide for 
penalties and other liabilities for the violation of such standards and establish, in certain circumstances, 
obligations to rehabilitate current and former facilities and locations where operations are or were conducted. 
The permission to operate can be withdrawn temporarily where there is evidence of serious breaches of 
health and safety standards, or even permanently in the case of extreme breaches. Significant liabilities could 
be imposed on the Company for damages, clean-up costs or penalties in the event of certain discharges into 
the environment, environmental damage caused by previous owners of acquired properties or noncompliance 
with environmental laws or regulations. In all major developments, the Company generally relies on 
recognized designers and development contractors from which the Company will, in the first instance, seek 
indemnities. The Company intends to minimize risks by taking steps to ensure compliance with 
environmental, health and safety laws and regulations and operating to applicable environmental standards. 
There is a risk that environmental laws and regulations may become more onerous, making the Company’s 
operations more expensive. 

 
Key Person Insurance 

The Company does not maintain key person insurance on any of its directors or officers, and as result the 
Company would bear the full loss and expense of hiring and replacing any director or officer in the event 
the loss of any such persons by their resignation, retirement, incapacity, or death, as well as any loss of 
business opportunity or other costs suffered by the Company from such loss of any director or officer. 

 
Mineral Titles 

The Company is satisfied that evidence of title to the Property is adequate and acceptable by prevailing 
industry standards with respect to the current stage of exploration on the Property. The Company may face 
challenges to the title of the Property or subsequent properties it may acquire, which may prove to be costly 
to defend or could impair the advancement of the Company’s businessplan. 
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Loss of Interest in Properties 

The Company’s ability to maintain an interest in the properties owned by the Company will be dependent 
on its ability to raise additional funds by equity financing. Failure to obtain additional financing may result 
in the Company being unable to make the periodic payments required to keep the Property in good standing 
and could result in the delay or postponement of further exploration and or the partial or total loss of the 
Company’s interest in the properties transferred to or optioned by theCompany. 

Failure to obtain additional financing may result in the Company being unable to complete the required work 
required to keep the Property interests in good standing and could result in the delay or postponement of 
further exploration and or the partial or total loss of the Company’s interest in theProperty. 

Option Agreement Obligations 

The Option Agreement provides that the Company must fulfil certain option obligations over specified time 
periods in order to earn an interest in the properties that are the subject of the agreement. If the Company 
fails to fulfil these obligations in a timely fashion, the Company could lose its interest in the Property. 

 
First Nations Title 

The Property or other properties owned or optioned by the Company may in the future be the subject of First 
Nations land claims. The legal nature of First Nations land claims is a matter of considerable complexity. 
The impact of any such claim on the Company’s ownership interest in the properties optioned or owned by 
the Company cannot be predicted with any degree of certainty and no assurance can be given that a broad 
recognition of First Nations rights in the area in which the properties optioned or purchased by the Company 
are located, by way of a negotiated settlement or judicial pronouncement, would not have an adverse effect 
on the Company’s activities. Even in the absence of such recognition, the Company may at some point be 
required to negotiate with First Nations in order to facilitate exploration and development work on the 
properties optioned or owned by the Company. The Supreme Court of Canada’s 2014 decision in Tilhqot’in 
Nation v. British Columbia marked the first time in Canadian history that a court has declared First Nations 
title to lands outside of a reserve. The Company is not aware of any First Nations land claims having been 
asserted or any legal actions relating to first nation issues having been instituted with respect to any of the 
land which is covered by the Property. 

 
Fluctuating Mineral Prices 

The Company’s revenues in the future, if any, are expected to be in large part derived from the extraction 
and sale of minerals, which in turn depend on the results of the Company’s exploration on these properties 
and whether development will be commercially viable or even possible. Factors beyond the control of the 
Company may affect the marketability of the commodities discovered, if any. Commodity prices have 
fluctuated widely, particularly in recent years. Consequently, the economic viability of any of the Company’s 
exploration projects cannot be accurately predicted and may be adversely affected by fluctuations in mineral 
prices. 

 
Competition 

The mining industry is intensely competitive in all its phases. The Company competes for the acquisition of 
mineral properties, claims, leases and other mineral interests as well as for the recruitment and retention of 
qualified employees with many companies possessing greater financial resources and technical facilities 
than the Company. The competition in the mineral exploration and development business could have an 
adverse effect on the Company’s ability to hire or maintain experienced and expert personnel or acquire 
suitable properties or prospects for mineral exploration in thefuture. 



80  

Management 

The success of the Company is currently largely dependent on the performance of its directors and officers. 
The loss of the services of any of these persons could have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s 
business and prospects. There is no assurance the Company can maintain the services of its directors, officers 
or other qualified personnel required to operate itsbusiness. 

 
Financing Risks 

The Company has no history of significant earnings and, due to the nature of its business, there can be no 
assurance that the Company will be profitable. The Company has paid no dividends on its shares since 
incorporation and does not anticipate doing so in the foreseeable future. The only present source of funds 
available to the Company is through the sale of its securities. Even if the results of exploration are 
encouraging, the Company may not have sufficient funds to conduct the further exploration that may be 
necessary to determine whether or not a commercially mineable deposit exists on the properties owned by 
the Company. While the Company may generate additional working capital through further equity offerings 
or through the sale or possible syndication of the Property, there is no assurance that any such funds willbe 
available. At present it is impossible to determine what amounts of additional funds, if any, may be required. 

Going Concern and Requirement to Generate Cash Flow for Financial Obligations 

While the information in this Prospectus has been prepared in accordance with IFRS on a going concern 
basis, which presumes the realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business 
for the foreseeable future, there are conditions and events that cast significant doubt on the validity of this 
presumption. The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon achieving profitable 
operations and upon obtaining additional financing. While the Company is making its best efforts in this 
regard, the outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time. The Company’s ability to generate 
sufficient cash flow from operations to make scheduled payments to its contractors, service providers and 
merchants will depend on future financial performance, which will be affected by a range of economic, 
competitive, regulatory, legislative and business factors, many of which are outside of its control. If the 
Company does not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to satisfy its contractual obligations, it may 
have to undertake alternative financing plans. The Company’s inability to generate sufficient cash flow from 
operations or undertake alternative financing plans would have an adverse effect on its business, financial 
condition and results or operations, as well as its ability to satisfy its contractual obligations. Any failure to 
meet its financial obligations could result in termination of key contracts, which could harm the Company’s 
ability to provide its products and services. 

 
Negative Cash Flows From Operations 

Since incorporation, the Company has sustained net losses from operations and has had negative cash flow 
from operating activities. The Company continues to have negative operating cash flow. It is highly likely 
the Company may have negative cash flow in any future period and as a result, the Company will need to 
use available cash, including proceeds to fund any such negative cash flow. 

 
Resale of Common Shares 

The continued operation of the Company will be dependent upon its ability to generate operating revenues 
and to procure additional financing. There can be no assurance that any such revenues can be generated or 
that other financing can be obtained. If the Company is unable to generate such revenues or obtain such 
additional financing, any investment in the Company may be lost. In such event, the probability of resale of 
the Common Shares purchased would bediminished. 

 
Price Volatility of Publicly Traded Securities 
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In recent years, the securities markets in Canada have experienced a high level of price and volume volatility, 
and the market prices of securities of many companies have experienced wide fluctuations in price which 
have not necessarily been related to the operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such 
companies. There can be no assurance that continual fluctuations in price will not occur. It may be anticipated 
that any quoted market for the Common Shares will be subject to market trends generally, notwithstanding 
any potential success of the Company in creating revenues, cash flows or earnings. If an active public market 
for the Common Shares does not develop, the liquidity of a shareholder’s investment may be limited and the 
share price may decline below the initial purchase price. 

 
Conflicts of Interest 

Some of the directors and officers are engaged and will continue to be engaged in the search for additional 
business opportunities on behalf of other corporations, and situations may arise where these directors and 
officers will be in direct competition with the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be dealt with in accordance 
with the relevant provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). Some of the directors and 
officers of the Company are or may become directors or officers of other companies engaged in other 
business ventures. 

Conflict in Ukraine 
 

The Company’s business financial condition and results of operations may be negatively affected by 
economic and other consequences from the conflict in the Ukraine and the sanctions imposed in response to 
that action in late February 2022. While the Company expects any direct impacts of the pandemic and the 
conflict in Ukraine to the business to be limited, the indirect impacts on the economy and on the mining 
industry and other industries in general could negatively affect the business and may make it more difficult 
for it to raise equity or debt financing. There can be no assurance that the Company will not be impacted by 
adverse consequences that may be brought about on its business, results of operations, financial position and 
cash flows in the future. 

 
Tax Issues 

Income tax consequences in relation to the Common Shares will vary according to circumstances of each 
investor. Prospective investors should seek independent advice from their own tax and legal advisers prior 
to investing in Common Shares of the Company. 

 
Dividends 

The Company does not anticipate paying any dividends on its Common Shares in the foreseeable future. 
 

PROMOTERS 

Herrick Lau, the Company’s CFO and Corporate Secretary and one of the Company’s directors, may be 
considered to be a Promoter of the Company in that he took the initiative in organizing the business of the 
Company. Herrick Lau’s spouse is the registered and beneficial owner of 500,000 Common Shares of the 
Company, which is equal to 4.63% of the Common Shares issued and outstanding as at the date hereof ona 
fully-diluted basis. 

David Eaton may be considered to be a Promoter of the Company in that he took the initiative in organizing 
the business of the Company. Mr. Eaton is the registered and beneficial owner of 500,000 Common Shares 
of the Company, which is equal to 4.63% of the Common Shares issued and outstanding as at the date hereof 
on a fully-diluted basis. 

Other than as disclosed above, no person who was a Promoter of the Company: 
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1. received anything of value directly or indirectly from the Company; 

2. sold or otherwise transferred any asset to the Company within the last twoyears; 

3. is at of the date hereof, or was within 10 years before the date hereof, a director, CEO or CFO of any 
person or company that was the subject of a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant person or company access to any statutory exemptions for a period of more than 30 consecutive 
days while that person was acting in the capacity as director, CEO or CFO; 

4. is at of the date hereof, or was within 10 years before the date hereof, a director, CEO or CFO of any 
person or company that was the subject of a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant person or company access to any statutory exemptions for a period of more than 30 consecutive 
days that was issued after the person ceased to be a director, CEO or CFO and which resulted from an 
event that occurred while the person was acting in the capacity as director, CEO or CFO; 

5. is at of the date hereof, or was within 10 years before the date hereof, a director or executive officer of 
any person or company that, while the person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person 
ceasing to act in the capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors or had a receiver or receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; 

6. has, within 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement 
or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets 
of the person; 

7. has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities 
legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement 
with a Canadian securities regulatoryauthority; 

8. has been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be 
likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investmentdecision;or 

9. has within the past 10 years become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors or had a receiver or receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 

Legal Proceedings 
 

The Company is not currently a party to any legal proceedings, nor is the Company currently contemplating 
any legal proceedings which are material to its business. Management of the Company is not currently aware 
of any legal proceedings contemplated against the Company. 

 
Regulatory Actions 

From incorporation to the date of this Prospectus, management knows of no: 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court relating to provincial and territorial 
securities legislation or by a securities regulatoryauthority; 

(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Company necessary 
for the Prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the 
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securities being distributed; and 

(c) settlement agreements the Company entered into before a court relating to provincial 
and territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatoryauthority. 

 
INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

From incorporation on September 8, 2021 to the date of this Prospectus, none of the following persons or 
companies has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction which has materially 
affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company: (a) any director or executive officer 
of the Company; (b) any person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of, or who 
exercises control or direction over, more than 10% of any class or series of the Company’s outstanding 
voting securities; and (c) any associate or affiliate of any of the persons or companies referred to in 
paragraphs (a) or (b). 

 
AUDITORS 

The independent auditors of the Company are MNP LLP, having an address at Suite 2200, MNP Tower, 
1021 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, B.C., V6E 0C3. MNP LLP is independent of the Company in 
accordance with the Code of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British 
Columbia. 

 
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT 

 
The registrar and transfer agent of the Company is Endeavor Trust Corporation at its principal office at 
702- 777 Hornby Street, Vancouver, B.C., V6Z 1S4. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the only material contracts entered into by 
the Company within the period from incorporation until the date of this Prospectus are as follows: 

1. the Option Agreement; 

2. the NSR Royalty Agreement; 

3. the Escrow Agreement; and 

4. the Line of Credit Agreement 
 

EXPERTS 

The following persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to the report, valuation, 
statement or opinion made by the person or company are named in this Prospectus as having prepared or 
certified a report, valuation, statement or opinion in this Prospectus: 

MNP LLP, independent auditors of the Company, who issued the independent auditors’ report on the 
Company’s financial statements included in and forming part of this Prospectus, has informed the 
Company that it is independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Professional Conduct of 
the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia. 

 
The Technical Report was prepared by Tony Barresi, Ph.D., P.Geo., who has no interest in the Company, 
the Company’s securities or the Property and has not held, received or is to receive any registered or 
beneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities or other property of the Company or of its associates 
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or affiliates when the Technical Report was prepared or thereafter. 
 

Certain legal matters related to this Prospectus has been passed upon on behalf of the Company by 
Buttonwood Law Corporation. Buttonwood Law Corporation, nor any director, officer, employee or partner 
thereof, as applicable, received or has received a direct or indirect interest in the Company’s property or the 
property of any associate or affiliate of the Company. As at the date hereof the aforementioned persons, and 
the directors, officers, employees and partners, as applicable, of each of the aforementioned companies and 
partnerships, do not beneficially own, directly or indirectly, any securities of the Company. 

 
OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

There are no material facts about the Company that are not otherwise disclosed in this Prospectus. 
 

RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

Canadian securities legislation requires that the following language appear in this Prospectus: 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces in Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw 
from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after receipt 
or deemed receipt of a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation 
further provides a purchaser with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, damages if the prospectus 
and any amendment contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the 
remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the 
securities legislation of such purchaser’s province. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions 
of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of these rights or consult with a 
legal adviser. 

However, in light of the fact that this Prospectus is being filed to allow the Company to become a reporting 
issuer in British Columbia, and not in connection with an offering of securities, the Company believes that 
the remedies described in the foregoing paragraph are not applicable to the transactions described in this 
Prospectus. 

 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 and interim financial 
statements for the three months ended June 30, 2024, are included in this Prospectus as Schedule “A”, and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 and 
for the period from incorporation on September 8, 2021 to March 31, 2022, along with the three months 
ended June 30, 2024, are included in this Prospectus as Schedule “B”. 



 

SCHEDULE “A” 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
Audited financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 and interim 
financial statements for the three months ended June 30, 2024. 

 
 
 

(See Financial Statements attached.) 
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PLUTO VENTURES INC. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS) 



 

 
Independent Auditor's Report 

 

 
To the Shareholders of Pluto Ventures Inc.: 

 
Opinion 

 
We have audited the financial statements of Pluto Ventures Inc. (the "Company"), which comprise the statements of 
financial position as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, and the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of material accounting policies. 

 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 
Basis for Opinion 

 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audits of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

 
We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company had accumulated deficits 
as at March 31, 2024 and incurred a net loss for the year then ended. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, 
along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant 
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 
Other Information 

 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis. 

 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

 
In connection with our audits of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audits or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. We obtained Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we have performed on this 
other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 
 
 
 
 

MNP LLP 
2200 - 1021 West Hastings Street, Vancouver BC,  V6E 0C3 1.877.688.8408   T: 604.685.8408   F: 604.685.8594 

 

 
MNP.ca 



2200 - 1021 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 0C3 
1.877.688.8408   T: 604.685.8408   F: 604.685.8594  MNP.ca 

 

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related  
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 



2200 - 1021 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 0C3 
1.877.688.8408   T: 604.685.8408   F: 604.685.8594  MNP.ca 

 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audits and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audits. 

 
Vancouver, British Columbia   
October 16, 2024 Chartered Professional Accountants 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Statements of Financial Position 
As at March 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)  

 
 

  March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023  
 

 
ASSETS 

$ $ 

Current assets  
Cash 327,425 84,272 
GST Receivable   6,602 1,220  

Total Current Assets 334,027 85,492 

Exploration and evaluation assets (note 4)   122,588 39,089  

Total Assets   456,615 124,581  

LIABILITIES  

Current liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 
  71,489 8,532  

Total Liabilities 71,489 8,532 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

Share capital (note 5) 412,360 125,000 
Special warrants (note 5) 40,300 - 
Accumulated Deficit   (67,534) (8,951)  
Total Shareholders' Equity 385,126 116,049 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity   456,615 124,581  

 
(Nature of operations and going concern – Note 1) 

 

 
 

Approved on Behalf of the Board 
 

"David Velisek" Director 
David Velisek 

 
"Queenie Kuang" Director 
Queenie Kuang 

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 
 

 Year ended Year ended 
March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 

$ $ 

Expenses 
Accounting fees 

 
20,000 

 
- 

Consulting fees 13,750 - 
Filing fees 1,301 - 
General and administrative 249 343 
Legal fees   23,283 6,104  

Loss and comprehensive loss   (58,583) (6,447)  

Loss per share – basic and diluted   (0.013) (0.002)  

Weighted-average number of common shares 
outstanding - basic and diluted 

 

  4,551,913 3,701,370  
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 



 

 

Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Statements of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 
 

 Number of 
Common Shares 

Common 
Shares 

Special 
Warrants 

 
Deficit 

 
Total 

 $ $ $ $ 

Balance, March 31, 2022 - - - (2,504) (2,504) 

Shares issued for cash 4,000,000 125,000 - - 125,000 
Loss for the year - - - (6,447) (6,447) 

 
Balance, March 31, 2023 

 
4,000,000 

 
125,000 

 
- 

 
(8,951) 

 
116,049 

 
Shares issued for cash 

 
6,000,000 

 
300,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
300,000 

Special warrants issued for cash - - 30,300 - 30,300 
Share issuance costs - (12,640) 10,000 - (2,640) 
Loss for the year - - - (58,583) (58,583) 

 
Balance, March 31, 2024 

 
10,000,000 

 
412,360 

 
40,300 

 
(67,534) 

 
385,126 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)  

 
 
 

Year ended Year ended 
 
 

Operating activities 

  March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023  
$ $ 

Loss for the year (58,583) (6,447) 
 

Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Increase in GST receivable (5,382) (1,220) 
Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities   44,910 6,028  

Net cash used in operating activities   (19,055) (1,639)  

Investing activities 
 

Expenditure on exploration and evaluation assets   (65,452) (39,089)  
Net cash used in investing activities   (65,452) (39,089)  

 
Financing activities 

 

Proceeds from share issuances 300,000 125,000 
Proceeds from special warrants issuances 30,300 - 
Share issuance costs   (2,640) -  

Net cash provided by financing activities   327,660 125,000  

Change in cash during the year 243,153 84,272 
Cash, beginning of the year   84,272 -  

Cash, end of the year   327,425 84,272  
 
 

Supplementary Cash Flow Information 
Non-cash investing activities 

Exploration and evaluation assets in accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities   18,047 -  

 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars)  
1. Nature of operations and going concern 

(a) Nature of operations 
 

Pluto Ventures Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on September 8, 2021 under the laws of the Province of 
British Columbia. The Company is principally engaged in the business of acquiring, exploring and developing 
interests in mining projects. To date, the Company has not generated revenues from its principal activities and 
is considered to be in the exploration stage. 

 
The head office and principal address of the Company are located at Suite 2250, 1055 West Hastings Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 2E9. The registered and records office are located at Suite 1510, 789 West 
Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 1H2. 

 
(b) Going concern 

 
These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a going 
concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be 
able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operation, and do not give effect to 
any adjustments which would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern 
and therefore be required to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of 
business and at amounts different from those reflected in the accompanying financial  statements. 

 
The Company has not generated any revenues and has accumulated deficits of $67,534 (2023: $8,951) 
since inception. The Company incurred a net loss for the year ended March 31, 2024 of $58,583 (2023: 
$6,447). The Company is not expected to generate cash inflow from its operation during the next twelve 
months and therefore must rely on securing additional funds from either debt or equity financings for cash 
consideration. 

The Company’s continuing operations are entirely dependent upon the existence of economically 
recoverable mineral reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the 
exploration and development of its mineral property interests, and on future profitable production or proceeds 
from the disposition of the mineral property interests. These matters and conditions, primarily as a result of 
the conditions described above, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant 
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as going concern. If the going concern assumption is not 
appropriate, material adjustments to the financial statements could be required. 

 
2. Basis of presentation 

(a) Statement of compliance 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB”). These financial 
statements were approved by the board of directors for issue on October 16, 2024. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost basis except 
for the financial instruments that are recorded at fair value. In addition, these financial statements have been 
prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. 

 
(c) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations as of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

2. Basis of presentation (continued) 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below: 

 
Impairment of E&E assets 
The Company reviews and assesses the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets for indicators of 
impairment when facts or circumstances suggest that the carrying amount is not recoverable. If impairment is 
indicated, the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the estimated fair value is charged to 
the statement of loss. 

 
Critical judgments in applying the Company’s accounting policies 

The following is the critical judgment, apart from those involving estimations that management have made in 
the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the financial statements. 

 
Going concern 
Management has applied judgments in the assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
when preparing its financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024. Management prepares the financial 
statements on a going concern basis unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease 
trading, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. In assessing whether the going concern assumption is 
appropriate, management takes into account all available information about the future, which is at least, but is 
not limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting period. Management considered a wide range of 
factors relating to current and expected profitability, debt repayment schedules and potential sources of 
replacement financing. As a result of the assessment, management concluded the ultimate appropriateness of 
the use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern. 

 
3. Material accounting policies 

(a) Exploration and evaluation assets 

The Company’s exploration and evaluation assets are intangible assets relating to mineral rights acquired and 
exploration and valuation expenditure capitalized in respect of projects that are at the exploration/ 
predevelopment stage. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure related to an area of interest where the Company has tenure are 
capitalized on initial recognition at cost. Exploration and evaluation assets are subsequently stated at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses and are not amortized. These assets are transferred to mine development 
assets in property, plant and equipment upon the commencement of mine development. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure in the relevant area of interest comprises costs which are directly 
attributable to: 

• Acquisition: 
• Surveying, geological, geochemical and geophysical; 
• Exploratory drilling; 
• Land maintenance; 
• Sampling; and 
• Assessing technical feasibility and commercial viability. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars)  

 

3.   Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(a) Exploration and evaluation assets (continued) 
 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure also includes the costs incurred in acquiring mineral rights, the entry 
premiums paid to gain access to areas of interest and amounts payable to third parties to acquire interests  
in existing projects. Capitalized costs, including general and administrative costs, are only allocated to the 
extent that those costs can be related directly to operation activities in the relevant area of interest. Proceeds 
received from government assistances in a property will be credited against the carrying value of the 
property, with any excess included in operations for the year. 

 
The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is reviewed whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the recoverable value may be less than the carrying amount. Recoverable value 
determinations are based on management’s estimates of discounted future net cash flows expected to be 
recovered from specific assets or groups of assets through use or future disposition. An impairment loss is 
recognized in profit or loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable  amount. 

 
Tax Credit Related to Resources and Mining Tax Credit 

 
The Company is entitled to a tax credit related to resources on eligible exploration expenses incurred in the 
province of British Columbia. In addition, the Company is entitled to a mining tax credit on eligible exploration 
expenditures, reduced of tax credit related to resources. The mining tax credits and mining duties are 
recognized in the year of receipt. British Columbia mining exploration tax credits for certain exploration 
expenditures incurred in British Columbia are treated as a reduction of exploration and evaluation costs of the 
respective mineral property. 

 
(b) Earnings(loss) per share 

 
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the earnings (loss) for the year by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year. 

 
Diluted earnings/loss per common share is computed by dividing the net income or loss applicable to common 
shares by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding and all additional 
common shares that would have been outstanding, if potentially dilutive instruments were converted. 

 
(c) Related parties 

 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also 
considered to be related if they are subject to common control, related parties may be individuals or corporate 
entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or 
obligations between related parties. 

 
(d) Financial Instruments 

 
Financial assets 

The Company recognizes financial assets when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
The classification and measurement of financial assets is based on the Company’s business models for 
managing its financial assets and whether the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest (“SPPI”). Financial assets are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at  either 
(i) amortized cost; (ii) fair value through other comprehensive income, or (iii) at fair value through profit or loss. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars)  

3. Material accounting policies (continued) 
 

(d) Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

• Amortized cost 

Financial assets classified and measured at amortized cost are those assets that are held within a business 
model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, and the contractual 
terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are SPPI. Financial assets classified at amortized cost 
are measured using the effective interest method. The Company’s financial asset classified as amortized costs 
includes cash. 

• Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 

Financial assets classified and measured at FVTOCI are those assets that are held within a business model 
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and the 
contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are SPPI. This classification includes certain 
equity instruments where IFRS 9 allows an entity to make an irrevocable election to classify the equity 
instruments, on an instrument-by-instrument basis, that would otherwise be measured at fair value through profit 
or loss (“FVTPL”) to present subsequent changes in FVTOCI. The Company did not have financial asset 
classified as FVTOCI. 

• Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 

Financial assets classified and measured at FVTPL are those assets that do not meet the criteria to be classified at 
amortized cost or at FVTOCI. This category includes marketable securities and debt instruments whose cash flow 
characteristics are not SPPI or are not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual 
cash flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial asset. The Company did not have financial 
asset classified as FVTPL. 

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for the expected credit losses associated with its financial assets, 
other than debt instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss and equity investments. Expected credit 
losses are measured to reflect a probability-weighted amount, the time value of money, and reasonable and 
supportable information regarding past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when its contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire. 

Financial liabilities 

The Company’s financial liabilities are generally classified and measured at fair value at initial recognition and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using effective interest method. The Company’s financial liabilities 
classified as amortized costs include accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The Company did not have 
financial liabilities classified as FVTPL. 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss are liabilities which were not measured at 
amortized cost, such as derivatives and loans and financings that are designated at fair value option. 

The Company derecognizes a financial liability only when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expire. 

 
(e) Recent accounting pronouncements and future changes in accounting standards 

 
Certain pronouncements were issued  by  the  IASB  that  are  mandatory  for  accounting  periods  
commencing on or after  April 1,  2023.  All future accounting changes are either not  applicable or  do not  
have a significant impact to the Company and have been excluded. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars)  

4. Exploration and evaluation assets 

Terrace Property 

On June 29, 2022, the Company entered into an option agreement (the “Option Agreement") with Decade 
Resources Ltd. (the “Optionor” or “Decade”) to acquire a 100% interest in the Terrace Property (the “Property”). 
The option will be exercised by the Company over a period of four years by making the following payments and 
share issuances, and completing expenditures on the property of at least $2,000,000 by the fourth anniversary of 
the Company’s common shares being list (the “Listing Date”) on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the 
“Exchange”). 

 
Dates Cash Shares Expenditures 

On signing of the Option Agreement $10,000 
(paid) 

  

On or before the 15th business day 
after the Listing Date $10,000 100,000  

On the 1st anniversary of the Listing Date $20,000 100,000 $50,000 

On the 2nd anniversary of the Listing Date $30,000 100,000 As recommended in the 43-101 report 
On the 3rd anniversary of the Listing Date $40,000 100,000 As recommended in the 43-101 report 
On the 4th anniversary of the Listing Date   As recommended in the 43-101 report 
Total $110,000 400,000 $2,000,000 

 
Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Company shall grant to the Optionor a 1% NSR royalty. The Company shall 
retain the right to purchase at any time from the Optionor for $500,000. In addition, the Company shall grant the 
optionors a 2% NSR royalty pursuant to the terms and conditions of the agreement dated as of July 2017 between 
Decade and Detour Gold Corporation. 

 
The schedule below outlines the costs incurred on the Property as at March 31, 2024: 

 
 

As at March 31 
2022 

Additions/ 
(Writedowns) 

As at March 31 
2023 

Additions/ 
(Writedowns) 

As at March 31 
2024 

 

$ $ $ $ $ 
Acquisition 

Cash payment - 10,000 10,000 - 10,000 
- 10,000 10,000 - 10,000 

 
 

 Cumulative to  Expenditures 
March 31, 2022 during the year 

Cumulative to 
March 31, 2023 

Expenditures 
during the year 

Cumulative to 
March 31, 2024 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures $ $ $ $ $ 
Assays and reports - 4,844 4,844 10,624 15,468 
Geological consulting - - - 8,000 8,000 
Helicopter - - - 15,000 15,000 
Surveys and geophysics - 24,245 24,245 38,500 62,745 
Travel and accommodation - - - 11,375 11,375 

Total exploration and evaluation expenditures - 29,089 29,089 83,499 112,588 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)  

5. Share capital and stock options 
 

a) Authorized 
 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
 

b) Issued and outstanding 
 

As at March 31, 2024, there were 10,000,000 common shares issued and outstanding (March 31, 2023 – 
4,000,000). 

 
Fiscal 2024 

 
On March 22, 2024, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement whereby the Company issued 
4,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $200,000. 

 
On January 8, 2024, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement whereby the Company issued 
2,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $100,000. 

 
Fiscal 2023 

 
On June 10, 2022, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement whereby the Company issued 
1,500,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $75,000. 

 
On April 1, 2022, the Company issued 2,500,000 seed common shares of the Company at a price of $0.02 per 
share for total proceeds of $50,000. 

 
(c) Special Warrants 

 
The Company completed a private placement of 606,000 of special warrants (each a “Special Warrant”) valued at 
CDN$0.05 per Special Warrant for total proceeds of $30,300 whereby each Special Warrant will convert into one 
common share of the Company (i) at any time, at the discretion of the Company, (ii) on the date on which the 
Company obtains the final receipt of a non-offering prospectus by the British Columbia Securities Commission, or 
(iii) the date that is 18 months from the date of issuance of the Special Warrant. Cash fees of $2,640 and 200,000 
Special Warrants valued at $10,000 have been paid in connection with the private placement. 

 
(d) Stock options (“Options”), Performance Share Units, Restricted Share Units and Deferred Share Units 

(“Performance-Based Award”) 
 

The Company has adopted an Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which is a rolling plan for Options and 
Performance-Based Awards such that the aggregate number of common shares issuable under the Plan (and 
all of the Company’s other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements) in respect of Options and Performance- 
Based Awards shall not exceed 20% of the Company’s then total issued and outstanding common shares 
calculated as at the date of any grant. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)  

 

6. Income Taxes 
 

The following table reconciles the expected income tax (expense) recovery at BC statutory income tax rates to 
the amounts recognized in the statements of loss for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023: 

 
2024 2023 

  $ $  
Loss before taxes (58,583) (6,447) 
Statutory tax rate   27.00% 27.00%  
Expected income tax recovery (15,817) (1,741) 
Non-deductible items and other - - 
Share Issuance cost (713) - 
Change in estimates - (676) 
Change in deferred tax asset not 
recognized 

 
  16,530 2,417  

   - -  
 

Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax values. Details of deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as 
follows: 

 
 2024 

$ 
2023 

$ 
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 5,940 - 
Exploration and evaluation assets (5,940) - 
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) - - 

 

The unrecognized deductible temporary differences as at March 31, 2024 and 2023 are comprised of the 
following: 

 
 2024 

$ 
2023 

$ 
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 68,062 8,951 
Share issuance costs 2,112 - 
Total unrecognized deductible temporary differences 70,174 8,951 

 
The Company has unrecognized non-capital loss carryforwards of approximately $68,062 (2023: $ 8,951) which 
may be carried forward to apply against future income for Canadian income tax purposes, subject to the final 
determination by taxation authorities, expiring in the following years: 

 

Expiry $ 
 

2044 68,062 
Total 68,062 

 

 

The Company was required to file Canadian tax returns for March 31, 2024 and 2023 taxation years. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

7. Related party balances and transactions 
 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties 
may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there 
is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. 

 
Key management personnel include persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and 
controlling the activities of the Company as a whole. The Company has identified its directors and certain senior 
officers as its key management personnel and the compensation costs for key management personnel and 
companies related to them were recorded at their exchange amounts as agreed upon by transacting parties. 

 
As of March 31, 2024 and 2023 there were no amounts due to related parties. 

8. Financial instruments 
 

The Company is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary course of 
operations. The financial risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company does not have any written risk management policies and guidelines. 
However, the board of directors meets regularly and co-operates closely with key management to identify and 
evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to manage financial risks. The Company has not used any derivatives 
or other instruments for hedging purposes and does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 
purposes. The most significant risks to which the Company is exposed to are described below. 

 
(i) Currency risk 

Some of the operating expenses and cash held are denominated in foreign currencies and as such are subject 
to currency risk. The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments to mitigate this risk but the 
Company does not believe its net exposure to foreign exchange risk is significant as most funds are held by the 
Company in Canadian dollars. 

 
(ii) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the non-performance by counterparties of contractual financial obligations. The 
Company’s exposure to credit risk is limited to cash and cash equivalents. 

 
(iii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Company has interest-bearing assets in relation to cash at banks. The 
Company’s operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The 
Company has not used any financial instrument to hedge potential fluctuations in interest  rates.  The  
exposure to interest rates for the Company is considered minimal. The Company has no interest bearing 
borrowings. 

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been followed by the Company since prior years and are 
considered to be effective. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

8. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iv) Liquidity risk 

The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on management’s ability to raise required 
funding through future equity issuances.  The Company had net current assets as at March 31, 2024 of 
$262,538 (2023: $76,960). The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations 
and anticipating any investing and financing activities. Management and the board of directors are actively 
involved in the review, planning and approval of significant expenditures and commitments. 

 
The liquidity policies have been followed by the Company since prior years and are considered to have been 
effective in managing liquidity risk. 

 
(v) Fair value measurements 

 
The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial 
position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial assets into three levels 
based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these financial assets. 
The fair value hierarchy has the following three levels: 

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets; 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
Level 3 – inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset is categorized in its entirety is based on   
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

 
There have been no significant transfers between levels 1 and 2 in the respective reporting years. The methods 
and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged compared to the previous 
reporting years. Marketable securities are measured at fair value using level  1. 

 
Financial instruments that are not measured at fair value are represented by cash and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities. The fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their 
short-term nature. 

 
9. Capital risk management 

The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern so as to benefit from its operations to provide an adequate return for its shareholders. 

 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it based on the funds available to the 
Company in order to support the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties. The Company 
defines capital that it manages as its shareholders’ equity. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative 
return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to 
sustain future development of the business. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

9. Capital risk management (continued) 
 

The Company has historically relied on the equity markets to fund the acquisition, exploration and development 
of mineral properties. In addition, the Company is dependent upon external financings to fund activities. In order 
to carry out planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing working 
capital and raise additional funds as needed. The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to 
acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has 
adequate financial resources to do so. 

 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 
given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 

 
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
10. Subsequent events 

 
The Company is in the process of completing a non-offering final prospectus (the “Prospectus”) for the purposes 
of the Company becoming a reporting issuer pursuant to applicable securities legislation in the Provinces of 
British Columbia and Alberta. 

 
On June 6, 2024, at the discretion of the Company, 606,000 Special Warrants and 200,000 Compensation 
Special Warrants were converted into 806,000 common shares, without any additional compensation (Note 5). 

 
On September 26, 2024, the Company entered into a Line of Credit Agreement with an arm’s length party. The 
Line of Credit Agreement provides for a revolving line of credit to the Company in the amount of $200,000 at an 
interest rate of 10% per annum from the date of the first advance which shall be payable monthly, with the full 
amount, including accrued interest, to be repaid on September 26, 2026. 

 
On October 16, 2024, the Company entered into an escrow agreement between the Company, Endeavor Trust 
Corporation, and certain shareholders of the Company, whereby 2,600,000 common shares have been deposited 
in escrow. Upon the Company completing its Initial Public Offering, the Exchange will issue a bulletin announcing 
the final acceptance, and 25% of the common shares held pursuant to the escrow agreement shall immediately 
be released. An additional 25% of the escrowed common shares will be released on each six-month anniversary 
thereafter. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Interim Condensed Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 
June 30, March 31, 

  2024 2024  
 

 
ASSETS 

$ $ 

Current assets  

Cash 300,578 327,425 
GST receivables   7,274 6,602  

Total Current Assets 307,852 334,027 

Exploration and evaluation assets (note 4)   122,588 122,588  

Total Assets   430,440 456,615  

 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

 

Current liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 
  58,740 71,489  

Total Liabilities 58,740 71,489 

Shareholders’ equity 
Share capital (note 5) 

 
452,660 412,360 

Special warrants (note 5) - 40,300 
Accumulated deficit   (80,960) (67,534)  
Total Shareholders’ Equity 371,700 385,126 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity   430,440 456,615  

Nature of operations and going concern – Note 1 
Subsequent events – Note 9 

 

 
 

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors on October 16, 2024 
 

"David Velisek" Director 
David Velisek 

 
"Queenie Kuang" Director 
Queenie Kuang 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed financial statements. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Interim Condensed Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 
 

Three months 
ended 

Three months 
ended 

  June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023  
 $ $ 

Expenses 
Consulting fees 

 
- 13,750 

General and administrative expenses 21 70 
Legal fees 10,675 - 
Transfer agent fees   2,730 -  

Loss and comprehensive loss for the period (13,426) (13,820) 
 
Loss per share – basic and diluted 

 
  (0.001) (0.003)  

Weighted-average number of common shares 
outstanding - basic and diluted 

 

  10,212,571 4,000,000  
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed financial statements. 



 

 

Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Interim Condensed Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 
 
 
 
 

Number of 
Common Shares 

Common 
Shares 

Special 
Warrants 

 
Deficit 

 
Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
Balance, March 31, 2023 4,000,000 125,000 - (8,951) 116,049 

Loss for the period - - - (13,820) (13,820) 
 
Balance, June 30, 2023 

 
4,000,000 

 
125,000 

 
- 

 
(22,771) 

 
102,229 

 

Balance, March 31, 2024 

 

10,000,000 

 

412,360 

 

40,300 

 

(67,534) 

 

385,126 

Special warrants converted into 
common shares 

 
806,000 

 
40,300 

 
(40,300) 

 
- 
 

- 
Loss for the period - - - (13,426) (13,426) 

 
Balance, June 30, 2024 

 
10,806,000 

 
452,660 

 
- 

 
(80,960) 

 
371,700 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed financial statements. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Interim Condensed Statements of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 
 
 

Three months 
ended 

 
Three months 

ended 
 
 

Operating activities 

  June 30, 2024 June 30, 2023  
$ $ 

Loss for the period (13,426) (13,820) 
 

Changes in non-cash working capital: 
Increase in GST receivables 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued 

(672) (2,407) 

liabilities   (12,749) 18,047  

Net cash (used in) generated by operating activities   (26,847) 1,820  

Investing activities 
Expenditure on exploration and evaluation assets 

 
  - (58,625)  

Cash used in investing activities   - (58,625)  

Change in cash during the period (26,847) (56,805) 
Cash, beginning of the period   327,425 84,272  
Cash, end of the period   300,578 27,467  

 
 
 

Supplementary Cash Flow Information: 

Non-cash Financing Activities: 

Conversion of Special Warrants into common shares   40,300 -  
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed financial statements. 
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Pluto Ventures Inc. 
Notes to the Interim Condensed Financial Statements 
For the Period Ended June 30, 2024 
 (Expressed in Canadian dollars)  

 
1. Nature of operations and going concern 

 
(a) Nature of operations 

 
Pluto Ventures Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on September 8, 2021 under the laws of the 
Province of British Columbia. The Company is principally engaged in the business of acquiring, 
exploring and developing interests in mining projects. To date, the Company has not generated 
revenues from its principal activities and is considered to be in the exploration stage. 

 
The head office and principal address of the Company are located at Suite 2250, 1055 West Hastings 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 2E9. The registered and records office are located at Suite 
1510, 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 1H2. 

 
(b) Going concern 

 
These interim condensed financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting 
principles applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation 
for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of operation, and do not give effect to any adjustments which would be necessary should the 
Company be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those 
reflected in the accompanying interim condensed financial statements. 

 
The Company has not generated any revenues and has accumulated deficits of $80,960 (March 31, 
2024: $67,534) since inception. The Company incurred a net loss for the three months period ended 
June 30, 2024 of $13,426 (June 30, 2023: $13,820). The Company is not expected to generate cash 
inflow from its operation during the next twelve months and therefore must rely on securing additional 
funds from either debt or equity financings for cash consideration. 

 
The Company’s continuing operations are entirely dependent upon the existence of economically 
recoverable mineral reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete 
the exploration and development of its mineral property interests, and on future profitable production 
or proceeds from the disposition of the mineral property interests. These matters and conditions, 
primarily as a result of the conditions described above, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty 
that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as going concern. If the going 
concern assumption is not appropriate, material adjustments to the interim condensed financial 
statements could be required. 

 
2. Basis of presentation 

 
(a) Statement of compliance 

 
These unaudited interim condensed financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard 34, Interim Financial Reporting, as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). Accordingly, certain disclosures included in the March 31, 2024 
audited financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the IASB have been condensed or omitted and these unaudited interim 
condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial 
statements for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

 
The accounting policies applied in these interim condensed financial statements are consistent with 
those applied and disclosed in the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended March 
31, 2024. The Company’s interim results are not necessarily indicative of its results for a full year. 
These interim condensed financial statements were approved by the board of directors for issue on 
October 16, 2024. 
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2. Basis of presentation (continued) 
 

(b) Basis of measurement 
 

These interim condensed financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under 
the historical cost basis except for the financial instruments that are recorded at fair value. In addition, 
these interim condensed financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, except for cash flow information. 

 
(c) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations as of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

 
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

 
Impairment of E&E assets 

 
The Company reviews and assesses the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets for 
indicators of impairment when facts or circumstances suggest that the carrying amount is not 
recoverable. If impairment is indicated, the amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds 
the estimated fair value is charged to the statement of loss. 

 
Critical judgments in applying the Company’s accounting policies 

 
The following is the critical judgment, apart from those involving estimations that management have 
made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the interim condensed financial statements. 

 
Going concern 

 
Management has applied judgments in the assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern when preparing its interim condensed financial statements for the three months period ended 
June 30, 2024. Management prepares the interim condensed financial statements on a going concern 
basis unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, 
management takes into account all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not 
limited to, twelve months from the end of the reporting period. Management considered a wide range 
of factors relating to current and expected profitability, debt repayment schedules and potential 
sources of replacement financing. As a result of the assessment, management concluded the ultimate 
appropriateness of the use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern. 
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Adoption of New Accounting Standards and New Accounting Pronouncements 
 

The following amendments were adopted by the Company on April 1, 2024: 
 

a) Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) - the 
amendments require that an entity discloses its material accounting policies, instead of its 
significant accounting policies. Further amendments explain how an entity can identify a 
material accounting policy. 

 
b) Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) - the amendments replace the 

definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting estimates. Under 
the new definition, accounting estimates are “monetary amounts in consolidated financial 
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. Entities develop accounting 
estimates if accounting policies require items in consolidated financial statements to be 
measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty. The amendments clarify that a 
change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new developments is not 
the correction of an error. 

 
There was no impact on the Company’s interim condensed financial statements upon the adoption of 
these amendments. 

 
Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 

 
IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which will replace IAS 1, Presentation 
of Financial Statements aims to improve how companies communicate in their financial statements, 
with a focus on information about financial performance in the statement of profit or loss, in particular 
additional defined subtotals, disclosures about management-defined performance measures and new 
principles for aggregation and disaggregation of information. IFRS 18 is accompanied by limited 
amendments to the requirements in IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows. IFRS 18 is effective from January 
1, 2027. Companies are permitted to apply IFRS 18 before that date. 

 
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, to 
provide a more general approach to the presentation of liabilities as current or non‐current based on 
contractual arrangements in place at the reporting date. 
These amendments: 

 
• specify that the rights and conditions existing at the end of the reporting period are relevant in 

determining whether the Company has a right to defer settlement of a liability by at least twelve 
months; 

• provide that management’s expectations are not a relevant consideration as to whether the 
Company will exercise its rights to defer settlement of a liability; and 

• clarify when a liability is considered settled. 
 

On October 31, 2022, the IASB issued a deferral of the effective date for the new guidance by one 
year to annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024 and is to be applied 
retrospectively. The Company has not yet determined the impact of these amendments on its interim 
condensed financial statements. 
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4. Exploration and evaluation assets 

Terrace Property 

On June 29, 2022, the Company entered into an option agreement (the “Option Agreement") with 
Decade Resources Ltd. (the “Optionor” or “Decade”) to acquire a 100% interest in the Terrace Property 
(the “Property”). The option will be exercised by the Company over a period of four years by making 
the following payments and share issuances, and completing expenditures on the property of at least 
$2,000,000 by the fourth anniversary of the Company’s common shares being list (the “Listing Date”) 
on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “Exchange”). 

 
Dates Cash Shares Expenditures 

On signing of the Option Agreement $10,000 
(paid) 

  

On or before the 15th business day 
after the Listing Date $10,000 100,000  

On the 1st anniversary of the Listing Date $20,000 100,000 $50,000 
On the 2nd anniversary of the Listing 
Date $30,000 100,000 As recommended in the 43- 

101 report 
On the 3rd anniversary of the Listing 
Date $40,000 100,000 As recommended in the 43- 

101 report 
On the 4th anniversary of the Listing 
Date 

  As recommended in the 43- 
101 report 

Total $110,000 400,000 $2,000,000 
 

Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Company shall grant to the Optionor a 1% NSR royalty. The 
Company shall retain the right to purchase at any time from the Optionor for $500,000. In addition, the 
Company shall grant the optionors a 2% NSR royalty pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 
agreement dated as of July 2017 between Decade and Detour Gold Corporation. 

 
The schedule below outlines the costs incurred on the Property as at June 30, 2024: 

 
 

As at March 31 
2023 

Additions/ 
(Writedowns) 

As at March 31 
2024 

Additions/ 
(Writedowns) 

As at June 30 
2024 

 

$ $ $ $ $ 
Acquisition 

 Cash payment 10,000 - 10,000 - 10,000 

 10,000 - 10,000 - 10,000 

     
 Cumulative to 

March 31, 2023 
Expenditures 

during the year 
Cumulative to 

March 31, 2024 
Expenditures Cumulative to 

during the period June 30, 2024 
Exploration and evaluation  expenditures $ $ $ $ $ 

Assays and reports 4,844 10,624 15,468 - 15,468 
Geological consulting - 8,000 8,000 - 8,000 
Helicopter - 15,000 15,000 - 15,000 
Surveys and geophysics 24,245 38,500 62,745 - 62,745 
Travel and accommodation - 11,375 11,375 - 11,375 

Total exploration and evaluation expenditures 29,089 83,499 112,588 - 112,588 

 
5. 

 
Share capital 

    

(a) Authorized     
 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
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5. Share capital (continued) 
 

(b) Issued and outstanding 
 

As at June 30, 2024, there were 10,806,000 common shares issued and outstanding (March 31, 2024 
– 10,000,000). 

 
Fiscal 2025 

 
On June 6, 2024, at the discretion of the Company, 606,000 special warrants and 200,000 
compensation special warrants were into 806,000 common shares, without any additional 
compensation. 

 
Fiscal 2024 

 
On March 22, 2024, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement whereby the Company 
issued 4,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $200,000. 

 
On January 8, 2024, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement whereby the 
Company issued 2,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of 
$100,000. 

 
(c) Special Warrants 

Fiscal 2024 

During the year ended March 31, 2024, the Company completed a private placement of 606,000 of 
special warrants (each a “Special Warrant”) valued at CDN$0.05 per Special Warrant for total 
proceeds of $30,300 whereby each Special Warrant will convert into one common share of the 
Company (i) at any time, at the discretion of the Company, (ii) on the date on which the Company 
obtains the final receipt of a non-offering prospectus by the British Columbia Securities Commission, 
or (iii) the date that is 18 months from the date of issuance of the Special Warrant. Cash fees of $2,640 
and 200,000 Special Warrants valued at $10,000 have been paid in connection with the private 
placement. 

 
(d) Stock options (“Options”), Performance Share Units, Restricted Share Units and Deferred 

Share Units (“Performance-Based Award”) 
 

The Company has adopted an Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which is a rolling plan for 
Options and Performance-Based Awards such that the aggregate number of common shares issuable 
under the Plan (and all of the Company’s other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements) in 
respect of Options and Performance-Based Awards shall not exceed 20% of the Company’s then total 
issued and outstanding common shares calculated as at the date of any grant. 

 
As at June 30, 2024, none of the options and performance-based awards have been issued. 

 
6. Related party balances and transactions 

 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other 
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. 
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related 
party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. 

 
As of June 30, 2024, $Nil (March 31, 2024 - $Nil) was due to related  parties. 
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6. Related party balances and transactions (continued) 
 

Key management personnel include persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing, and controlling the activities of the Company as a whole. The Company has identified its 
directors and certain senior officers as its key management personnel and the compensation costs for 
key management personnel and companies related to them were recorded at their exchange amounts 
as agreed upon by transacting parties. 

 
As of June 30, 2024 and March 31, 2024, there were no amounts due to related parties. 

 
7. Financial instruments 

 
The Company is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary course 
of operations. The financial risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and 
other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company does not have any written risk management 
policies and guidelines. However, the board of directors meets regularly and co-operates closely with 
key management to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to manage financial risks. 
The Company has not used any derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes and does not 
hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The most significant risks to which 
the Company is exposed to are described below. 

 
(i) Currency risk 

Some of the operating expenses and cash held are denominated in foreign currencies and as such 
are subject to currency risk. The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments to 
mitigate this risk but the Company does not believe its net exposure to foreign exchange risk is 
significant as most funds are held by the Company in Canadian dollars. 

 
(ii) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk arises from the non-performance by counterparties of contractual financial obligations. The 
Company’s exposure to credit risk is limited to cash and cash equivalents. 

 
(iii) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Company has interest-bearing assets in relation to 
cash at banks. The Company’s operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in 
market interest rates. The Company has not used any financial instrument to hedge potential 
fluctuations in interest rates. The exposure to interest rates for the Company is considered minimal. 
The Company has no interest bearing borrowings. 

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been followed by the Company since prior years and 
are considered to be effective. 

 
(iv) Liquidity risk 

The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on management’s ability to raise 
required funding through future equity issuances. The Company had net current assets as at June 30, 
2024 of $249,112 (March 31, 2024: $262,538). The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting 
cash flows from operations and anticipating any investing and financing activities. Management and 
the board of directors are actively involved in the review, planning and approval of significant 
expenditures and commitments. 

 
The liquidity policies have been followed by the Company since prior years and are considered to have 
been effective in managing liquidity risk. 
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7. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(v) Fair value measurements 

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of 
financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial assets 
into three levels based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value 
of these financial assets. The fair value hierarchy has the following three levels: 

 
Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets; 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
Level 3 – inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset is categorized in its entirety is 
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

 
There have been no significant transfers between levels 1 and 2 in the respective reporting years. The 
methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged 
compared to the previous reporting years. Marketable securities are measured at fair value using level 
1. 

 
Financial instruments that are not measured at fair value are represented by cash and accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities. The fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying 
value due to their short-term nature. 

 
8. Capital risk management 

 
The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern so as to benefit from its operations to provide an adequate return for its shareholders. 

 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it based on the funds available 
to the Company in order to support the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties. 
The Company defines capital that it manages as its shareholders’ equity. The Board of Directors does 
not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise 
of the Company’s management to sustain future development of the business. 

 
The Company has historically relied on the equity markets to fund the acquisition, exploration and 
development of mineral properties. In addition, the Company is dependent upon external financings 
to fund activities. In order to carry out planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the 
Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional funds as needed. The Company 
will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels 
there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so. 

 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 

 
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
9. Subsequent events 

 
The Company is in the process of completing a non-offering final prospectus (the “Prospectus”) for the 
purposes of the Company becoming a reporting issuer pursuant to applicable securities legislation in 
the Provinces of British Columbia and Alberta. 
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9. Subsequent events (continued) 
 
 

On September 26, 2024, the Company entered into a Line of Credit Agreement with an arm’s length 
party. The Line of Credit Agreement provides for a revolving line of credit to the Company in the 
amount of $200,000 at an interest rate of 10% per annum from the date of the first advance which 
shall be payable monthly, with the full amount, including accrued interest, to be repaid on September 
26, 2026. 

 
 

On October 16, 2024, the Company entered into an escrow agreement between the Company, 
Endeavor Trust Corporation, and certain shareholders of the Company, whereby 2,600,000 common 
shares have been deposited in escrow. Upon the Company completing its Initial Public Offering, the 
Exchange will issue a bulletin announcing the final acceptance, and 25% of the common shares held 
pursuant to the escrow agreement shall immediately be released. An additional 25% of the escrowed 
common shares will be released on each six-month anniversary thereafter. 



 

SCHEDULE “B” MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

MD&A for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 2023 and for the period from 
incorporation on September 8, 2021 to March 31, 2022, along with the three months ended June 30, 
2024. 

 
 
 

(See MD&A attached.) 



 

 
 

PLUTO VENTURES INC. 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITIONS AND 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2024 AND 2023 



 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is dated October 16, 2024 and should be 
read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of Pluto Ventures Inc. (“Pluto” or the “Company”) 
for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, including the notes thereon. Pluto prepares its financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company. 

 
For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors, 
considers the materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results 
in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market price or value of Pluto 
common shares; or (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it 
important in making an investment decision; or (iii) if it would significantly alter the total mix of information 
available to investors. Management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors, evaluates materiality with 
reference to all relevant circumstances, including potential market sensitivity. 

 
Pluto’s financial statements, MD&A and all other continuous disclosure documents are filed with Canadian 
securities regulators and are available for review under the Pluto Ventures Inc. profile at 
www.sedarplus.com. 

 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 
Certain statements contained in the following MD&A constitute forward-looking statements. Such forward 
looking statements involve a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which 
may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from 
any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. 
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

 
Pluto was incorporated on September 8, 2021 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia. The 
Company is principally engaged in the business of acquiring, exploring and developing interests in mining 
projects. To date, the Company has not generated revenues from its principal activities and is considered 
to be in the exploration stage. 

 
The head office and principal address of the Company are located at Suite 2250, 1055 West Hastings 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 2E9. The registered and records office are located at Suite 
1510, 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 1H2. 

 
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 

 
The Company does not have any proposed transactions. 

 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 

 
Since its incorporation on September 8, 2021 the Company has focused on completing and filing a listing 
application on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “Exchange”) and has incurred expenses relevant to 
such activity during the year ended March 31, 2024 as characterized by filing fees, accounting fees, 
consulting fees and legal fees. 

 
Loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended March 31, 2024, was $58,583, which is further explained 
in “Discussion of Operations” below. 

http://www.sedarplus.com/


 

Summary of Exploration Expenditures 

Terrace Property 

On June 29, 2022, the company entered into an option agreement (the “Option Agreement") with Decade 
Resources Ltd. (the “Optionor” or “Decade”) to acquire a 100% interest in the Terrace Property (the 
“Property”). The option will be exercised by the Company over a period of four years by making the following 
payments and share issuances, and completing expenditures on the property of at least $2,000,000 by the 
fourth anniversary of the Company’s common shares being list (the “Listing Date”) on the Exchange. 

 
Dates Cash Shares Expenditures 

On signing of the Option Agreement $10,000 
(paid) 

  

On or before the 15th business day 
after the Listing Date $10,000 100,000  

On the 1st anniversary of the Listing Date $20,000 100,000 $50,000 

On the 2nd anniversary of the Listing 
Date $30,000 100,000 As recommended in the 43-101 

report 
On the 3rd anniversary of the Listing 
Date $40,000 100,000 As recommended in the 43-101 

report 
On the 4th anniversary of the Listing 
Date 

  As recommended in the 43-101 
report 

Total $110,000 400,000 $2,000,000 

 
Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Company shall grant to the Optionor a 1% NSR royalty. The 
Company shall retain the right to purchase at any time from the Optionor for $500,000. In addition, the 
Company shall grant the optionors a 2% NSR royalty pursuant to the terms and conditions of the agreement 
dated as of July 2017 between Decade and Detour Gold Corporation. 

 
The schedule below outlines the costs incurred on the Property as at March 31, 2024: 

 
 

As at March 31 
2022 

Additions/ 
(Writedowns) 

As at March 31 
2023 

Additions/ 
(Writedowns) 

As at March 31 
2024 

 

$ $ $ $ $ 
Acquisition 

Cash payment - 10,000 10,000 - 10,000 
- 10,000 10,000 - 10,000 

 
 

 Cumulative to  Expenditures 
March 31, 2022 during the year 

Cumulative to 
March 31, 2023 

Expenditures 
during the year 

Cumulative to 
March 31, 2024 

Exploration and evaluation  expenditures $ $ $ $ $ 
Assays and reports - 4,844 4,844 10,624 15,468 
Geological consulting - - - 8,000 8,000 
Helicopter - - - 15,000 15,000 
Surveys  and geophysics - 24,245 24,245 38,500 62,745 
Travel  and accommodation - - - 11,375 11,375 

Total exploration and evaluation  expenditures - 29,089 29,089 83,499 112,588 

 
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

    

 

The following table provides a brief summary of the Company’s financial operations for the three most 
recently completed financial years: 



 

 2024 2023 2022 
 $ $ $ 
Total Revenues - - - 
Net Loss (58,583) (6,447) (2,504) 
Comprehensive Loss (58,583) (6,447) (2,504) 
Loss Per Share – basic and diluted (0.013) (0.002) (0.000) 
Total Assets 456,615 124,581 - 
Total Long-term Financial Liabilities - - - 

 

The overall increase in comprehensive loss and total assets is mainly related to the Company’s listing 
described above, the exploration and in the accompanying financial statements of the Company. 

 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
Annual 

 

Key components of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended March 31, 2024 were as follows: 
 

• Accounting fees of $20,000 (2023: $Nil) relating to the year end audit of the Company; 
 

• Consulting fess of $13,750 (2023: $Nil) relating to consulting services of the crowd-funding; 
 

• Filing fees of $1,301 (2023: $Nil) relating to the continuous disclosure filings on SEDAR; and 
 

• Legal fees of $23,283 (2023: $6,104) relating to the Company’s legal fees for non-offering 
prospectus and Exchange listing. 

 
 
Fourth Quarter 2024 

 

Key components of loss and comprehensive loss for the three months ended March 31, 2024 were as 
follows: 

 
• Accounting fees of $20,000 (2023: $Nil) relating to the year end audit of the Company; 

 
• Filing fees of $590 (2023: $Nil) relating to the continuous disclosure filings on SEDAR; 

 
• General and administrative fees of $39 (2023: $18) relating to bank charges; and 

 
• Legal fees of $23,283 (2023: $6,059) relating to the Company’s legal fees for non-offering 

prospectus and Exchange listing. 
 
 
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

 
The following table sets out selected unaudited quarterly financial information of the Company for the eight 
most recently quarters of operation. This information is derived from unaudited quarterly financial 
statements prepared by management. The financial data for the quarters ended from April 1, 2022 to March 
31, 2024, are prepared in accordance with IFRS. 



 

 March 31, December 31, September June 30, March 31, December September June 30, 
2024 2023 30, 2023 2023 2023 31, 2022 30, 2022 2022 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Total Assets 456,615 155,617 156,399 128,807 124,581 124,599 139,049 134,946 
Working Capital 262,538 9,575 12,857 4,515 76,960 83,037 87,901 112,473 
Revenue - - - - - - - - 
Net Loss (43,913) (782) (68) (13,820) (6,077) (20) (327) (23) 
Loss per Share (0.01) (0.000) (0.000) (0.003) (0.002) (0.000) (0.000) (0.000) 

 

Overall, accounting fees, consulting fees, filing fees and legal fees were the major components that 
caused variances in net loss from quarter to quarter. During the quarter ended March 31, 2024, the 
major expenses of the Company were accounting fees of $20,000, filing fees $590, general and 
administration fees of $39 and legal fees of $23,283. 

 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
liabilities when due. The Company’s capital management approach is also disclosed in Note 9 of the 
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024. 

 
During the year ended March 31, 2024 the Company’s cash increased by $243,153 (2023: $84,272) 
primarily due to the Company’s non-brokered private placement. 

 
Fiscal 2024 

 
On September 21, 2023, the Company completed a private placement of 606,000 of special warrants (each 
a “Special Warrant”) valued at CDN$0.05 per Special Warrant for total proceeds of $30,300 whereby each 
Special Warrant will convert into one common share of the Company (i) at any time, at the discretion of the 
Company, (ii) on the date on which the Company obtains the final receipt of a non-offering prospectus by 
the British Columbia Securities Commission, or (iii) the date that is 18 months from the date of issuance of 
the Special Warrant. Cash fees of $2,640 and 200,000 Special Warrants valued at $10,000 have been paid 
in connection with the private placement. 

 
On March 22, 2024, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement whereby the Company 
issued 4,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $200,000. 

 
On January 8, 2024, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement whereby the Company 
issued 2,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $100,000. 

 
Fiscal 2023 

 
On June 10, 2022, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement whereby the Company 
issued 1,500,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of $75,000. 

 
On April 1, 2022, the Company issued 2,500,000 seed common shares of the Company at a price of $0.02 
per share for total proceeds of $50,000. 

 
Special Warrants 

 
The Company completed a private placement of 606,000 of special warrants (each a “Special Warrant”) 
valued at CDN$0.05 per Special Warrant for total proceeds of $30,300 whereby each Special Warrant will 
convert into one common share of the Company (i) at any time, at the discretion of the Company, (ii) on 
the date on which the Company obtains the final receipt of a non-offering prospectus by the British Columbia 
Securities Commission, or (iii) the date that is 18 months from the date of issuance of the Special Warrant. 



 

Cash fees of $2,640 and 200,000 Special Warrants valued at $10,000 have been paid in connection with 
the private placement. 

 
Stock options (“Options”), Performance Share Units, Restricted Share Units and Deferred 
Share Units (“Performance-Based Award”) 

 
The Company has adopted an Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which is a rolling plan for 
Options and Performance-Based Awards such that the aggregate number of common shares issuable 
under the Plan (and all of the Company’s other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements) in respect 
of Options and Performance-Based Awards shall not exceed 20% of the Company’s then total issued and 
outstanding common shares calculated as at the date of any grant. 

 
SUMMARY OF OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 

 
The Company’s issued and outstanding share capital as at the date of this report is as follows: 

 
1. Authorized: Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
2. The Company has 10,806,000 common shares issued and outstanding. 

 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 
There are no off-balance sheet arrangements. 

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other 
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. 
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party 
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. 

 
As of March 31, 2024, $Nil (March 31, 2023 - $Nil) was due to related parties. 

 
Key management personnel include persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing, 
and controlling the activities of the Company as a whole. The Company has identified its directors and 
certain senior officers as its key management personnel and the compensation costs for key management 
personnel and companies related to them were recorded at their exchange amounts as agreed upon by 
transacting parties. 

 
During the year ended March 31, 2024, $Nil (March 31, 2023 - $Nil) was recognized as share-based 
payments arising from stock options granted to key management. 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
The Company is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary course 
of operations. The financial risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company does not have any written risk management policies 
and guidelines. However, the board of directors meets regularly and co-operates closely with key 
management to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to manage financial risks. The 
Company has not used any derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes and does not hold or 
issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The most significant risks to which the 
Company is exposed to are described below. 

 
(i) Currency risk 

 
Some of the operating expenses and cash held are denominated in foreign currencies and as such are 
subject to currency risk. The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments to mitigate this 



 

risk but the Company does not believe its net exposure to foreign exchange risk is significant as most 
funds are held by the Company in Canadian dollars. 

 
(ii) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the non-performance by counterparties of contractual financial obligations. The 
Company’s credit risk arises primarily with respect to subscription receivables from private placements. 

 
(iii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Company has interest-bearing assets in relation to cash at 
banks. The Company’s operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest 
rates. The Company has not used any financial instrument to hedge potential fluctuations in interest 
rates. The exposure to interest rates for the Company is considered minimal. The Company has no 
interest bearing borrowings. 

The policies to manage interest rate risk have been followed by the Company since prior years and are 
considered to be effective. 

 
(iv) Liquidity risk 

The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on management’s ability to raise 
required funding through future equity issuances. The Company had net current assets as at March  
31, 2024 of $262,538 (2023: $76,960). The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash 
flows from operations and anticipating any investing and financing activities.  Management and  the 
board of directors are actively involved in the review, planning and approval of significant expenditures 
and commitments. 

 
The liquidity policies have been followed by the Company since prior years and are considered to have 
been effective in managing liquidity risk. 

 
(v) Fair value measurements 

 
The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of 
financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial assets into 
three levels based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these 
financial assets. The fair value hierarchy has the following three levels: 

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets; 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
Level 3 – inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset is categorized in its entirety is based 
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 

 
There have been no significant transfers between levels 1 and 2 in the respective reporting years. The 
methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged compared 
to the previous reporting years. Marketable securities are measured at fair value using level  1. 

 
Financial instruments that are not measured at fair value are represented by cash and accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities. The fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying value due 
to their short-term nature. 



 

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern so as to benefit from its operations to provide an adequate return for its shareholders. 

 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it based on the funds available to 
the Company in order to support the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties. The 
Company defines capital that it manages as its shareholders’ equity. The Board of Directors does not 
establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the 
Company’s management to sustain future development of the business. 

 
The Company has historically relied on the equity markets to fund the acquisition, exploration and 
development of mineral properties. In addition, the Company is dependent upon external financings to 
fund activities. In order to carry out planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the Company will 
spend its existing working capital and raise additional funds as needed. The Company will continue to 
assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels there is sufficient 
geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate financial resources to do so. 

 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 

 
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
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INTRODUCTION 
 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) is dated October 16, 2024 and should be read 
in conjunction with the unaudited interim condensed financial statements of Pluto Ventures Inc. (“Pluto” or the 
“Company”) for the three months period ended June 30, 2024, and the audited financial statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, including the notes thereon. Pluto prepares its financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional 
currency of the Company. 

 
For the purposes of preparing this MD&A, management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors, considers 
the materiality of information. Information is considered material if: (i) such information results in, or would 
reasonably be expected to result in, a significant change in the market price or value of Pluto common shares; 
or (ii) there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in making an 
investment decision; or (iii) if it would significantly alter the total mix of information available to investors. 
Management, in conjunction with the Board of Directors, evaluates materiality with reference to all relevant 
circumstances, including potential market sensitivity. 

 
Pluto’s financial statements, MD&A and all other continuous disclosure documents are filed with Canadian 
securities regulators and are available for review under the Pluto Ventures Inc. profile  at  
www.sedarplus.com. 

 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 

Certain statements contained in the following MD&A constitute forward-looking statements. Such forward 
looking statements involve a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may 
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future 
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Readers are 
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

 
Pluto was incorporated on September 8, 2021 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia. The 
Company is principally engaged in the business of acquiring, exploring and developing interests in mining 
projects. To date, the Company has not generated revenues from its principal activities and is considered to be 
in the exploration stage. 

 
The head office and principal address of the Company are located at Suite 2250, 1055 West Hastings Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 2E9. The registered and records office are located at Suite 1510, 789 
West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 1H2. 

 
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 

 
The Company does not have any proposed  transactions. 

 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 

 
Since its incorporation on September 8, 2021, the Company has focused on completing and filing a listing 
application on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “Exchange”) and has incurred expenses relevant to such 
activity during the year ended March 31, 2024 as characterized by filing fees, accounting fees, consulting fees 
and legal fees. 

 
Loss  and comprehensive  loss  for  the  three  months period  ended June  30,  2024,  was  $13,426  (2023 - 
$13,820), which is further explained in “Discussion of Operations”  below. 

http://www.sedarplus.com/
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Summary of Exploration Expenditures 

Terrace Property 

On June 29, 2022, the company entered into an option agreement (the “Option Agreement") with Decade 
Resources Ltd. (the “Optionor” or “Decade”) to acquire a 100% interest in the Terrace Property (the “Property”). 
The option will be exercised by the Company over a period of four years by making the following payments and 
share issuances, and completing expenditures on the property of at least $2,000,000 by the fourth anniversary 
of the Company’s common shares being list (the “Listing Date”) on the  Exchange. 

 
Dates Cash Shares Expenditures 

On signing of the Option Agreement $10,000 (paid)   

On or before the 15th business day 
after the Listing Date $10,000 100,000  

On the 1st  anniversary of the Listing Date $20,000 100,000 $50,000 

On the 2nd  anniversary of the Listing Date $30,000 100,000 As recommended in the 43-101 
report 

On the 3rd  anniversary of the Listing Date $40,000 100,000 As recommended in the 43-101 
report 

On the 4th anniversary of the Listing Date   As recommended in the 43-101 
report 

Total $110,000 400,000 $2,000,000 
 

Pursuant to the Option Agreement, the Company shall grant to the Optionor a 1% NSR royalty. The Company 
shall retain the right to purchase at any time from the Optionor for $500,000. In addition, the Company shall 
grant the optionors a 2% NSR royalty pursuant to the terms and conditions of the agreement dated as of July 
2017 between Decade and Detour Gold Corporation. 

 
The schedule below outlines the costs incurred on the Property as at June 30,  2024: 

 
 

As at March 31 
2023 

Additions/ 
(Writedowns) 

As at March 31 
2024 

Additions/ 
(Writedowns) 

As at June 30 
2024 

 

$ $ $ $ $ 
Acquisition 

Cash payment 10,000 - 10,000 - 10,000 

 10,000 - 10,000 - 10,000 

     

 Cumulative to 
March 31, 2023 

Expenditures 
during the year 

Cumulative to 
March 31, 2024 

Expenditures Cumulative to 
during the period June 30, 2024 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures $ $ $ $ $ 
Assays and reports 4,844 10,624 15,468 - 15,468 
Geological consulting - 8,000 8,000 - 8,000 
Helicopter - 15,000 15,000 - 15,000 
Surveys and geophysics 24,245 38,500 62,745 - 62,745 
Travel and accommodation - 11,375 11,375 - 11,375 

Total exploration and evaluation expenditures 29,089 83,499 112,588 - 112,588 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

    

 

Key components of loss and comprehensive loss for the three months period ended June 30, 2024 were as 
follows: 

 
• Legal fees of $10,675 (2023: $Nil) relating to the Company’s legal fees for non-offering prospectus 

and Exchange listing; and 
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• Transfer agent fees of $2,730 (2023: $Nil) relating to treasury order  processing. 
 

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 
 

The following table sets out selected unaudited quarterly financial information of the Company for the eight 
most recently quarters of operation. This information is derived from unaudited quarterly financial statements 
prepared by management. The financial data for the quarters ended from September 30, 2022 to June 30, 
2024, are prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

 
 June 30, March 31, December September June 30, March 31, December September 

2024 2024 31, 2023 30, 2023 2023 2023 31, 2022 30, 2022 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Total Assets 430,440 456,615 155,617 156,399 128,807 124,581 124,599 139,049 
Working Capital 249,112 262,538 9,575 12,857 4,515 76,960 83,037 87,901 
Revenue - - - - - - - - 
Net Loss (13,426) (43,913) (782) (68) (13,820) (6,077) (20) (327) 
Loss per Share (0.001) (0.01) (0.000) (0.000) (0.003) (0.002) (0.000) (0.000) 

 
Overall, accounting fees, filing fees and legal fees were the major components that caused variances in net 
loss from quarter to quarter. During the three months period ended June 30, 2024, the major expenses of the 
Company were legal fees of $10,675 and transfer agent fees of  $2,730. 

 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 
liabilities when due. The Company’s capital management approach is also disclosed in Note 8 of the financial 
statements for the three months period ended June 30, 2024. 

 
During the quarter ended June 30, 2024 the Company’s cash decreased by $26,847 (2023: $27,467) primarily 
due to the Company’s non-offering prospectus and Exchange listing. 

 
Fiscal 2025 

 
On June 6, 2024, at the discretion of the Company, 606,000 special warrants and 200,000 compensation special 
warrants were into 806,000 common shares, without any additional compensation. 

 
Fiscal 2024 

 
On September 21, 2023, the Company completed a private placement of 606,000 of special warrants (each  
a “Special Warrant”) valued at CDN$0.05 per Special Warrant for total proceeds of $30,300 whereby each 
Special Warrant will convert into one common share of the Company (i) at any time, at the discretion of the 
Company, (ii) on the date on which the Company obtains the final receipt of a non-offering prospectus by the 
British Columbia Securities Commission, or (iii) the date that is 18 months from the date of issuance of the 
Special Warrant. Cash fees of $2,640 and 200,000 Special Warrants valued at $10,000 have been paid in 
connection with the private placement. 

 
On March 22, 2024, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement whereby the Company issued 
4,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of  $200,000. 

 
On January 8, 2024, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement whereby the Company 
issued 2,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.05 per share for gross proceeds of  $100,000. 

 
Special Warrants 

 
During the year ended March 31, 2024, he Company completed a private placement of 606,000 of special 
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warrants (each a “Special Warrant”) valued at CDN$0.05 per Special Warrant for total proceeds of $30,300 
whereby each Special Warrant will convert into one common share of the Company (i) at any time, at the 
discretion of the Company, (ii) on the date on which the Company obtains the final receipt of a non-offering 
prospectus by the British Columbia Securities Commission, or (iii) the date that is 18 months from the date   
of issuance of the Special Warrant. 

 
Cash fees of $2,640 and 200,000 Special Warrants valued at $10,000 have been paid in connection with the 
private placement. 

 
On June 6, 2024, at the discretion of the Company, 606,000 special warrants and 200,000 compensation special 
warrants were into 806,000 common shares, without any additional compensation. 

 
Stock options (“Options”), Performance Share Units, Restricted Share Units and Deferred Share Units 
(“Performance-Based Award”) 

 
The Company has adopted an Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which is a rolling plan for Options 
and Performance-Based Awards such that the aggregate number of common shares issuable under the Plan 
(and all of the Company’s other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements) in respect of Options and 
Performance-Based Awards shall not exceed 20% of the Company’s then total issued and outstanding 
common shares calculated as at the date of any grant. 

 
As at June 30, 2024, none of the options and performance-based awards have been  issued. 

 
SUMMARY OF OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 

 
The Company’s issued and outstanding share capital as at the date of this report is as   follows: 

 
1. Authorized: Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
2. The Company has 10,806,000 common shares issued and outstanding. 

 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 
There are no off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 
RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS 

 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties 
may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when 
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related  parties. 

 
As of June 30, 2024, $Nil (March 31, 2024 - $Nil) was due to related  parties. 

 
Key management personnel include persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and 
controlling the activities of the Company as a whole. The Company has identified its directors and certain 
senior officers as its key management personnel and the compensation costs for key management personnel 
and companies related to them were recorded at their exchange amounts as agreed upon by transacting 
parties. 

 
During the three months period ended June 30, 2024, $Nil (June 30, 2023 - $Nil) was recognized as share- 
based payments arising from stock options granted to key management. 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
The Company is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial instruments in its ordinary course of 
operations.  The financial risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other   price 
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risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company does not have any written risk management policies and 
guidelines. However, the board of directors meets regularly and co-operates closely with key management  
to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to manage financial risks. The Company has not 
used any derivatives or other instruments for hedging purposes and does not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes. The most significant risks to which the Company is exposed to  are 
described below. 

 
(i) Currency risk 

 
Some of the operating expenses and cash held are denominated in foreign currencies and as such are subject 
to currency risk. The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments to mitigate this risk but the 
Company does not believe its net exposure to foreign exchange risk is significant as most funds are held by the 
Company in Canadian dollars. 

 
(ii) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk arises from the non-performance by counterparties of contractual financial obligations. The 
Company’s credit risk arises primarily with respect to subscription receivables from private  placements. 

 
(iii) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Company has interest-bearing assets in relation to cash at banks. The 
Company’s operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The 
Company has not used any financial instrument to hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates. The exposure 
to interest rates for the Company is considered minimal. The Company has no interest bearing  borrowings. 

 
The policies to manage interest rate risk have been followed by the Company since prior years and are 
considered to be effective. 

 
(iv) Liquidity risk 

 
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on management’s ability to raise required 
funding through future equity issuances. The Company had net current assets as at June 30, 2024 of 
$249,112 (March 31, 2024: $262,538). The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from 
operations and anticipating any investing and financing activities. Management and the board of directors  
are actively involved in the review, planning and approval of significant expenditures and  commitments. 

 
The liquidity policies have been followed by the Company since prior years and are considered to have been 
effective in managing liquidity risk. 

 
(v) Fair value measurements 

 
The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial 
position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial assets into three levels 
based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these financial assets. 
The fair value hierarchy has the following three levels: 

 
Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets; 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
Level 3 – inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable  inputs). 

 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset is categorized in its entirety is based on the 
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value  measurement. 
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There have been no significant transfers between levels 1 and 2 in the respective reporting years. The 
methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged compared to 
the previous reporting years. Marketable securities are measured at fair value using level  1. 

 
Financial instruments that are not measured at fair value are represented by cash and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities. The fair value of these financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their 
short-term nature. 

 
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The Company’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern so as to benefit from its operations to provide an adequate return for its  shareholders. 

 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it based on the funds available to the 
Company in order to support the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral properties. The 
Company defines capital that it manages as its shareholders’ equity. The Board of Directors does not 
establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the 
Company’s management to sustain future development of the business. 

 
The Company has historically relied on the equity markets to fund the acquisition, exploration and development 
of mineral properties. In addition, the Company is dependent upon external financings to fund activities. In 
order to carry out planned exploration and pay for administrative costs, the Company will spend its existing 
working capital and raise additional funds as needed. The Company will continue to assess new properties and 
seek to acquire an interest in additional properties if it feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential 
and if it has adequate financial resources to do  so. 

 
Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 
given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 

 
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 



 

SCHEDULE “C” 
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 



 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

PLUTO VENTURES INC. 
(the “Company”) 

 
1. OVERALL PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES 

 
The Audit Committee will assist the directors (the “Directors”) of the Company in fulfilling their 
responsibilities under applicable legal and regulatory requirements. To the extent considered appropriate 
by the Audit Committee or as required by applicable legal or regulatory requirements, the Audit Committee 
will review the financial reporting process of the Company, the system of internal controls and management 
of the financial risks of the Company and the audit process of the financial information of the Company. In 
fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit Committee should maintain an effective working relationship with 
the Directors, management of the Company and the external auditor of the Company as well as monitor the 
independence of the externalauditor. 

 
2. AUTHORITY 

 
(a) The Audit Committee shall have the authorityto: 

 
(i) engage independent counsel and other advisors as the Audit Committee determines 

necessary to carry out its duties; 
(ii) set and pay the compensation for any advisors employed by the Audit Committee; 
(iii) communicate directly with the internal and external auditor of the Audit Committee and 

require that the external auditor of the Company report directly to the Audit Committee; 
and 

(iv) seek any information considered appropriate by the Audit Committee from any employee 
of the Company. 

 
(b) The Audit Committee shall have unrestricted and unfettered access to all personnel and documents 

of the Company and shall be provided with the resources reasonably necessary to fulfill its 
responsibilities. 

 
3. MEMBERSHIP AND ORGANIZATION 

 
(a) The Audit Committee will be composed of at least three members. The members of the Audit 

Committee shall be appointed by the Directors to serve one-year terms and shall be permitted to 
serve an unlimited number of consecutive terms. The majority of the members of the Audit 
Committee must be Directors who are independent and financially literate to the extent required by 
(and subject to the exemptions and other provisions set out in) applicable laws, rules and 
regulations, and stock exchange requirements (“Applicable Laws”). In this Charter, the terms 
“independent” and “financially literate” have the meaning ascribed to such terms by Applicable 
Laws, and include the meanings given to similar terms by Applicable Laws, including in the case 
of the term “independent” the terms “outside” and “unrelated” to the extent such latter terms are 
applicable under Applicable Laws. 

 
(b) The chairman of the Audit Committee will be an independent Director and will be appointed by 

the Audit Committee from time to time and must have such accounting or related financial 
management expertise as the Directors may determine in their business judgment. 



 

(c) The secretary of the Audit Committee will be the chosen by the Audit Committee. 
 

(d) The Audit Committee may invite such persons to meetings of the Audit Committee as the Audit 
Committee considers appropriate, except to the extent exclusion of certain persons is required 
pursuant to this Charter or Applicable Laws. 

 
(e) The Audit Committee may invite the external auditor of the Company to be present at any meeting 

of the Audit Committee and to comment on any financial statements, or on any of the financial 
aspects, of the Company. 

 
(f) The Audit Committee will meet as considered appropriate or desirable by the Audit Committee. 

Any member of the Audit Committee or the external auditor of the Company may call a meeting 
of the Audit Committee at any time upon 48 hours’ prior written notice. 

 
(g) All decisions of the Audit Committee shall be by simple majority and the chairman of the Audit 

Committee shall not have a deciding or castingvote. 
 

(h) Minutes shall be kept in respect of the proceedings of all meetings of the Audit Committee. 
 

(i) No business shall be transacted by the Audit Committee except at a meeting of the members thereof 
at which a majority of the members thereof ispresent. 

 
(j) The Audit Committee may transact its business by a resolution in writing signed by all the members 

of the Audit Committee in lieu of a meeting of the Audit Committee. 
 

4. ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

To the extent considered appropriate or desirable or required by applicable legal or regulatory 
requirements, the Audit Committee shall: 

 
(a) recommend to the Directors 

 
(i) the external auditor to be nominated for the purpose of preparing or issuing an 

auditor's report on the annual financial statements of the Company or performing 
other audit, review or attest services for the Company,and 

 
(ii) the compensation to be paid to the external auditor of the Company; 

 
(b) review the proposed audit scope and approach of the external auditor of the Company and 

ensure no unjustifiable restriction or limitations have been placed on the scope of the 
proposed audit; 

 
(c) meet separately and periodically with the management of the Company, the external 

auditor of the Company and the internal auditor (or other personnel responsible for the 
internal audit function of the Company) of the Company to discuss any matters that the 
Audit Committee, the external auditor of the Company or the internal auditor of the 
Company, respectively, believes should be discussed privately; 

 
(d) be directly responsible for overseeing the work of the external auditor engaged for the 

purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor's report on the annual financial    statements of 



 

the Company or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Company, 
including the resolution of disagreements between management of the Company and the 
external auditor of the Company regarding any financial reporting matter and review the 
performance of the external auditor of the Company; 

 
(e) review judgmental areas, for example those involving a valuation of the assets and 

liabilities and other commitments and contingencies of the Company; 
 

(f) review audit issues related to the material associated and affiliated entities of the Company 
that may have a significant impact on the equity investment therein of the Company; 

 
(g) meet with management and the external auditor of the Company to review the annual 

financial statements of the Company and the results of the audit thereof; 
 

(h) review and determine if internal control recommendations made by the external auditor of 
the Company have been implemented by management of the Company; 

 
(i) pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided to the Company or any subsidiary entities 

thereof by the external auditor of the Company and, to the extent considered appropriate: 
 

(i) adopt specific policies and procedures in accordance with Applicable Laws for the 
engagement of such non-audit services; and/or 

 
(ii) delegate to one or more independent members of the Audit Committee the 

authority to pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided to the Company or 
any subsidiary entities thereof by the external auditor of the Company provided 
that the other members of the Audit Committee are informed of each such non- 
audit service; 

 
(j) consider the qualification and independence of the external auditor of the Company, 

including reviewing the range of services provided by the external auditor of the Company 
in the context of all consulting services obtained by the Company; 

 
(k) consider the fairness of the Interim Financial Report and financial disclosure of the 

Company and review with management of the Companywhether, 
 

(i) actual financial results for the interim period varied significantly from budgeted or 
projected results, 

 
(ii) generally accepted accounting principles have been consistently applied, 

 
(iii) there are any actual or proposed changes in accounting or financial reporting 

practices of the Company, and 
 

(iv) there are any significant or unusual events or transactions which require disclosure 
and, if so, consider the adequacy of thatdisclosure; 

 
(l) review the financial statements of the Company, management's discussion and analysis and 

any annual and interim earnings press releases of the Company before the Company 



 

publicly discloses such information and discuss these documents with the external auditor 
and with management of the Company, as appropriate; 

 
(m) review and be satisfied that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the public 

disclosure of the Company of financial information extracted or derived from the financial 
statements of the Company, other than the public disclosure referred to in paragraph 4(l) 
above, and periodically assess the adequacy of those procedures; 

 
(n) establish procedures for, 

 
(i) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company 

regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, and 
 

(ii) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of 
concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters relating to the 
Company; 

 
(o) review and approve the hiring policies of the Company regarding partners, employees and 

former partners and employees of the present and any former external auditor of the 
Company; 

 
(p) review the areas of greatest financial risk to the Company and whether management of the 

Company is managing these riskseffectively; 
 

(q) review significant accounting and reporting issues, including recent professional and 
regulatory pronouncements, and consider their impact on the financial statements of the 
Company; 

 
(r) review any legal matters which could significantly impact the financial statements of the 

Company as reported on by counsel and meet with counsel to the Company whenever 
deemed appropriate; 

 
(s) institute special investigations and, if appropriate, hire special counsel or experts to assist 

in such special investigations; 
 

(t) at least annually, obtain and review a report prepared by the external auditor of the 
Company describing: 

 
the firm's quality-control procedures; 

 
any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review or peer review 
of the firm or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities, 
within the preceding five years, in respect of one or more independent audits carried out 
by the firm, and any steps taken to deal with any suchissues; 

 
and (to assess the auditor's independence) all relationships between the independent auditor 
and the Company; 

 
(u) review with the external auditor of the Company any audit problems or difficulties and 

management's response to such problems ordifficulties; 



 

(v) discuss the Company's earnings press releases, as well as financial information and 
earning guidance provided to analysts and rating agencies, if applicable; and 

 
(w) review this charter and recommend changes to this charter to the Directors from time to 

time. 
 

5. COMMUNICATION WITH THEDIRECTORS 
 

(a) The Audit Committee shall produce and provide the Directors with a written summary of 
all actions taken at each Audit Committee meeting or by written resolution. 

 
(b) The Audit Committee shall produce and provide the Directors with all reports or other 

information required to be prepared under Applicable Laws. 
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PLUTO VENTURES INC. 

(the “Company”) 

EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN 

SECTION 1 
ESTABLISHMENT AND PURPOSE OF THIS PLAN 

 

1.1 Purpose 
 

The purpose of this equity incentive plan (the “Plan”) is to promote the long-term success of the 
Company and the creation of shareholder value by: (i) encouraging the attraction and retention of 
Eligible Persons; (ii) encouraging such Eligible Persons to focus on critical long-term objectives; and 
(iii) promoting greater alignment of the interests of such Eligible Persons with the interests of the 
Company. 

 
SECTION 2 

DEFINITIONS 
 

2.1 Definitions 
 

As used in this Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below: 
 

(a) “Award” means any award of Options, RSUs, PSUs or DSUs granted under this Plan; 
 

(b) “Award Agreement” means any written agreement, contract, or other instrument or 
document, including an electronic communication, as may from time to time be designated 
by the Company as evidencing any Award granted under this Plan; 

 
(c) “Blackout Period” means a period of time during which the Company prohibits Participants 

from exercising, redeeming or settling an Award due to the existence of undisclosed material 
information and pursuant to a formal notice provided by the Company under a trading policy, 
which Blackout Period must expire promptly following general disclosure of the undisclosed 
material information; 

 
(d) “Board” means the board of directors of the Company or, if the context permits, any of its 

Subsidiaries, asapplicable; 
 

(e) “Change of Control” means the acquisition by any person or by any person and a joint actor, 
whether directly or indirectly, of voting securities (as such terms are interpreted in the 
Securities Act) of the Company, which, when added to all other voting securities of the 
Company at the time held by such person or by such person and a person “acting jointly or 
in concert” with another person, as that phrase is interpreted in National Instrument 62-103, 
totals for the first time not less than fifty (50%) percent of the outstanding voting securities 
of the Company or the votes attached to those securities are sufficient, if exercised, to elect 
a majority of the Board; 

 
(f) “Company” means Pluto Ventures Inc., a company incorporated under the Business 

Corporations Act (British Columbia), and any of its successors orassigns; 
 

(g) “Consultant” means a Person (other than a Director, Officer or Employee) that: 
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(i) is engaged to provide, on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, 
management or other services to the Company or any Subsidiary of the 
Company, other than services provided in relation to a distribution (as defined 
in the Securities Act); 

 
(ii) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or any of 

its Subsidiaries and the Person, as the case may be; and 
 

(iii) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant 
amount of time on the affairs and business of the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries; 

 
and includes: 

 
(iv) for a Person that is an individual, a corporation of which such individual is the 

sole shareholder; 
 

(h) “Deferred Share Unit” or “DSU” means a right granted to a Participant, as 
compensation for employment or consulting services or services as a Director or 
Officer, to receive, for no additional cash consideration, securities of the Company on 
a deferred basis upon specified vesting criteria being satisfied, all as provided in Section 
5.4 hereof and subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan and the applicable 
Award Agreement, and which may be paid in cash and/or Shares; 

 
(i) “Determination Date” means a date determined by the Board in its sole discretion but 

not later than 90 days after the expiry of a Performance Cycle; 
 

(j) “Director” means a member of the Company’s Board or the Board of any of its 
Subsidiaries; 

 
(k) “Disability” means any medical condition which qualifies a Participant for benefits 

under a long-term disability plan of the Company or Subsidiary; 
 

(l) “Effective Date” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 8; 
 

(m) “Election Form” means the form to be completed by a Director specifying the amount 
of Fees he or she wishes to receive in DSUs under this Plan; 

 
(n) “Eligible Person”, when used in connection with Options, means Officers, Directors, 

Employees, Management Company Employees and Consultants of the Company or any 
of its Subsidiaries but, when used in connection with PSUs, RSUs or DSUs, means only 
Officers, Directors, Employees, Management Company Employees and Consultants of 
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that do not perform Investor Relations Activities; 

 
(o) “Employee” means: 

 
(i) an individual who is considered an employee of the Company or any of its 

Subsidiaries under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and for whom income tax, 
employment insurance and Canada Pension Plan deductions must be made at 



 

3 
 
 

source; 
 

(ii) an individual who works full-time for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries 
providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the 
same control and direction by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries over the 
details and methods of work as an employee of the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries, as the case may be, but for whom income tax deductions are not 
made at source; or 

 
(iii) an individual who works for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries on a 

continuing and regular basis for a minimum amount of time per week 
acceptable to the Exchange, who provides services normally provided by an 
employee and is subject to the same control and direction by the Company or 
its Subsidiary over the details and methods of work as an employee of the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, but for whom income 
tax deductions are not made atsource; 

 
(p) “Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange, or such other exchange upon which 

the Shares of the Company may become listed fortrading; 
 

(q) “Fees” means the annual Board retainer, chair fees, meeting attendance fees or any 
other fees payable to a Director; 

 
(r) “Grant Date” means, for any Award, the date specified by the Board as the grant date 

at the time it grants the Award or, if no such date is specified, the date upon which the 
Award was actually granted; 

 
(s) “Insider” has the meaning attributed to it in the Securities Act; 

 
(t) “Investor Relations Activities” means any activities, by or on behalf of the Company or 

a shareholder of the Company, that promote or reasonably could be expected to 
promote the purchase or sale of securities of the Company, but does notinclude: 

 
(i) the dissemination of information provided, or records prepared, in the 

ordinary course of business of theCompany: 
 

(A) to promote the sale of products or services of the Company or 
 

(B) to raise public awareness of theCompany, 
 

that cannot reasonably be considered to promote the purchase or sale of 
securities of the Company; 

 
(ii) activities or communications necessary to comply with the requirements of: 
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(A) applicable securities laws;or 

 
(B) Exchange requirements or the by-laws, rules or other regulatory instruments 

of any other self-regulatory body or exchange having jurisdiction over the 
Company; 

 
(iii) communications by a publisher of, or writer for, a newspaper, magazine or business 

or financial publication, that is of general and regular paid circulation, distributed 
only to subscribers to it for value or to purchasers of it, if: 

 
(A) the communication is only through the newspaper, magazine or publication; 

and 
 

(B) the publisher or writer receives no commission or other consideration other 
than for acting in the capacity of publisher or writer; or 

 
(iv) activities or communications that may be otherwise specified by the Exchange; 

 
(u) “Investor Relations Service Provider” includes any Consultant that performs Investor 

Relations Activities and any Director, Officer, Employee or Management Company Employee 
whose role and duties primarily consist of Investor Relations Activities; 

 
(v) “Management Company Employee” means an individual employed by a company providing 

management services to the Company, which services are required for the ongoing 
successful operation of the Company’s business enterprise; 

 
(w) “Market Price” means, subject to the exceptions prescribed by the Exchange from time to 

time, the last closing price of the Company’s shares before the issuance of the required news 
release disclosing the grant of Awards (but, if the policies of the Exchange provide an 
exception to such news release, then the last closing price of the Company’s shares before 
the Grant Date); 

 
(x) “Market Unit Price” means the value of a Share determined by reference to the five-day 

volume-weighted average closing price of a Share for the five Trading Day period 
immediately preceding the relevantdate; 

 
(aa) “Officer” means an officer (as defined in the Securities Act or, where the Securities Act does not 

apply, by other applicable securities laws) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; 
 

(bb) “Option” means incentive share purchase options entitling the holder thereof to purchase 
Shares at a specified price for a specified period of time; 

 
(cc) “Participant” means any Eligible Person to whom Awards under this Plan are granted; 

 
(dd) “Participant’s Account” means a notional account maintained for each Participant’s 

participation in this Plan which will show any RSUs, PSUs and/or DSUs credited to a 
Participant from time to time; 

 
(ee) “Performance-Based Award” means, collectively or as applicable, Performance Share Units, 

Restricted Share Units and Deferred Share Units; 



 

5 

 
(ff) “Performance Criteria” means criteria established by the Board which, without limitation, may 

include criteria based on the Participant’s personal performance and/or financial 
performance of the Company and its Subsidiaries, and that are to be used to determine the 
vesting of Performance Share Units; 

 
(gg) “Performance Cycle” means the applicable performance cycle of the Performance Share Units 

as may be specified by the Board in the applicable Award Agreement; 
 

(hh) “Performance Share Unit” or “PSU” means a right awarded to a Participant, as compensation 
for employment or consulting services or services as a Director or Officer, to receive, for no 
additional cash consideration, securities of the Company upon specified vesting criteria being 
satisfied, all as provided in Section 5.3 hereof and subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Plan and the applicable Award Agreement, and which may be paid in cash and/orShares; 

 
(ii) “Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, association, joint-stock company, 

trust, unincorporated organization, or governmental authorityorbody; 
 

(jj)  “Restriction Period” means the time period between the Grant Date and the Vesting Date of   
an Award of Restricted Share Units specified by the Board in the applicable Award 
Agreement, which period shall be no less than 12 months; 

 
(kk) “Restricted Share Unit” or “RSU” means a right awarded to a Participant, as compensation for 

employment or consulting services or services as a Director or Officer, to receive for no 
additional cash consideration, securities of the Company upon specified vesting criteria being 
satisfied, all as provided in Section 5.2 hereof and subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Plan and the applicable Award Agreement, and which may be paid in cash and/orShares; 

 
(ll) ‘‘Retirement” means retirement from active employment with the Company or a Subsidiary with 

the consent of an officer of the Company or the Subsidiary; 

(mm)  “Securities Act” means the Securities Act (British Columbia), as amended, from time to time; 

(nn) “Security-Based Compensation Arrangement” shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in 
the rules and policies of the Exchange, or in the event that such term is not defined in the 
rules and policies of the Exchange, shall mean a stock option plan, including the Plan, 
employee stock purchase plan, long-term incentive plan or any other compensation or 
incentive mechanism involving the issuance or potential issuance of Shares to one or more 
full-time employees, officers, Insiders, service providers or Consultants of the Company or a 
Subsidiary, including a share purchase from treasury by a full-time employee, officer, Insider, 
service provider or Consultant which is financially assisted by the Company or a Subsidiary 
by way of loan, guarantee orotherwise; 

 
(oo) “Shares” means the common shares of the Company; 

 
(pp) “Subsidiary” means a corporation, company or partnership that is controlled, directly or 

indirectly, by the Company; 
 

(qq) “Termination Date” means,asapplicable: 
 

(i) in the event of a Participant’s Retirement, voluntary termination, voluntary 
resignation or termination of employment as a result of a Disability, the date on 
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which such Participant ceases to be an employee of the Company or a Subsidiary; 
and 

 
(ii) in the event of termination of the Participant’s employment by the Company or a 

Subsidiary, the date on which such Participant is advised by the Company or a 
Subsidiary, in writing or verbally, that his or her services are no longerrequired; 

 
(rr)    “Trading Day” means any day on which the Exchange is open for trading; and 

 
(ss) “Vesting Date” means in respect of any Award, the date when the Award is fully vested in 

accordance with the provisions of this Plan and the applicable Award Agreement. 
 

SECTION 3 
ADMINISTRATION 

 
3.1 Board to Administer Plan 

 
Except as otherwise provided herein, this Plan shall be administered by the Board of the Company 
(and, for clarity, not by the Board of any subsidiary of the Company) and the Board of the Company 
shall have full authority to administer this Plan, including the authority to interpret and construe any 
provision of this Plan and to adopt, amend and rescind such rules and regulations for administering 
this Plan as the Board of the Company may deem necessary in order to comply with the requirements 
of this Plan. 

 
3.2 Delegation to Committee 

 
All of the powers exercisable hereunder by the Board may, to the extent permitted by applicable law 
and as determined by resolution of the Board, be delegated to and exercised by such committee as 
the Board may determine. 

 
3.3 Interpretation 

 
All actions taken and all interpretations and determinations made or approved by the Board in good 
faith shall be final and conclusive and shall be binding on the Participants and theCompany. 

 
3.4 No Liability 

 
No Director shall be personally liable for any action taken or determination or interpretation made 
or approved in good faith in connection with this Plan and the Directors shall, in addition to their 
rights as Directors, be fully protected, indemnified and held harmless by the Company with respect 
to any such action taken or determination or interpretation made. The appropriate officers of the 
Company are hereby authorized and empowered to do all things and execute and deliver all 
instruments, undertakings and applications and writings as they, in their absolute discretion, consider 
necessary for the implementation of this Plan and of the rules and regulations established for 
administering this Plan. All costs incurred in connection with this Plan shall be for the account of the 
Company. 
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SECTION 4 

SHARES AVAILABLE FOR AWARDS 
 

4.1 Limitations on Shares Available forIssuance 
 

(a) The aggregate number of Shares issuable under this Plan (and all of the Company’s other 
Security-Based Compensation Arrangements) in respect of Options and Performance-Based 
Awards shall not exceed 20% of the Company’s then total issued and outstanding Shares 
calculated as at the date of any grant and in accordance with the Policies of theExchange. 

 
(b) So long as it may be required by the rules and policies of the Exchange: 

 
(i) unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval, the maximum 

aggregate number of Shares issuable to any Participant under this Plan, within any 
12 month period, together with Shares reserved for issuance to such Participant (and 
to Companies wholly-owned by that Participant) under all of the Company’s other 
Security-Based Compensation Arrangements, shall not exceed five (5%) percent of 
the issued and outstanding Shares (calculated as at the date of any grant); 

 
(ii) unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval, the maximum 

aggregate number of Shares issuable to Insiders under this Plan, within any 12-month 
period, together with Shares reserved for issuance to Insiders under all of the 
Company’s other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements, shall not exceed ten 
(10%) percent of the issued and outstanding Shares (calculated as at the date of any 
grant); 

 
(iii) unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval, the maximum 

aggregate number of Shares issuable to Insiders under this Plan, at any point in time, 
together with Shares reserved for issuance to Insiders under all of the Company’s 
other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements, shall not exceed ten (10%) 
percent of the issued and outstandingShares; 

 
(iv) the maximum aggregate number of Shares issuable to any one Consultant, within 

any 12 month period, together with Shares issuable to such Consultant under all of 
the Company’s other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements, shall not exceed 
two (2%) percent of the issued and outstanding Shares (calculated as at the date of 
any grant); and 

 
(v) the maximum aggregate number of Shares issuable pursuant to grants of Options to 

all Investor Relation Service Providers performing Investor Relations Activities, within 
any 12 month period, shall not in aggregate exceed two (2%) percent of the issued 
and outstanding Shares (calculated as at the date of any grant). For the avoidance of 
doubt, Persons performing Investor Relations Activities are only eligible to receive 
Options under this Plan; they are not eligible to receive any Performance- Based 
Award or other type of securities based compensation under this Plan. 
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4.2 Accounting for Awards 
 

For purposes of this Section 4: 
 

(a) if an Award is denominated in Shares, the number of Shares covered by such Award, or to 
which such Award relates, shall be counted on the Grant Date of such Award against the 
aggregate number of Shares available for granting Awards under this Plan; and 

 
(b) notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any Shares related to Awards which 

terminate by expiration, forfeiture, cancellation, or otherwise without the issuance of such 
Shares, or are exchanged with the Board’s permission, prior to the issuance of Shares, for 
Awards not involving Shares, shall be available again for granting Awards under this Plan. 

 
4.3 Anti-Dilution 

 
If the number of outstanding Shares is increased or decreased as a result of a stock split, consolidation 
or recapitalization and not as a result of the issuance of Shares for additional consideration or by way 
of stock dividend, the Board may, subject to the prior acceptance of the Exchange in the case of a 
recapitalization, make appropriate adjustments to the number and price (or other basis upon which 
an Award is measured) of Options, RSUs, PSUs or DSUs credited to a Participant. Any determinations 
by the Board as to the required adjustments shall be made in its sole discretion and all such 
adjustments shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes under this Plan. 

 
SECTION 5 
AWARDS 

 
5.1 Options 

 
(a) Eligibility and Participation - Subject to the provisions of this Plan and such other terms and 

conditions as the Board may prescribe, the Board may, from time to time, grant Awards of 
Options to Eligible Persons. Options granted to an Eligible Person shall be credited, as of the 
Grant Date, to the Participant’s Account. The number of Options to be credited to each 
Participant shall be determined by the Board in its sole discretion in accordance with this 
Plan. The number of Options granted pursuant to an Award shall be specified in the 
applicable Award Agreement. 

 
(b) Exercise Price - The exercise price of an Option granted under this Plan shall not be less than 

the greater of $0.05 and the closing market prices of the underlying securities on (i) the 
trading day prior to the Grant Date and (ii) the Grant Date, provided that if an Option is 
proposed to be granted by the Company which has just been recalled for trading following a 
suspension or halt, the Company must wait at least ten Trading Days since the day on which 
trading in the Company’s securities resumes before setting the exercise price for and granting 
the Option. 

 
(c) Expiry Date - Each Option shall, unless sooner terminated, expire on a date to be determined 

by the Board which will not exceed 10 years from the Grant Date. 
 

(d) Different Exercise Periods, Prices and Number - The Board may, in its absolute discretion, 
upon granting Options under this Plan, specify different time periods following the datesof 
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granting the Options during which the Participant may exercise their Options to purchase 
Shares and may designate different exercise prices and numbers of Shares in respect of which 
each Participant may exercise his option during each respective time period. 

 
(e) Vesting - Subject to the discretion of the Board, the Options granted to a Participant under 

this Plan shall vest as determined by the Board on the Grant Date of such Options. If the 
Board does not specify a vesting schedule at the Grant Date, then Options granted to persons 
other than those conducting Investor Relations Activities shall vest fully on the Grant Date, 
and in any event in accordance with the policies of the Exchange. Options issued to Persons 
conducting Investor Relations Activities must vest (and shall not otherwise be exercisable) in 
stages over a minimum of 12 months suchthat: 

 
(i) no more than 1/4 of the Options vest no sooner than three months after the Grant 

Date; 
 

(ii) no more than another 1/4 of the Options vest no sooner than six months after the 
Grant Date; 

 
(iii) no more than another 1/4 of the Options vest no sooner than nine months after the 

Grant Date; and 
 

(iv) the remainder of the Options vest no sooner than 12 months after the Grant Date. 
 

(f) Change of Control – If the Award Agreement so provides, in the event of a Change of Control, 
all Options granted to a Participant who ceases to be an Eligible Person shall become fully 
vested in such Participant and shall become exercisable by the Participant in accordance with 
the terms of the Award Agreement and Section 5.1(l) hereof. 

 
(g) Death - Other than as may be set forth in the applicable Award Agreement, upon the death 

of a Participant, any Options granted to such Participant which, prior to the Participant’s 
death, have not vested, will immediately terminate without payment, be forfeited and 
cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect; and the Participant or his or her estate, 
as the case may be, shall have no right, title or interest therein whatsoever. Any Options 
granted to such Participant which, prior to the Participant’s death, had vested pursuant to 
the terms of the applicable Award Agreement will accrue to the Participant’s estate in 
accordance with Section 5.1(l)hereof. 

 
(h) Termination of Participant’s Relationship with the Company 

 

(i) Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company is terminated by the Company 
or a Subsidiary for cause, all Options granted to the Participant under this Plan will 
immediately terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of 
no further force or effect as of the Termination Date. 

 
(ii) Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company terminates by reason of 

termination by the Company or a Subsidiary without cause, by voluntary termination, 
voluntary resignation or due to Retirement by the Participant, such that the 
Participant no longer qualifies as an Eligible Person, all Options granted to the 
Participant under this Plan that have not vested will, unless the applicable  Award 
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Agreement provides otherwise and subject to the provisions below, 
immediately terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall 
be of no further force or effect as of the Termination Date; provided, however, 
that any Options granted to such Participant which, prior to the Participant’s 
termination without cause, voluntary termination, voluntary resignation or 
Retirement, had vested pursuant to the terms of the applicable Award 
Agreement will accrue to the Participant in accordance with Section 5.1(l) 
hereof and shall be exercisable by such Participant for a period of 90 days 
following the date the Participant ceased to be an Eligible Person, or such 
longer period as may be provided for in the Award Agreement or as may be 
determined by the Board provided such period does not exceed 12 months 
after the Termination Date. 

 
(iii) Upon termination of a Participant’s relationship with the Company or a 

Subsidiary such that the Participant no longer qualifies as an Eligible Person, 
the Participant’s eligibility to receive further grants of Awards of Options under 
this Plan shall cease as of the Termination Date. 

 
(i) Disability - Where a Participant becomes afflicted by a Disability, all Options granted to 

the Participant under this Plan will continue to vest in accordance with the terms of such 
Options; provided, however, that no Options may be redeemed during a leave of 
absence. Where a Participant’s relationship is terminated due to Disability such that 
the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person, all Options granted to the Participant 
under this Plan that have not vested will, unless the applicable Award Agreement 
provides otherwise and subject to the provisions below, immediately terminate 
without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect 
as of the Termination Date; provided, however, that any Options granted to such 
Participant which, prior to the termination of the Participant’s relationship with the 
Company due to Disability, had vested pursuant to terms of the applicable Award 
Agreement, will accrue to the Participant in accordance with Section 5.1(k) hereof and 
shall be exercisable by such Participant for a period of 90 days following the date the 
Termination Date, or such longer period as may be provided for in the Award Agreement 
or as may be determined by the Board provided such period does not exceed 12 
months after the TerminationDate. 

 
(j) Notice - Options shall be exercised only in accordance with the terms and conditions of 

the Award Agreements under which they are respectively granted and shall be 
exercisable only by notice in writing to the Company at its principal place ofbusiness. 

 
(k) Payment of Award - Subject to any vesting or other limitations described in each 

individual Award Agreement, Options may be exercised in whole or in part by the 
Participant at any time prior to their lapse or termination or, if Section 5.1(g) applies, by 
the Participant’s estate within one year of the death of the Participant, into such 
number of Shares equal to the number of Options credited to the Participant’s Account 
that become exercisable on the Vesting Date. The exercise price of all Options must be 
paid in cash. Shares purchased by a Participant (or, where applicable, the Participant’s 
estate) on exercise of an Option shall be paid for in full at the time of their purchase 
(i.e. concurrently with the giving of the requisitenotice). 
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(l) Cashless Exercise - The exercise price of an Option should be paid in cash, however, 
“cashless exercise” may be effected when the Company has an arrangement with a 
brokerage firm pursuant to which the brokerage firm will loan money to a Participant to 
purchase the Shares underlying her, his or its Options, with the brokerage firm then 
selling a sufficient number of Shares to cover the Exercise Price of the Options in order 
to repay the loan made to the Participant. Upon such a cashless exercise, the brokerage 
firm involved receives a number of Shares from the exercise of a Participant’s Options 
to repay the loan so provided, and the Participant receives the balance of Shares or the 
cash proceeds from the balance of such Shares. 

 
5.2 Restricted Share Units 

 
(a) Eligibility and Participation - Subject to the provisions of this Plan and such other terms 

and conditions as the Board may prescribe, the Board may, from time to time, grant 
Awards of Restricted Share Units to Eligible Persons that do not perform Investor 
Relations Activities. Restricted Share Units granted to a Participant shall be credited, as 
of the Grant Date, to the Participant’s Account. The number of Restricted Share Units 
to be credited to each Participant shall be determined by the Board in its sole discretion 
in accordance with this Plan. Each Restricted Share Unit shall, contingent upon the 
lapse of any restrictions, represent one (1) Share. The number of Restricted Share Units 
granted pursuant to an Award and the Restriction Period in respect of such Restricted 
Share Units shall be specified in the applicable Award Agreement. 

 
(b) Restrictions - Restricted Share Units shall be subject to such restrictions as the Board, 

in its sole discretion, may establish in the applicable Award Agreement, which 
restrictions may lapse separately or in combination at such time or times and on such 
terms, conditions and satisfaction of objectives as the Board may, in its discretion, 
determine at the time an Award is granted. 

 
(c) Vesting - All Restricted Share Units will vest and become payable by the issuance of 

Shares at the end of the Restriction Period if all applicable restrictions have lapsed, as 
such restrictions may be specified in the Award Agreement. No Restricted Share Units 
may vest before the date that is one year following the date of the Award. 

 
(d) Change of Control – If the Award Agreement so provides, in the event of a Change of 

Control and the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person, all restrictions upon any 
Restricted Share Units shall lapse immediately and all such Restricted Share Units shall 
become fully vested in the Participant and will accrue to the Participant in accordance 
with Section 5.2(h) hereof. 

 
(e) Death - Other than as may be set forth in the applicable Award Agreement, upon the 

death of a Participant, any Restricted Share Units granted to such Participant which, 
prior to the Participant’s death, have not vested, will be immediately and automatically 
forfeited and cancelled without further action and without any cost or payment, and 
the Participant or his or her estate, as the case may be, shall have no right, title or 
interest therein whatsoever. Any Restricted Share Units granted to such Participant 
which, prior to the Participant’s death, had vested pursuant to the terms of the 
applicable Award Agreement will accrue to the Participant’s estate in accordancewith 
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Section 5.2(h) hereof. 
 

(f) Termination of a Participant’s Relationship with the Company 
 

(i) Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company is terminated by the 
Company or a Subsidiary for cause, all Restricted Share Units granted to the 
Participant under this Plan will immediately terminate without payment, be 
forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect as of the 
Termination Date. 

 
(ii) Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company terminates by reason of 

termination by the Company or a Subsidiary without cause, by voluntary 
termination, voluntary resignation or due to Retirement by the Participant, all 
Restricted Share Units granted to the Participant under this Plan that have not 
vested will, unless the applicable Award Agreement provides otherwise and 
subject to the provisions below, immediately terminate without payment, be 
forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect as of the 
Termination Date and the Participant shall have no right, title or interest 
therein whatsoever; provided, however, that any Restricted Share Units 
granted to such Participant which, prior to the Participant’s termination 
without cause, voluntary termination, voluntary resignation or Retirement, had 
vested pursuant to the terms of the applicable Award Agreement will accrue to 
the Participant in accordance with Section 5.2(h) hereof provided such period 
does not exceed 12 months after the Termination Date. 

 
(iii) Upon termination of a Participant’s relationship with the Company or a 

Subsidiary such that the Participant no longer qualifies as an Eligible Person, 
the Participant’s eligibility to receive further grants of Awards of Restricted 
Share Units under this Plan shall cease as of the Termination Date. 

 
(g) Disability - Where a Participant becomes afflicted by a Disability, all Restricted Share 

Units granted to the Participant under this Plan will continue to vest in accordance with 
the terms of such Restricted Share Units; provided, however, that no Restricted Share 
Units may be redeemed during a leave of absence. Where a Participant’s relationship is 
terminated due to Disability such that the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person, 
all Restricted Share Units granted to the Participant under this Plan that have not vested 
will, unless the applicable Award Agreement provides otherwise and subject to the 
provisions below, immediately terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled 
and shall be of no further force or effect as of the Termination Date and the Participant 
shall have no right, title or interest therein whatsoever; provided, however, that any 
Restricted Share Units granted to such Participant which, prior to the Participant’s 
termination due to Disability, had vested pursuant to terms of the applicable Award 
Agreement will accrue to the Participant in accordance with Section 5.2(h) hereof, 
provided such period does not exceed 12 months after the Termination Date. 

 
(h) Payment of Award - As soon as practicable after each Vesting Date of an Award of 

Restricted Share Units, the Company shall, at the sole discretion of the Board,either: 



 

13 
 
 

(i) issue to the Participant, or if Section 5.2(e) applies, within one year following 
the death of the Participant to the Participant’s estate, from treasury the 
number of Shares equal to the number of Restricted Share Units credited to 
the Participant’s Account that have vested and become payable on the Vesting 
Date; or 

 
(ii) on the next Trading Day after the Vesting Date, make a cash payment in an 

amount equal to the Market Unit Price (calculated as of the Vesting Date) 
multiplied by the number of Restricted Share Units credited to the Participant’s 
Account that have vested and become payable on the Vesting Date, net of 
applicable withholdings. 

 
As of the Vesting Date, the Restricted Share Units in respect of which such Shares are 
issued or cash payment made shall be cancelled and no further payments shall be made 
to the Participant under this Plan in relation to such Restricted ShareUnits. 

 
5.3 Performance Share Units 

 
(a) Eligibility and Participation - Subject to the provisions of this Plan and such other terms 

and conditions as the Board may prescribe, the Board may, from time to time, grant 
Awards of Performance Share Units to Eligible Persons that do not perform Investor 
Relations Activities. Performance Share Units granted to a Participant shall be credited, 
as of the Grant Date, to the Participant’s Account. The number of Performance Share 
Units to be credited to each Participant shall be determined by the Board, in its sole 
discretion, in accordance with this Plan. Each Performance Share Unit shall, contingent 
upon the attainment of the Performance Criteria within the Performance Cycle, 
represent one (1) Share. The number of Performance Share Units granted pursuant to 
an Award, the Performance Criteria which must be satisfied in order for the 
Performance Share Units to vest and the Performance Cycle in respect of such 
Performance Share Units shall be specified in the applicable Award Agreement. No 
Performance Share Units may vest before the date that is one year following the date 
of the Award. 

 
(b) Performance Criteria - The Board will select, settle and determine the Performance 

Criteria (including without limitation the attainment thereof), for purposes of the 
vesting of the Performance Share Units, in its sole discretion. An Award Agreement may 
provide the Board with the right, during a Performance Cycle or after it has ended, to 
revise the Performance Criteria and the Award amounts if unforeseen events 
(including, without limitation, changes in capitalization, an equity restructuring, an 
acquisition or a divestiture) occur which have a substantial effect on the financial 
results and which in the sole judgment of the Board make the application of the 
Performance Criteria unfair unless a revision is made. Notices will be provided by the 
Company to applicable regulatory authorities or stock exchanges as may be required 
with respect to the foregoing. 

 
(c) Vesting - All Performance Share Units will vest and become payable to the extent that 

the Performance Criteria set forth in the Award Agreement are satisfied in the 
Performance Cycle,   the   determination   of   which   satisfaction   shall   be  made by 
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the Board on the Determination Date. No Performance Share Units may vest before 
the date that is one year following the date of the Award. 

 
(d) Change of Control – If the Award Agreement so provides, in the event of a Change of 

Control and the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person, all Performance Share Units 
granted to that Participant shall become fully vested in such Participant (without regard 
to the attainment of any Performance Criteria) and shall become payable to the 
Participant in accordance with Section 5.3(h) hereof. 

 
(e) Death - Other than as may be set forth in the applicable Award Agreement and below, 

upon the death of a Participant, all Performance Share Units granted to the Participant 
which, prior to the Participant’s death, have not vested, will immediately and 
automatically be forfeited and cancelled without further action and without any cost 
or payment, and the Participant or his or her estate, as the case may be, shall have no 
right, title or interest therein whatsoever; provided, however, the Board may 
determine, in its sole discretion, the number of the Participant’s Performance Share 
Units that will vest based on the extent to which the applicable Performance Criteria 
set forth in the Award Agreement have been satisfied in that portion of the Performance 
Cycle that has lapsed. The Performance Share Units that the Board determines to have 
vested shall become payable in accordance with Section 5.3(h) hereof. 

 
(f) Termination of a Participant’s Relationship with the Company 

 

(i) Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company is terminated by the 
Company or a Subsidiary for cause, all Performance Share Units granted to the 
Participant under this Plan will immediately terminate without payment, be 
forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect as of the 
Termination Date. 

 
(ii) Where a Participant’s relationship with the Company terminates by reason of 

termination by the Company or a Subsidiary without cause, by voluntary 
termination, voluntary resignation or due to Retirement by the Participant, all 
Performance Share Units granted to the Participant which have not vested will, 
unless the Award Agreement provides otherwise and subject to the provisions 
below, immediately terminate without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and 
shall be of no further force or effect as of the Termination Date, and the 
Participant shall have no right, title or interest therein whatsoever; provided, 
however, the Board may determine, in its sole discretion, the number of the 
Participant’s Performance Share Units that will vest based on the extent to 
which the applicable Performance Criteria set forth in the Award Agreement 
have been satisfied in that portion of the Performance Cycle that has lapsed. 
The Performance Share Units that the Board determines to have vested shall 
become payable in accordance with Section 5.3(h) hereof, provided such 
period does not exceed 12 months following the Termination Date. 

 
(iii) Upon termination of a Participant’s relationship with the Company or a 

Subsidiary such that the Participant no longer qualifies as an Eligible Person, 
the Participant’s eligibility to receive further grants of Awards of Performance 
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Share Units under this Plan shall cease as of the Termination Date. 
 

(g) Disability - Where a Participant becomes afflicted by a Disability, all Performance Share 
Units granted to the Participant under this Plan will continue to vest in accordance 
with the terms of such Performance Share Units; provided, however, that no 
Performance Share Units may be redeemed during a leave of absence. Where a 
Participant’s relationship is terminated due to Disability such that the Participant 
ceases to be an Eligible Person, all Performance Share Units granted to the Participant 
under this Plan that have not vested will, unless the applicable Award Agreement 
provides otherwise and subject to the provisions below, immediately terminate 
without payment, be forfeited and cancelled and shall be of no further force or effect 
as of the Termination Date, and the Participant shall have no right, title or interest 
therein whatsoever; provided, however, that the Board may determine, in its sole 
discretion, the number of the Participant’s Performance Share Units that will vest 
based on the extent to which the applicable Performance Criteria set forth in the 
Award Agreement have been satisfied in that portion of the Performance Cycle that 
has lapsed. The Performance Share Units that the Board determines to have vested 
shall become payable in accordance with Section 5.3(h) hereof, provided such period 
does not exceed 12 months following the Termination Date. 

 
(h) Payment of Award - Payment to Participants in respect of vested Performance Share 

Units shall be made after the Determination Date for the applicable Award and in any 
case within ninety-five (95) days after the last day of the Performance Cycle to which 
such Award relates. The Company shall, at the sole discretion of the Board, either: 

 
(i) issue to the Participant or, if Section 5.3(e) applies, within one year following 

the death of the Participant, to the Participant’s estate, the number of Shares 
equal to the number of Performance Share Units credited to the Participant’s 
Account that have vested on the Determination Date; or 

 
(ii) on the next Trading Day following the Determination Date, make a cash 

payment in an amount equal to the Market Unit Price (calculated as of the 
Determination Date) multiplied by the number of Performance Share Units 
credited to the Participant’s Account that have vested on the Determination 
Date, net of applicablewithholdings. 

 
As of the Vesting Date, the Performance Share Units in respect of which such Shares 
are issued or cash payment made shall be cancelled and no further payments shall be 
made to the Participant under this Plan in relation to such Performance Share Units. 

 
5.4 Deferred Share Units 

 
(a) Eligibility and Participation - Subject to the provisions of this Plan and such other terms 

and conditions as the Board may prescribe, the Board may, from time to time, grant 
Awards of Deferred Share Units in lieu of Fees to Officers or Directors that do not 
perform Investor Relations Activities or to other Eligible Persons that do not perform 
Investor Relations Activities as compensation for employment or consulting services. 
Deferred Share Units granted to a Participant    in accordance with Section 5.4 hereof 
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shall be credited, as of the Grant Date, to the Participant’s Account. The number of 
Deferred Share Units to be credited to each Participant shall be determined by the 
Board in its sole discretion in accordance with this Plan. The number of Deferred Share 
Units shall be specified in the applicable AwardAgreement. 

 
(b) Election - Each Director may elect to receive any or all of his or her Fees in Deferred 

Share Units under this Plan. Elections by Directors regarding the amount of their Fees 
that they wish to receive in Deferred Share Units shall be made no later than 90 days 
after this Plan is adopted by the Board, and thereafter no later than December 31 of 
any given year with respect to Fees for the following year. Any Director who becomes 
a Director during a calendar year and wishes to receive an amount of his or her Fees for 
the remainder of that year in Deferred Share Units must make his or her election within 
60 days of becoming a Director. 

 
(c) Calculation of Deferred Share Units Granted in Lieu of Fees - The number of Deferred 

Share Units to be credited to a Participant’s Account where the Participant is a Director 
who has elected to receive Deferred Share Units in lieu of Fees shall be calculated by 
dividing the amount of Fees selected by a Director in the applicable Election Form by 
the Market Unit Price on the Grant Date (or such other price as required under Exchange 
policies) which shall be the 10th business day following each financial quarter end. If, 
as a result of the foregoing calculation, a Participant that is a Director shall become 
entitled to a fractional Deferred Share Unit, the Participant shall only be credited with 
a full number of Deferred Share Units (rounded down) and no payment or other 
adjustment will be made with respect to the fractional Deferred ShareUnit. 

 
(d) Vesting - No Deferred Share Units may vest before the date that is one year following 

the date of the Award. 
 

(e) Payment of Award - Each Participant shall be entitled to receive, after the effective date 
that the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person for any reason, on a day designated 
by the Participant and communicated to the Company by the Participant in writing at 
least 15 days prior to the designated day (or such earlier date after the Participant 
ceases to be an Eligible Person as the Participant and the Company may agree, which 
date shall be no later than one year after the date upon which the Participant ceases to 
be an Eligible Person) and if no such notice is given, then on the first anniversary of the 
effective date that the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Person, at the sole discretion 
of the Board, either: 

 
(i) that number of Shares equal to the number of vested Deferred Share Units 

credited to the Participant’s Account, such Shares to be issued from treasury of 
the Company (provided that such issuance will not result in the number 
specified in Section4.1(c) being exceeded); or 

 
(ii) a cash payment in an amount equal to the Market Unit Price (calculated as of 

the day that the Participant ceased to be an Eligible Person) multiplied by the 
number of Deferred Share Units credited to a Participant’s Account that have 
vested, net of applicablewithholdings. 
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(f) Exception - In the event that the value of a Deferred Share Unit would be determined 
with reference to a period commencing at a fiscal quarter-end of the Company and 
ending prior to the public disclosure of interim financial statements for the quarter (or 
annual financial statements in the case of the fourth quarter), the cash payment of the 
value of the Deferred Share Units will be made to the Participant with reference to the 
five (5) Trading Days immediately following the public disclosure of the interim financial 
statements for that quarter (or annual financial statements in the case of the fourth 
quarter). 

 
(g) Death - Upon death of a Participant holding Deferred Share Units that have vested, the 

Participant’s estate shall be entitled to receive, within 120 days after the Participant’s 
death and at the sole discretion of the Board, a cash payment or Shares that would have 
otherwise been payable in accordance with Section 5.4(e) hereof to the Participant 
upon such Participant ceasing to be an EligiblePerson. 

 
5.5 General Terms Applicable toAwards 

 
(a) Forfeiture Events - The Board will specify in an Award Agreement at the time of the 

Award that the Participant’s rights, payments and benefits with respect to an Award 
shall be subject to reduction, cancellation, forfeiture or recoupment upon the 
occurrence of certain specified events, in addition to any otherwise applicable vesting 
or performance conditions of an Award. Such events shall include, but shall not be 
limited to, termination of a relationship for cause, violation of material Company 
policies, fraud, breach of non-competition, confidentiality or other restrictive 
covenants that may apply to the Participant or other conduct by the Participant that is 
detrimental to the business or reputation of the Company. 

 
(b) Awards May be Granted Separately or Together - Awards may, in the discretion of the 

Board, be granted either alone or in addition to, in tandem with, or in substitution for 
any other Award or any award granted under any other Security-Based Compensation 
Arrangement of the Company. Awards granted in addition to or in tandem with other 
Awards, or in addition to or in tandem with awards granted under any other Security- 
Based Compensation Arrangement of the Company, may be granted either at the same 
time as or at a different time from the grant of such other Awardsorawards. 

 
(c) Non-Transferability of Awards - No Award and no right under any such Award shall be 

assignable, alienable, saleable, or transferable by a Participant otherwise than by will 
or by the laws of descent and distribution and only then if permitted by the Policies of 
the Exchange. No Award and no right under any such Award, may be pledged, 
alienated, attached, or otherwise encumbered, and any purported pledge, alienation, 
attachment, or encumbrance thereof shall be void and unenforceable against the 
Company. 

 
(d) Conditions and Restrictions Upon Securities Subject to Awards - The Board may provide 

that the Shares issued under an Award shall be subject to such further agreements, 
restrictions, conditions or limitations as the Board in its sole discretion may specify, 
including without limitation, conditions on vesting or transferability and forfeiture or 
repurchase provisions or provisions on payment of taxes arising in connection with an 
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Award. Without limiting the foregoing, such restrictions may address the timing and 
manner of any resales by the Participant or other subsequent transfers by the 
Participant of any Shares issued under an Award, including without limitation: 

 
(i) restrictions under an insider trading policy or pursuant to applicable law; 

 
(ii) restrictions designed to delay and/or coordinate the timing and manner of 

sales by Participant and holders of other Security-Based Compensation 
Arrangements; and 

 
(iii) restrictions as to the use of a specified brokerage firm for such resales or other 

transfers. 
 

(e) Blackout Periods – In the event that the date provided for expiration, redemption or 
settlement of an Award falls within a Blackout Period imposed by the Company 
pursuant to a trading policy as the result of the bona fide existence of undisclosed 
Material Information, the expiry date, redemption date or settlement date, as 
applicable, of the Award shall automatically be extended to the date that is ten (10) 
business days following the date of expiry of the Blackout Period. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, there will be no extension of any Award if the Company (or the Participant) 
is subject to a cease trade order (or similar order under applicable law). 

 
(f) Share Certificates - All Shares delivered under this Plan pursuant to any Award shall be 

subject to such stop transfer orders and other restrictions as the Board may deem 
advisable under this Plan or the rules, regulations, and other requirements of any 
securities commission, the Exchange, and any applicable securities legislation, 
regulations, rules, policies or orders, and the Board may cause a legend or legends to 
be put on any such certificates to make appropriate reference tosuchrestrictions. 

 
(g) Conformity to Plan - In the event that an Award is granted which does not conform in 

all particulars with the provisions of this Plan, or purports to grant an Award on terms 
different from those set out in this Plan, the Award shall not be in any way void or 
invalidated, but the Award shall be adjusted to become, in all respects, in conformity 
with this Plan. 

 
(h) Deductions - Whenever cash is to be paid in respect of Deferred Share Units, Restricted 

Share Units or Performance Share Units, the Company shall have the right to deduct 
from all cash payments made to a Participant any taxes required by law to be withheld 
with respect to such payments. Whenever Shares are to be delivered in respect of 
Deferred Share Units, Restricted Share Units or Performance Share Units, the Company 
shall have the right to deduct from any other amounts payable to the Participant any 
taxes required by law to be withheld with respect to such delivery of Shares, or if any 
payment due to the Participant is not sufficient to satisfy the withholding obligation, to 
require the Participant to remit to the Company in cash an amount sufficient to satisfy 
any taxes required by law to be withheld. At the sole discretion of the Board, a 
Participant may be permitted to satisfy the foregoing requirement by, all in accordance 
with the Policies of the Exchange, delivering (on a form prescribed by the Company) an 
irrevocable direction to a securities broker approved by the Company to sell all or   a 
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portion of the Shares and deliver to the Company from the sales proceeds an amount 
sufficient to pay the required withholding taxes. 

 
(i) Evergreen Plan - Shares that were the subject of any Award made under this Plan that 

has been settled in cash, or that has been cancelled, terminated, surrendered, forfeited 
or has expired without being exercised, and pursuant to which no securities have been 
issued, may continue to be issuable under this Plan. 

 
5.6 General Terms Applicable to Performance-Based Awards 

 
(a) Performance Evaluation; Adjustment of Goals - At the time that a Performance-Based 

Award is first issued, the Board, in the Award Agreement or in another written 
document, shall specify whether performance will be evaluated including or excluding 
the effect of any of the following events that occur during the Performance Cycle or 
Restriction Period, as the case maybe: 

 
(i) judgments entered or settlements reached in litigation; 

 
(ii) the write-down of assets; 

 
(iii) the impact of any reorganization orrestructuring; 

 
(iv) the impact of changes in tax laws, accounting principles, regulatory actions or 

other laws affecting reportedresults; 
 

(v) extraordinary non-recurring items as may be described in the Company’s 
management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of 
operations for the applicable financialyear; 

 
(vi) the impact of any mergers, acquisitions, spin-offs or other divestitures; and 

 
(vii) foreign exchange gains andlosses. 

 
(b) Adjustment of Performance-Based Awards - The Board shall have the sole discretion to 

adjust the determinations of the degree of attainment of the pre-established 
Performance Criteria or restrictions, as the case may be, as may be set out in the 
applicable Award Agreement governing the relevant Performance-Based Award. 
Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the Board may not make any 
adjustment or take any other action with respect to any Performance-Based Award that 
will increase the amount payable under any such Award. The Board shall retain the sole 
discretion to adjust Performance- Based Awards downward or to otherwise reduce the 
amount payable with respect to any Performance-Based Award. 

 
SECTION 6 

AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION 
 

6.1 Amendments and Termination of thisPlan 
 

The Board may at any time or from time to time, in its sole and absolute discretion and without 
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the approval of shareholders of the Company, amend, suspend, terminate or discontinue this 
Plan and may amend the terms and conditions of any Awards granted hereunder, subject to: 

 
(a) any required disinterested shareholder approval to (i) reduce the exercise price of an 

Award issued to an Insider or (ii) to extend the term of an Option granted to an Insider, 
in either event in accordance with the policies of the Exchange while the Shares are 
listed on the Exchange; 

 
(b) any required approval of any applicable regulatory authority or the Exchange; and 

 
(c) any approval of shareholders of the Company as required by the rules of the Exchange 

or applicable law, provided that shareholder approval shall not be required for the 
following amendments and the Board may make any changes which may include but 
are not limited to: 

 
(i) amendmentsof a “housekeeping nature”; and 

 
(ii) amendments for the purpose of curing any ambiguity, error or omission in this 

Plan or to correct or supplement any provision of this Plan that is inconsistent 
with any other provision of this Plan. 

 
If this Plan is terminated, prior Awards shall remain outstanding and in effect in 
accordance with their applicable terms and conditions. 

 
6.2 Amendments to Awards 

 
Subject to any required Exchange approval, the Board may waive any conditions or rights 
under, amend any terms of, or amend, alter, suspend, discontinue, or terminate, any Awards 
theretofore granted, prospectively or retroactively. No such amendment or alteration shall be 
made which would impair the rights of any Participant, without such Participant’s consent, 
under any Award theretofore granted, provided that no such consent shall be required with 
respect to any amendment or alteration if the Board determines in its sole discretion that such 
amendment or alterationeither: 

 
(a) is required or advisable in order for the Company, this Plan or the Award to satisfy or 

conform to any law or regulation or to meet the requirements of Policy of the Exchange 
or any accounting standard; or 

 
(b) is not reasonably likely to significantly diminish the benefits provided under such Award. 

 
SECTION 7 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

7.1 No Rights to Awards 
 

No Person shall have any claim to be granted any Award under this Plan, or, having been 
selected to receive an Award under this Plan, to be selected to receive a future Award. There is 
no obligation for uniformity of treatment of Eligible Persons or Participants or beneficiaries of 
Awards under this Plan. The terms and conditions of Awards need not be the same with respect 
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to each Participant. The Company and each Eligible Person qualifying for an Award are and shall 
be responsible for ensuring and confirming that each recipient of an Award is a bona fide 
Eligible Person that qualifies to receive the applicableAward. 

 
7.2 Withholding 

 
The Company shall be authorized to withhold any payment due under any Award or under this 
Plan until the Participant has paid or made arrangements for the payment of the amount of any 
withholding taxes due in respect of an Award, its exercise, or any payment under such Award 
or under this Plan. 

 
7.3 No Limit on Other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements 

 
Nothing contained in this Plan shall prevent the Company or a Subsidiary from adopting or 
continuing in effect other Security-Based Compensation Arrangements, and such arrangements 
may be either generally applicable or applicable only in specific cases. 

 
7.4 No Right to Employment 

 
The grant of an Award shall neither constitute an employment contract nor be construed as 
giving a Participant the right to be retained in the employ of the Company, or to any other 
relationship with the Company. Further, the Company may at any time dismiss a Participant, 
free from any liability, or any claim under this Plan, unless otherwise expressly provided in this 
Plan or in an applicable Award Agreement. 

 
7.5 No Right as Shareholder 

 
Neither the Participant nor any representatives of a Participant’s estate shall have any rights 
whatsoever as shareholders in respect of any Shares covered by such Participant’s Options, 
RSUs, PSUs and/or DSUs until the date of issuance of a share certificate to such Participant or 
representatives of a Participant’s estate for such Shares. 

 
7.6 Governing Law 

 
This Plan and all of the rights and obligations arising hereunder shall be interpreted and applied 
in accordance with the laws of the Province of British Columbia and the federal laws of Canada 
applicable therein. 

 
7.7 Severability 

 
If any provision of this Plan or any Award is or becomes or is deemed to be invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction, or as to any Person or Award, or would disqualify this Plan or 
any Award under any law deemed applicable by the Board, such provision shall be construed or 
deemed amended to conform to applicable laws, or if it cannot be so construed or deemed 
amended without, in the determination of the Board, materially altering the intent of this Plan 
or the Award, such provision shall be stricken as to such jurisdiction, Person or Award, and the 
remainder of this Plan and any such Award shall remain in full force andeffect. 

 
7.8 No Trust or Fund Created 
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Neither this Plan nor any Award shall create or be construed to create a trust or separate fund 
of any kind or a fiduciary relationship between the Company and a Participant or any other 
Person. To the extent that any Person acquires a right to receive payments from the Company 
pursuant to an Award, such right shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured creditor of 
the Company. 

 
7.9 No Fractional Shares 

 
No fractional Shares shall be issued or delivered pursuant to this Plan or any Award, and the 
Board shall determine whether cash, or other securities shall be paid or transferred in lieu of 
any fractional Shares, or whether such fractional Shares or any rights thereto shall be cancelled, 
terminated, or otherwiseeliminated. 

 
7.10 Headings 

 
Headings are given to the Sections and subsections of this Plan solely as a convenience to 
facilitate reference. Such headings shall not be deemed in any way material or relevant to the 
construction or interpretation of this Plan or any provision thereof. 

 
7.11 No Representation or Warranty 

 
The Company makes no representation or warranty as to the value of any Award granted 
pursuant to this Plan or as to the future value of any Shares issued pursuant to any Award. 

 
7.12 No Representations or Covenant with Respect to Tax Qualification 

 
Although the Company may, in its discretion, endeavor to (i) qualify an Award for favourable 
Canadian tax treatment or (ii) avoid adverse tax treatment, the Company makes no 
representation to that effect and expressly disavows any covenant to maintain favorable or 
avoid unfavorable tax treatment. The Company shall be unconstrained in its corporate activities 
without regard to the potential negative tax impact on holders of Awards under thisPlan. 

 
7.13 Conflict with Award Agreement 

 
In the event of any inconsistency or conflict between the Policies of the Exchange, this Plan and 
an Award Agreement, the Policies of the Exchange shall govern for all purposes. In the event of 
any inconsistency or conflict between the provisions of this Plan and an Award Agreement, the 
provisions of this Plan shall govern for allpurposes. 

 
7.14 Compliance with Laws 

 
The granting of Awards and the issuance of Shares under this Plan shall be subject to all 
applicable laws, rules, and regulations, as well as the Policies of the Exchange as in effect from 
time-to-time, and to such approvals by any governmental agencies or stock exchanges on which 
the Company is listed as may be required. The Company shall have no obligation to issue or 
deliver evidence of title for Shares issued under this Plan prior to: 

 
(a) obtaining any approvals from governmental agencies that the Company determines 

are necessary or advisable; and 
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(b) completion of any registration or other qualification of the Shares under any applicable 
national or foreign law or ruling of any governmental body that the Company 
determines to be necessary or advisable or at a time when any such registration or 
qualification is not current, has been suspended or otherwise has ceased to be 
effective. 

 
The inability or impracticability of the Company to obtain or maintain authority from any 
regulatory body having jurisdiction, which authority is deemed by the Company’s counsel to be 
necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any Shares hereunder shall relieve the Company of 
any liability in respect of the failure to issue or sell such Shares as to which such requisite 
authority shall not have been obtained. 

 
SECTION 8 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS PLAN 
 

8.1 Effective Date 
 

This Plan shall become effective upon the date (the “Effective Date”) of approval by the Board. 
 

SECTION 9 
TERM OF THIS PLAN 

 
9.1 Term 

 
This Plan shall terminate automatically 10 years after the Effective Date and may be terminated 
on any earlier date as provided in Section 6 hereof. 



 

SCHEDULE “E” 
LINE OF CREDIT AGREEMENT 
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LINE OF CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 

This LINE OF CREDIT AGREEMENT (the “Line of Credit Agreement”) is made as of this 26 
day of September, 2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and among PLUTO VENTURES INC. (the 
“Borrower”), a British Columbia company, and David Eaton (the “Lender”), a businessman, of 
2439 Trinity Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V5K 1C9. A line of credit is hereby established 
in the amount of TWO HUNDRED THOUSAND CANADIAN DOLLARS (CAD $200,000) for 
the benefit of the Borrower. This line of credit will be subject to the following terms and conditions: 

 
1. The Lender hereby establishes a revolving line of credit in the Borrower’s favour in the 
amount of Two Hundred Thousand Canadian Dollars (CAD $200,000), representing the maximum 
aggregate amount of the advances of funds from the line of credit (each, an “Advance”) that may 
be outstanding at any time under the line of credit (the “Principal Indebtedness”) during the period 
from and including the Effective Date through the day immediately preceding the second 
anniversary of the Effective Date, being the date that all sums evidenced by the Note shall be due 
and payable (the “Maturity Date”), a principal amount not to exceed at any one time outstanding, 
as to all such Advances in the aggregate, the Principal Indebtedness. The entire Principal 
Indebtedness of the Line of Credit shall be due and payable on the earlier to occur of (a) the 
occurrence and continuation of a Default hereunder, or (b) the Maturity Date (as the same may be 
extended as herein provided). 

 
2. The loan made hereunder will bear interest at the rate determined pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of a promissory note (the “Note”), a copy of which is attached hereto and made a part 
hereof as Exhibit A. 

 
3. The occurrence of one or more of the following (herein called a “Default” or an “Event of 
Default”) shall constitute a default by the Borrower hereunder, and under the Note, in addition to 
but not in limitation of any events which would constitute a default under the terms and conditions 
of the Note: 

 
(a) Default in the payment or performance of any liability or obligation of Borrower to the 
Lender or of any covenant or liability contained or referred to herein, in the Note, or in any other 
note, instrument, document or agreement evidencing any obligation. 

 
(b) The failure of Borrower to perform or to observe any of the provisions of any real estate 
mortgage, security agreement or other agreement or document now or hereafter evidencing or 
creating any security for the payment of theNote. 

 
(c) Any representation or warranty of the Borrower in connection with this Line of Credit 
Agreement or any document executed in accordance herewith, or in pursuance hereof, shall be false 
on the date on which made. 

 
(d) The failure by Borrower to pay, when due, any amount due under the Note or the failure 
by the Borrower to pay, when due, any obligation of Borrower to Lender. 

 
(e) Borrower's insolvency, appointment of a receiver for all or a part of Borrower's property, 
the making of any assignment by Borrower for the benefit of creditors or the commencement of 
any proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws by or against Borrower or upon the 
issuing of any writ of attachment by trustee process or otherwise or a restraining order or injunction 
affecting any of the Borrower's property; provided, however, if any such proceeding is commenced 
against the Borrower, the Borrower shall have thirty (30) days in which to cause such proceeding 
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to be dismissed. 
 

(f) The insolvency of any guarantor of this Line of Credit Agreement and/or the Note or of 
any obligation of any Borrower to the Lender. 

 
(g) The death, dissolution, termination of existence, declared insolvency; or failure in business 
of the Borrower or any guarantor of this Line of Credit Agreement or the Note. 

 
(h) The admission in writing of a Borrower’s insolvency or inability to pay debts generally as 
they become due, or upon any deterioration of the financial condition of the Borrower, any endorser 
or guarantor of this Line of Credit Agreement or the Note, which results in the Lender deeming 
itself, in good faith, insecure. 

 
(i) Ninety (90) days after DEMAND is made pursuant to the Note, unless the Borrower has 
satisfied the Note in full. 

 
Any such event caused by, or occurring with regard to, any one or more persons constituting the 
“Borrower” shall be deemed to be so caused by (or occurring with regard to) the “Borrower.” 

 
If any Event of Default occurs, all obligations outstanding from the Borrower to the Lender, 
including obligations pursuant to this Line of Credit Agreement and/or the Note, shall immediately 
become due and payable without demand, presentment, protest or other notice of any kind, all of 
which are hereby expressly waived. In the event of such Event of Default, the Lender may proceed 
to enforce the payment of all obligations of Borrower to Lender and to exercise any and all of the 
rights and remedies afforded to Lender by law or under the terms of this Line of Credit Agreement 
or otherwise. 

 
4. Borrower agrees to furnish to the Lender, upon demand, but not more than semi- annually, 
so long as indebtedness under the Line of Credit Agreement and the Note remains unpaid, a certified 
financial statement prepared by an independent accountant setting forth in reasonable detail the 
assets, liabilities, and net worth of the Borrower and certified to under oath by an officer of the 
Borrower. Such financial statements shall be sent to the Lender at its address listed above and shall 
be at the sole cost and expense of the Borrower. 

 
5. This Line of Credit Agreement is supplementary to each and every other agreement 
between Borrower and Lender and shall not be so construed as to limit or otherwise derogate from 
any of the rights or remedies of Lender or any of the liabilities, obligations or undertakings of 
Borrower under any such agreement, nor shall any contemporaneous or subsequent agreement 
between Borrower and Lender be construed to limit or otherwise derogate from any of the rights or 
remedies of Lender or any of the liabilities, obligations or undertakings of Borrower hereunder 
unless such other agreement specifically refers to this Line of Credit Agreement and expressly so 
provides. 

 
6. This Line of Credit Agreement and the covenants and agreements herein contained shall 
continue in full force and effect until all such obligations, liabilities and undertakings have been 
paid or otherwise satisfied in full. No delay or omission on the part of Lender in exercising any right 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver of such rights or any other right and waiver on any one or more 
occasions shall not be construed as a bar to or waiver of any right or remedy of Lender on any future 
occasion. This Line of Credit Agreement is intended to take effect as a sealed instrument, shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of British Columbia, 



 

shall be binding upon Borrower's legal representatives, successors and assigns, and shall inure to 
the benefit of Lender's successors and assigns. 

 
7. The Borrower does hereby certify that any and all necessary resolutions that may be 
required to effectuate and validate the terms of this Line of Credit Agreement and the Note, have 
been duly made and adopted by the Borrower. 

 
8. The obligations of the Borrower hereunder shall be joint and several as to each person 
constituting the Borrower. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused these presents to be executed as a contract under 
seal as of the date first above written. 

 
 

DEBTOR: 
 

PLUTO VENTURES INC. 
 
 

By: “Herrick Lau” 
 
 

CREDITOR: 
 
 

  “David Eaton” 
DAVID EATON 



 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF PLUTO VENTURES INC. 
 
 

Dated: October 16, 2024 

This prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities previously 
issued by Pluto Ventures Inc. as required by the securities legislation of British Columbia. 

 
 
 

“Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang”  “Herrick Lau” 

Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

 Herrick Lau 
Chief Financial Officer and Corporate 
Secretary 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
 

“Queenie Kuang”  “David Velisek” 

Queenie Kuang 
Director 

 David Velisek 
Director 



 

 
CERTIFICATE OF THE PROMOTERS 

 
Dated: October 16, 2024 

 

This prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 
previously issued by Pluto Ventures Inc. as required by the securities legislation of British Columbia. 

 
 
 

“Herrick Lau”  “David Eaton”  

Herrick Lau David Eaton 
Promoter Promoter 
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Additional Disclosure Information 

 
  



Public Float and Market Capitalization: 
  

 

Issued Capital(1) 

 

Number of 
Securities 
(non-diluted)* 

 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-diluted)* 

% of 
Issued 
(non- 
diluted) 

 

% of Issued 
(fully 
diluted) 

Public Float 

Total Outstanding (A) 
10,806,000 10,806,000 100 100 

Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the Issuer, 
or by persons or companies 
who beneficially own or 
control, directly or indirectly, 
more than a 5% voting position 
in the Issuer (or who would 
beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more than 
a 5% voting position in the 
Issuer upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities 
held) (B)* 

8,800,000 8,800,000 81.44% 81.44% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 
2,006,000 2,006,000 18.56% 18.56% 

Freely-Tradeable Float 

Number of outstanding 
securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including 
restrictions imposed by pooling 
or other arrangements or in 
shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control block 
holders (C)* 

1,150,000 1,150,000 10.64% 10.64% 

 
Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 

 
9,656,000 

 
9.656,000 

 
89.36% 

 
89.36% 



Securityholders: 

  
Public Securityholders 
(Registered) 

 
Public Securityholders 
(Beneficial) 

 

Non-Public Securityholders 
(Registered & Beneficial) 

 
Size of Holding 

 

# of Holders 

 
# of Securities 

 
# of Holders 

 

# of Securities 

 
# of Holders 

 

# of Securities 

 
1-99 
securities 

-- -- -- -- -- -- 

 
100-499 
securities 

-- -- -- -- -- -- 

 
500-999 
securities 

-- -- -- -- -- -- 

 
1000-1999 
securities 

-- -- -- -- -- -- 

 
2000-2999 
securities 

112 224,000 112 224,000 0 0 

 
3000-3999 
securities 

-- -- -- -- -- -- 

 
4000-4999 
securities 

31 124,000 31 124,000 0 0 

 
5000 or > 
securities 

23 9,308,000 23 9,308,000 2 1,150,000 

 
Total 

166 9,656,000 166 9,656,000 2 1,150,000 

 



APPENDIX C 
 

The first certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, any person or company who is a 
promoter of the Issuer and two directors of the Issuer. In the case of an Issuer re-qualifying 
following a fundamental change, the second certificate must also be signed by the CEO, CFO, 
any person or company who is a promoter of the target and two directors of the target. 

CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, (full legal name of the Issuer), 
hereby applies for the listing of the above-mentioned securities on CNSX.  The foregoing contains 
full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to (full legal name of the Issuer). 
It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is 
required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or 
misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia 

this   day of October, 2024. 

 

   
Fan Hong Lawrence Tsang 
President, CEO, Director  

Herrick Lau 
Chief Financial Officer, Corporate 
Secretary, Director, Promoter 

   

   
David Eaton 
Promoter   

Queenie Kuang 
Director 

   

   
David Velisek 
Director   
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